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PREFACE

Most of the material contained in the present study of Anglo-Chinese
relations between 1750 and 1800 was originally submitted as a thesis in
partial fulfillment of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Oxford Uni-
versity in 1933. The study was undertaken as a sequel to a work on
Anglo-Chinese relations during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries
and as a forerunner of a study of their relations during the early
nineteenth century. The period discussed in the present work has been
touched upon to a minor degree by nearly every writer who deals in any
way with the foreign or commercial relations of China during the late
eighteenth or early nineteenth centuries. Practically all of them, how-
ever, give the period no more than a passing glance and neced be given
only minor consideration when a judgment is formed. A number of
works written by contemporaries touch to a greater or lesser degree
upon the period, and there are several works upon the Macartney
Embassy written by persons who accompanied the mission. These con-
temporary works, however, must be considered as source materials
from which to derive information and not as analytical studies of the
period.

James Bromley Eames's The English in China, 1600-1843 (1909)
devotes about fifty pages to the period which is the subject of the
present study. Not one word of what he has to say relative to this
period is based on manuscript source material, although he constantly
refers to a manuscript in the India Office, Memoir: Intercourse with
China. This memoir was published with some additions in 1834 by
Peter Auber, Secretary at the India House, under the title China, an
Outline of its Government, Law, and Policy, and covers the whole
period of Anglo-Chinese relations from 1635 until 1834 in a summary
way. In 1908 Helen M. Robbins published a work entitled Our First
Ambassador to China, which at first glance might seem to be a recent
study of the Macartney Embassy. It, however, proves to be a life of
Lord Macartney illustrated by letters and papers. The story of the
China Embassy is told in the words of his Journal, written during the
course of the Embassy and first published in John Barrow’s Account
of the Public Life and a Selection from the Unpublished Writings of
the Earl of Macartney in 1807. Robbins’ edition is an improved and

more reliable version than Barrow’s and as such is an invaluable source
book.
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Doctor H. B. Morse covers the period in a summary way in the
early chapters of his authoritative and well-known International Rela-
tions of the Chinese Empire. The early chapters of this work are not
based upon manuscript materials, and serve as an introduction to the
later part of his work rather than as a final analysis of the period with
which I propose to deal. Doctor Morse’s Chronicles of the East India
Company Trading to China, 1635-1834 (1926-1929) summarizes, as
nearly in the language of the supercargoes as possible, the political and
commercial relations of the East India Company with China as con-
tained in over three hundred manuscript volumes at the India Office.
The work is a marvellously complete and concise abstract of the docu-
mentary and statistical information contained in these volumes, and as
such is more of a source book and guide to future students than a
finished study of Anglo-Chinese relations during the period.

Since Doctor Morse’s last volume was written, some five volumes
of Court Letters (letters sent from the Court of Directors to the super-
cargoes in China) covering the years 1784 to 1800 have been added to
the India Office, and the greater part of the material contained in the
four bulky volumes dealing with the Cathcart and Macartney Embas-
sies was not used by Doctor Morse. In the Wason Collection on China
at Cornell University are ten large manuscript volumes of Macariney
Correspondence—private and heretofore unused papers of Lord
Macartney—dealing almost entirely with the Embassy. There are also
at Cornell a number of other manuscript materials belonging to the
Macartney Collection which are not to be found in the India Office.
Because of these unused manuscript sources and because the Chronicles
are more source material than a final analytical study of Anglo-Chi-
nese relations, there obviously is ample need for a study such as the
present one.

In this work I have tried as far as possible not to duplicate the work
done by Doctor Morse in the Chronicles, and, where our work has over-
lapped, I have relied implicitly upon the information in the Chronicles,
so long as their statement was complete enough for my purpose. In
the light of these considerations I trust that the present work will find
a place as a complete and balanced study of Anglo-Chinese relations
during the crucial years from 1750 to 1800. Every primary and second-
ary published source of information available in English, French, and
German, as well as a number of translations from Chinese writers and
collections of edicts and state papers has been considered along with
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the manuscript materials, in the hope of making the present study as
complete, well balanced, and authoritative as possible.

With a deep sense of humility and appreciation, I record my debt
to the late Doctor H. B. Morse and the late Professor W. E. Soothill,
who not only read and constructively criticized the original manuscript
but as friends and masters gave stimulation and encouragement. My
only regret is that they are unable to see the completed work. To Dr.
Cyrus H. Peake of Columbia University, Doctor Arthur W. Hummel
of the Library of Congress, and Professor E. L. Woodward of All
Souls College, Oxford, all of whom read all or part of the manuscript,
I am deeply indebted for many valuable suggestions. It is a pleasure
to record my thanks to Mr. W. T. Ottewill, Keeper of the India Office
Records, Doctor H. N. Randle, Head of the India Office Library, and
their assistants for the facility and courtesy offered me in the use of
the India Office records. I wish especially to register my appreciation
of the invaluable assistance offered at many times by Miss Gussie
Gaskill, Curator of the Wason Collection at Cornell ,and to thank her
for a number of translations from the Chinese which she made for me
with the assistance of Mr. Chou Ch’eng-yao. Mr. Tai Jen and Mr.
J. C. Yang of the Library of Congress have also assisted with a number
of translations. For their assistance in reading and correcting the
manuscript, I am much indebted to Doctor Paul P. Kies, Editor-in-
Chief of Research Studies of the State College of Washington, Doctor
Harry F. Clements of the State College of Washington, Doctor Calvin
S. Brown, a comrade in foreign lands, and to Mae.

Pullman, Washington E.H.P.
August, 1936
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MONEYS, WEIGHTS, AND MEASURES

MoNEYsS

The tael (T. or Tls.), the basic unit of Chinese currency at Canton,
was a hypothetical coin of pure silver weighing 1.208 oz. The only
circulating Chinese coin was the copper cash. The basic circulating
coin in foreign commerce was the Spanish dollar, with an intrinsic
value of 4s.2d. (4/2), and an exchange value ranging from 5s. 2d.
upwards. Between 1619 and 1814 it was invoiced at Ss. in the East
India Company’s accounts and was packed in chests containing $4,000,
or £1,000. The dollar ($) referred to throughout the present work
is always the Spanish dollar. The equivalents generally used in the
accounts are given below:

10 cash =1 candareen

10 candareen =1 mace

10 mace =1 tael

1tael = £14 or 6s.8d. or $1.388 or C.R. 3.06 or Pa.(0.83
1 dollar =T.0.72 or 5s. or C.R. 2.50 or Pa.0.666
1pound =T.3 or $4 or C.R.10 or Pa.2.50

1 pagoda = 8s. or $1.50 or T.1.20

1 current rupee =2s. or $0.40 or T.0.326

1 Bombay, Arcot, or sicca rupee = 2s. 3d.

WEIGHTS

1 tael =115 oz. av. or 579.85 grains or 37.783 grammes
16 taels =1 catty or 1%4 1b. av. or 604.53 grammes
100 catties = 1 picul or 13314 Ibs. av. or 60.453 kilogrammes
1 picul =133 1bs. or 114 cwt. English or 114 cwt. American
1long ton =16.8 piculs
1 short ton =15 piculs
1 metric ton = 16.54 piculs

MEASURES

1 ch’ih, covid, or cubit= 14.1 inches
10ch’th =1 chang or 141 inches
11t =14 mile or ¥4 kilometer
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LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS OF MANUSCRIPTS

C — Cornell University

10 — India Office

BM — British Museum

PRO — Public Record Office

PP — Parliamentary Papers

CMC — Cornell, Macartney Correspondence

CMD — Cornell, Macariney Documents

10C — India Office, China Factory Records

IOCCD — India Office, China: Canton Diaries

IOCCC — India Office, China: Canton Consultations

IOCCE — India Office, China: Cathcart Embassy

IOCM — India Office, China: Macartney Embassy

WSCPMD — Washington State College, Pritchard Collection of Macariney
Documents on China

ERRATA

Page 345, footnote 91. Insert Tsumg after Kao.

Page 379, footnote 79. For Mémoires read Mémoires.



CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1. A Point of -‘View Toward History.

History may be, as Voltaire with witty satire put it, a pack of lies
agreed to; and it must ever be, despite the assurances of the so-called
scientific historians, more or less a tangle of falsehoods and miscon-
ceptions. The more standardized and ‘“scientific” it becomes, the nearer
it approximates the caustic epigram of the eighteenth century wit;
but the less cultivated and systematized one finds its fields, the nearer
to a tangled web of nonsense it comes. Thus, caught between the
upper mill-stone of untruth and the nether mill-stone of incoherence,
the would-be writer of history can find relief from his dilemma only
through a strategic retreat behind the sheltering cover of a conception
which has during the present century taken its place among the per-
manent dogmas of our society—relativity. If the great field of natural
science has at last been forced to accept the relativity of its most basic
principles, how much more must history, the twin brother of literature
and art, seek its apology and justification in this great conception of the
twentieth century,

If “past politics” does not accurately define the nature and scope of
history, no more does the meaningless and almost mystical “web of
interrelated social, economic, political, and intellectual forces” so com-
monly used by modern writers in explaining history. It is beyond a
doubt inclusive of all these, but it is more. It can never be reduced
to the ordered accuracy of the natural sciences; only the individual
facts which compose it can be brought after infinite toil and care to
this exactness. But history left in this state is chaos, lacking a single
distinguishing mark except its own confusion. The larger conception—
the framework into which these facts are to be fitted and the arrange-
ment of the facts within it—must forever be the artistic creation of the
mind of the writer. Thus, in its final analysis, history can be nothing
more than the orderly arrangement of carefully selected and individ-
ually unimpeachable facts into a grand design or conception—a picture
which to the writer, and to him alone, is the true tableau of the past as
he sees it from his point of perspective. It is an art rather than a
science. :

If, then, the writing of the history of one’s own society presents
difficulties innumerable, far more thorny is the path of him who aspires
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to write the story of cultures widely divergent from his own; and he
who attempts to study the relations of two cultures is placed in the
hopeless position of trying at the same time to interpret his own, which
he never fully understands, and to do justice to the foreign culture,
which he can never completely assimilate. He may, therefore, ask the
indulgence of critical readers if at times he seems to be “walking the
night,” for he is indeed ‘“wandering between two worlds.”

It has become a first principle among certain historians of today to
lay the basis of all they say on the “firm” foundation of economic fact
in the belief that only in the economic urges of man can one find the
true motive forces of group life. If the carrying of this principle to an
absurd length is a detriment rather than a help to the interpretation of
Western society, 1t must be used with even more care in dealing with
the relations between a Western nation and an Oriental civilization.
It must not be overlooked or mitigated in any way, for the more one
studies the Chinese merchants and mandarins the more convinced one
becomes that they were motivated no less by economic motives than
were the Western traders; but one must remember that the ideology
of their civilization looked askance upon the commercial motive. This
peculiar point of view which made the mandarins speak with one voice
on economic matters and yet act in an almost directly opposite way,
illustrates the complete difference between the cultural and social in-
stitutions, ideas, and points of view of the Oriental and the Occidental,
which must be carefully weighed and considered in dealing with the
relations between England and China.

2. Cultural Difficulties Complicating the Relations between China and
the West.

Though a detailed analysis of the cultural difference between Eng-
land and China is not essential, it seems advisable to point out at the
beginning the major points of contrast which complicated the relations
between the two peoples. By far the most serious difficulty arose over
the idea of equality. This was really caused by the different course of
historical evolution through which the two states had gone. England
was one of a group of sister states which together made up the rela-
tively new and dynamic Western civilization. Toward the close of the
eighteenth century, the Industrial Revolution was infusing into Eng-
land the energy which was to make her the outstanding representative
of Western civilization in the field of commercial and economic ex-
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pansion. Furthermore, the fact that European states had for centuries
lived as a family of nations had led them to build up a system of inter-
national law to guide their conduct toward one another. Each nation
recognized the other as its theoretical equal in law, and expected its
nationals and representatives to be treated as such by outside nations.

In the Orient all was different. China was not one of a group of
equal states. She was the Middle Kingdom—a centuries-old civiliza-
tion which had slowly spread itself over the whole of eastern Asia.
Her expansive and creative force had been largely spent in the absorp-
tion of the outer peoples who had been either brought within or made
tributary to the mother culture. Although a rudimentary conception of
the equality of states and of international law had developed in China
during the pre-Ch’in period (Ca. 1050-221 B. C.), the growth of the
Empire caused the disappearance of such ideas.' In the eighteenth
century China had no conception of equal and independent states and
considered outside people as barbarians who should be taught respect
for the Middle Kingdom. Against this super-civilized, self-esteeming
civilization, ruled by bigoted and self-satisfied mandarins, came a young,
virile, and self-confident people who expected to be treated as equals.
The advance agents of Western civilization were ambitious and un-
refined traders who overstepped barriers and trampled on sacred tradi-
tions in their search for commerce. They disregarded dignity, respect
for tradition, and quiet, inactive contemplation—things of utmost im-
portance to the scholar-mandarins—and hence were treated with the
contemptuous patronage which “immature and uncivilized” peoples
deserved.

Out of these circumstances arose the basic conflict over equality.
Following out the logic of their thinking, the mandarins at Canton
refused to recognize traders and diplomatic officials as their equals and
treated them in a most arrogant and cavalier fashion. Communications
had to be sent to officials in the form of petitions through the Hong
merchants, personal audiences were seldom allowed, haven was refused
to foreign ships of war, foreigners were confined to the restricted area
of the factories, and new restraints were constantly being heaped upon
them. The Imperial government, after a period of vacillation during
the late Ming and early Ch’ing periods, finally restricted trade to the

*Roswell S. Britton, “Chinese Interstate Intercourse before 700 B. C.,” Ameri-
can Journal of International Law, XXIX (October, 1935), 616-35; E. D. Thomas,
Chinese Political Thought (New York, 1927), Chap. XV.
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single city of Canton, on the outskirts of the Empire, where it was con-
ducted under very onerous conditions. Moreover, it refused to allow
foreigners to enter the Empire to study or visit, and treated embas-
sies as tribute missions. This difficulty over equality was apparent
from the first, but, as the years passed and the arrogance and abusive-
ness of the mandarins increased and the value and volume of foreign
trade expanded, the Chinese attitude became intolerable to the
Westerners.

A second source of trouble arose out of the subjection of the mer-
cantile classes to the ruling classes in China. In England the aristo-
cratic landed interests were balanced against the commercial and in-
dustrial bourgeoisie, and the latter were strong enough to bring the
government into their service. In China, on the other hand, the scholar-
mandarins with their arrogant conservatism and their profound admira-
tion for Chinese culture reigned supreme. The merchants ranked near
the bottom of the social scale, and trade was not considered a basic
means of improving national welfare.'! In the eighteenth century the
central government disregarded trade as much as possible and left it
to be regulated by the provincial mandarins, who, being poorly paid,
subject to heavy demands from superior officials, and extremely self-
important, loaded it with fees and charges and oppressed the merchants.

Foreign traders were treated with the same contempt and disregard
as were the Chinese merchants and when they objected the mandarins
were dismayed, irritated, and unable to understand the reason for
such unsubmissive behavior. Such action ran counter to the strictly
regimented system of Chinese society, in which the mandarins at the
top of the pyramid were to be respected and obeyed. Had there ex-
isted in China a politically powerful and influential mercantile class
which could have resisted official despotism and bureaucratic stagna-
tion, and could this class have asserted its rights to be heard in the
council chambers of the nation, one of the major causes of the diffi-
culties between England and China would have been eliminated.

'Cf. G. F. Hudson, Europe and China (London, 1931), pp. 264-66. It should
not be assumed that the Chinese government and officials always took an un-
favorable attitude toward trade. During the southern Sung and early Ming
periods they definitely encouraged foreign trade. See Chang Teh-ch’ang, “Mari-
time Trade at Canton during the Ming Period,” Chinese Social and Political
Science Review, XVII (July, 1933), 264-82 and J. Kuwabara, “On P’'u Shou-
keng . . . Superintendent of the Trading Ship’s Office . . . towards the
end of the Sung Dynasty,” Memoirs of the Research Department of the Téyé
Bunko, 11 (1928), 17-79.
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A third important cause of trouble was the different attitudes to-
ward justice. Laws in England during the eighteenth century were
severe and often barbarous, but in so far as possible they were ad-
ministered impartially and in such a way that only the guilty should
suffer, after having been judged by a jury of their peers.' In China,
on the ofher hand, the doctrine of responsibility made it necessary that
someone must suffer, whether the guilty person or not, whenever a
crime was committed. Their judicial procedure allowed torture to be
used in order to extract confessions from suspects or damaging testi-
mony from witnesses, and, in applying their not unreasonable laws to
foreigners, they discriminated against the latter.® The chief laws with
which foreigners came into contact may be briefly summarized :*

(1) Premeditated murder or killing by musket fire was punishable by de-
capitation, the most degrading of all executions,

(2) Killing in an affray, or upon suspicion of theft, or being an accessory
to a murder was punishable by strangulation.

(3) Accidental wounding or killing was punishable by fines or types of cor-
poral punishments depending upon the seriousness of the injury.

(4) Killing in lawful self-defense was justifiable and not punishable.

These laws were not unreasonable, but in their application to for-
eigners the Chinese worked upon the theory that

The barbarians are like beasts, and not to be ruled on the same principles as
citizens. Were anyone to attempt controlling them by the great maxims of
reason, it would tend to nothing but confusion. The ancient Kings well under-
stood this, and accordingly ruled barbarians by misrule. Therefore to rule
barbarians by misrule is the true and best way of ruling them.

In 1743 it was ordered that all future cases between foreigners and
natives, where offenders were likely to suffer death by strangulation
or beheading, the case was to be tried by the district magistrate and
reviewed by the Viceroy, but in minor cases the offenders were to be

'E. H. Parker, China Past and Present (London, 1903), pp. 309-10, 376-87,
and China, her History, Diplomacy, and Commerce (London, 1917), p. 308;
%—I.HBO. 1\7/Iorse, International Relations of the Chinese Empire (London, 1910),
, -17.

‘Kenneth Scott Latourette, The Chinese (New York, 1934), 11, 44-47; Hsieh
Pao-chao, The Government of China (Baltimore, 1925), pp. 215-19; Samuel
Wells Williams, The Middle Kingdom (New York, 1883), I, 384-93; T. R
Jernigan, China in Law and Commerce (New York, 1905), pp. 70-111; G. T.
§8tz7mnton, Miscellaneous Notices Relating to China (Edinburgh, 1822-50), I,

-402.

°G. T. Staunton, Ta Tsing Leu Lee (London, 1810), pp. 303-27; Charles
Gutzlaff, China Opened (London, 1838), II, 78; H. B. Morse, Chronicles of the
East India Company Trading to China (Oxford, 1926-29), II, 343.

® John Francis Davis, The Chinese (London, 1836), I, 66.
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sent away to be punished by their own countrymen. In 1749 an edict
of Ch’ien Lung stated that it was “ ‘incumbent to have life for life,’—
in order to frighten and repress barbarians,” for if only native laws
were applied to them “the fierce and unruly dispositions of the for-
eigners [would] cease to be awed.” ' The Chinese adhered to this pro-
cedure in dealing with foreigners. The chief dispute arose with the
English because the Chinese contended that most homicide cases fell
under numbers one and two above, and that, if the guilty party were
not produced, some persons connected with the English ship or factory
must be held responsible. The English disavowed this personal re-
sponsibility for acts of others and generally held that the cases fell
under numbers three and four above. After one submission to Chinese
justice (the Lady Hughes affair, see Chap. V, Sec. 4) in 1784, the
English thereafter refused to submit their nationals to the mercies of a
Chinese magistrate.

The final disturbing element was the very different mentality of the
two peoples as expressed in their civilizations. By this is not meant that
one people was inferior to the other mentally, but simply that they
thought and acted in a way almost directly opposed to one another.
This may have been partially caused by the great difference in the
character of their respective languages, but was more largely the result
of divergent and separated courses of cultural evolution. They started
with different premises in their thinking, their thought patterns were
divergent, their objectives were opposite, and their ultimate sense of
values was antagonistic. This is seen in their ideas of justice, in their
attitudes toward trade and commerce, in their divergent attitude toward
new ideas and the use of applied science, in their unrelated ideas of
art, beauty, and music, and finally in their different conception of per-
sonal responsibility. The whole thing was unwittingly summed up by
Sherard Osborn, writing in 1860.° He takes the first eleven pages of his
book to damn the characteristics of Chinese reasoning which always
made them answer “Me no thinke so” to the conclusions of Englishmen.

'Ibid., 1, 414-20; Staunton, Ta Tsing Leu Lee, pp. 36, 515-23; Gutzlaff, China
Opened, 11, 78.

® Sherard Osborn, Past and Future of British Relations with Chine (Edin-
burgh, 1860). Besides the works already mentioned, the following are very
helpful in forming an idea of Chinese civilization during the eighteenth and
early nineteenth centuries: W. H. Medhurst, China (London, 1838) ; Jean Bap-
tiste Du Halde, Description . . . de Uempire de la Chine (Paris, 1735); Lau-
rence Binyon’s “Introduction” to Chinese Art, ed. by Leigh Ashton (London,
1935) ; Bernhard Karlgren, Sound and Symbol in Chinese (London, 1923).
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Captain Osborn and his statement represent a perfect example of this
different mentality and the difficulties arising from it.

From the foregoing analysis it becomes apparent that the basic in-
stitutions, attitudes, and thoughts of the Chinese and English were
widely separated and often diametrically opposed. With so few com-
mon grounds on which to tread, it is easy to understand why constant
misunderstandings and difficulties arose. The desire for trade and the
mutual advantages which each nation gained from an introduction of
the products of the other was almost their only common link; but the
Chinese government’s outward contempt for commerce and the vast
differences in the economic structures of the two nations rendered
smooth co-operation upon even this matter difficult. Viewed from
this angle, the early relations between England and China take on
primarily the character of contact and conflict between two cultures,
and, unless interpreted in this light, they cannot be properly understood.
Trade was their common interest; it brought them together and there-
fore the main difficulties arose over matters pertaining to trade. But
deep down beneath the purely commercial element of every dispute—
tinging, colouring, directing, even creating it—were fundamentally dif-
ferent attitudes, senses of value, thought processes and objectives—the
struggle of culture against culture.

3. Résumé of the Commercial and Cultural Relations between England
and China prior to 1750.

The people of Elizabethan England probably exhibited more interest
in China—or Cathay, as they called it—than did Englishmen of any
succeeding period prior to the middle of the eighteenth century.’ The
Renaissance spirit of adventure, internal economic development, the
possibilities of the spice trade, and the desire for personal gain and
glory combined at this period to create in Englishmen a desire to in-
vestigate the strange, almost mythical land of Marco Polo with its
fabulous riches. Several unsuccessful expeditions were sent out dur-
ing the last half of the sixteenth century to discover a northwest or
northeast passage to Cathay, and in 1582 and 1596 expeditions at-

°For a detailed survey of the early relations between England and China,
see Morse, Chronicle, 1, passim; E. H. Pritchard, Anglo-Chinese Relations dur-
ing the Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries (Urbana, Illinois, 1929), pp. 42-132;
Peter Auber, China (London, 1834), pp. 130-170; J. B. Eames, The English in
China (London, 1909), pp. 1-85; A. J. Sargent, Anglo-Chinese Commerce and
Diplomacy (London, 1907), pp. 1ff,
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tempted to reach China by the route around Africa. Interest, however,
shifted from Cathay to the East Indies as more definite information
of the seaways and the great opportunities of the spice trade reached
England through the voyages of Drake, Cavendish, and Lancaster, and
the capture of several Portuguese spice ships. The union of the Spanish
and Portuguese Crowns (1580) and the defeat of the Armada also
opened the colonial empire of Portugal to British attacks, and the
exclusion of England and Holland from the Lisbon spice market in
1594 made the question of reaching the East Indies an especially
urgent one. The final impetus which brought about England’s entrance
into the India trade was the raising of the price of pepper from 3/0 (3
shillings) to 6/0 and 8/0 per pound by the Dutch, who had been fast
absorbing the spice trade.”

In 1599 a group of London merchants, meeting in Founders Hall,
organized an association to trade with the East and combat the Dutch,
and on the 31st day of December, 1600, they were incorporated as “The
Governor and Company of Merchants of London, trading into the
East Indies.”” The Company thus formed consisted of 215 knights,
aldermen, and merchants, and was capitalized at £57,543. It was to be
managed by a governor and twenty-four committees (persons) and was
granted a monopoly for fifteen years of all English trade eastward
from the Cape of Good Hope to the Straits of Magellan." The forma-
tion of the East India Company brought into existence the institution
that was not only to open British trade with China, but to control it
until 1833—an institution which guarded zealously its right to the
exclusive trade of the regions, served as the representative of the Brit-
ish nation in all matters relating to China, and opposed both public and

* Cf. John Bruce, Annals of the East India Company (London, 1810), I, 1-125;
Sir William W. Hunter, History of British India (London, 1899), I, 196-235;
W. H. Woodward, The Expansion of the British Empire (Cambridge, 1919),
pp. 9-75; James A. Williamson, History of British Expansion (New York, 1922),
pp. 12-125; David Macpherson, History of European Commerce with India
(London, 1812), pp. 72ff.; Sir William Foster, England’s Quest for Eastern
Trade (London, 1933), passim; Calendars of State Papers, Colonial Series: East
Indies, 1513-1616, ed. by W. N. Sainsbury (London, 1862), passim.

" MSS. India Office, Court Book, 1. This is printed verbatim in Henry
Stevens, Dawn of the British Trade to the East Indies, 1599-1603 (London,
1886). Manuscript copies of the charter are to be found in the India Office
(MSS. Parchment Records, No. 2) and the British Museum (MSS. Harleian,
No. 306, f. 17-25), and the published charter may be found in Charters Granted
to the East India Company (London, about 1774) and Samuel Purchas, Purchas

His Pilgrimes (London, 1625), I, 139-47. India Office is hereafter abbreviated
10 and British Museum BM.
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private interference which would in any way infringe upon its privi-
leges. This fact in large part accounts for the lethargic growth of
British public and official interest in matters relating to China.

In 1613 the Company established a factory at Firando (Hirado) in
Japan to serve as a base for attempts to open trade with China. But
the negotiations which Richard Cox (factor at Firando between 1615
and 1622) carried on with several Chinese merchants for the purpose
of opening trade with China came to naught, and after the Amboyna
Massacre in 1623 the factory was withdrawn from Japan.® The rec-
ords of the Court of Directors show that the Company maintained a
constant hope that China might be opened as a market for English
woollens and a purchasing place for silk, and in 1635, after a “Truce
and Free Trade to China” had been entered into between the English
and Portuguese factories in India, the first British ship (London) was
sent to Macao from India. Two years later four interloping ships
under the direction of Captain Weddell arrived at Macao. After con-
siderable difficulties with the Portuguese and Chinese, they proceeded
to Canton, disposed of their cargoes, and obtained an agreement al-
lowing future trade and residence.” The financial weakness of the
Company, the hostility of the Dutch and Portuguese, the competition of
various interloping groups, and the belief that the Chinese were hostile
to foreign trade prevented the Company from making any serious ef-
forts to establish a trade with China during the next thirty-five years.
Two ships, the Hinde in 1644 and the Surat in 1664, were sent to
Macao from the Company’s factories in India without success, and at
least five interloping ships are reported as having been at Macao dur-
ing the period.*

Y Ernest M. Satow, The Voyage of Captain John Saris to Japan, 1613
(London, 1900), passim; Richard Cox, Diary, 1615-22 (London, 1883), passim;
M. Paske-Smith, Western Barbarians in Japan and Formosa in Tokugawa Days
(Kobe, 1930), pp. 1-64; Chozo Muto, “A Brief Survey of the History of Anglo-
Japanese Relations,” Katkoku Bunkwa (Osaka, 1929), pp. 419-55. This last
article is in Japanese with many English notes.

® Court Minutes of the East India Company, 1635-39, ed. by E. B. Sainsbury
(Oxford, 1907), I, 118-19, 124-31, 275-76; The English Factories in India, 1634-36,
ed. by Sir William Foster (Oxford, 1911), V, 211, 226-30; Peter Mundy, Travels
of ..., ed. by Sir Richard C. Temple (Hakluyt Society Publications, New Series,
Nos. 45 and 46, London, 1919), III, Pt. 1, pp. 158-316 and Pt. 2, pp. 429-531;
Morse, Chronicle, 1, 14-30.

" Factories in India, 1642-45, V11, 179-80, 254; sbid., 1655-60, X, 49, 60-61,
76-77, 119, 133, 142, 152, 160-61, 196, 203, 206, 312; sbid., 1665-67, XII, 7; Court
Minutes, 1655-59, V, 26, 206n; Morse, Chronscle, 1, 31-35.
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With the granting of new charters to the Company in 1657 by
Cromwell and in 1661 by Charles II, its fortunes took an upward turn,
Interloping activity was suppressed, Dutch competition was weakened
by the Navigation Acts and foreign wars, Portuguese hostility was al-
layed by commercial agreements, and the Indian factories were more
firmly established. Under these circumstances the Company began to
look toward China as a market and a place of trade. Unfortunately
for the continued success of these early attempts, the English chose
to establish their factories under the protection of the last remaining
adherents of the vanquished Ming Dynasty, who controlled the Island
of Formosa and a small bit of territory on the adjacent mainland. A
factory was established at Taiwan (on the Island of Formosa) by
voyages in 1670 and 1672, and one was opened at Amoy in 1676. The
conquest of Formosa by the Manchus led to the abandonment of the
Taiwan factory in 1686, despite the edict of Kang Hsi in 1685 opening
all Chinese ports to foreign trade. The establishment at Amoy con-
tinued a desultory existence, twelve ships going there between 1676
and 1698. In 1672 a factory was also established in Tongking as a
base for the indirect silk trade with China.*

Unsuccessful attempts were made in 1673, 1683, and 1689 to estab-
lish a factory at Canton, which was then under the control of the
Manchus. In 1698, however, a new India Company, known as the
English Company, was established by act of Parliament, and in 1699
the Macclesfield, sent by it, opened a successful factory at Canton. The
following year the Trumball and the Eaton, sent by the new Company,
anchored at Chusan and initiated a trade there under the direction of
Allen Catchpoole, president of the English Company’s supercargoes
and His Majesty’s Consul-General for the Empire of China. For a
few years the London and English Companies carried on a bitter com-
petition, which was, generally speaking, beneficial in stimulating the
China trade, and with the agreement for their union in 1702 (completed
in 1708), the China trade may be said to have been firmly established.
Because of the more favorable possibilities for trade at Canton, the
other factories were gradually abandoned (Tongking, 1697; Amoy,

10, Chinese Factory Records: China Materials, 1, 76-82ff. and II, III, 1V,
V, passim, and China: Amoy, XVI, passim, and China: Tonquin and Cochin
China, XVII, passim; Court Minutes, 1671-73, IX, vii-viii; Morse, Chronicle, 1,
36-65; Eames, op. cit,, pp. 30-40; Paske-Smith, op. cit., pp. 82-122. Hereafter the
China manuscripts in the India Office will be abbreviated IOC or as otherwise
indicated in the list of abbreviations at the beginning of the Volume,
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1707), and with the ending of the factory at Chusan in 1710, Canton
remained the only port (except Macao) where foreign trade was car-
ried on.*

The first half of the eighteenth century witnessed four important
developments in Anglo-Chinese relations. First, the gravitation of all
trade to Canton. Second, the gradual expansion of trade, especially
that in tea. Third, the development of a number of commercial insti-
tutions and practices and the growth of numerous impositions on trade
and restrictions on the liberties of the traders which were to dominate
the China trade prior to 1842. Fourth, the gradual increase of official
hostility and avarice toward foreigners.

British tonnage at Canton increased from 250 in 1699 to about 4,000
in 1751; imports grew from £32,086 in 1699 to £161,092 in 1751,
and the value of exports rose from T. 45,928 in 1699 to well over half
a million taels (one pound equals three taels) by the middle of the

century. The quantity of tea sold at the Company’s sales in London
increased from 91,183 Ibs. in 1700 to 2,710,819 in 1751."

Licensed pilots, linguists or interpreters, and compradores (persons
who supplied the ships and factories with provisions) were in evidence
from the first, and established factories owned and managed by Hong
merchants (merchants licensed to trade with the foreigners), in which
the foreign traders resided, were in evidence by 1720. The measurage
fee or tonnage duty on vessels, which at first amounted to about three
taels per ton, was increased prior to 1722, by a cumshaw or present
charge amounting to T. 1,950 per ship, to over six taels per ton. The
low Imperial import and export duties, which were at first paid directly
by the foreign traders to the officials, were greatly increased by numer-
ous impositions of the mandarins. By 1736 the merchants who traded
with the foreigners were made responsible for the payment of the im-
port and export duties. In 1703 a three per cent ad wvalorem levy
on the value of exports in addition to the regular customs duties was
imposed. The next year it was increased to four per cent, and shortly
after 1718 it was raised to six per cent, the rate at which it remained
until 1842, In 1728 a new ten per cent tax on imports and exports was

“I10C, 1V, 41-90, and V, 602, 647-756, and XIV, passim; Morse, Chronicle,
I, 78-153; 9 and 10 Will. III, cap. 44 for the statute creating the English
Company.

" Morse, Chronicle, 1, tables in the back; William Milburn, Oriental Com-
merce (London, 1813), II, 531-4; John Macgregor, Commercial Statistics (Lon-
don, 1844-50), V, 58.
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imposed by the Hoppo (Imperial customs officer), and continued to
be paid through the Chinese merchants, despite the foreigners’ protests,
until it was abolished upon the accession of Ch’ien Lung in 1736.*

In 1720 the Hong merchants united into a corporate body called
the Co-hong, which was abolished the following year because of the
united protest of all the foreign traders. The Hong merchants, how-
ever, continued to dominate the foreign trade, and in 1728 the for-
eigners were ordered to confine their business to the respectable Hong
merchants and to address the Viceroy only through them. These or-
ders were not strictly enforced, but they constituted the first step in the
establishment of the “security merchant” system which gradually
shaped itself by 1740. By this system one of the Hong merchants was
required to become security for the good behavior of a ship’s company
and for the prompt payment of the Imperial duties falling due upon
the ship and her cargo. The system was disliked by the Chinese mer-
chants because it subjected them to the exactions of the mandarins
and by the foreigners because it compelled them to do most of their
trading with the merchant who was security for the ship.”

In 1718 and again in 1729 the local Chinese officials granted the
English virtual extraterritorial rights, but in the various homicide
cases during the period the Chinese generally attempted to assert their
sovereignty. In 1741 when the H.M.S. Centurion reached Canton she
was at first refused permission to enter the inner waters, and it was
only after a great deal of negotiation that she was allowed facilities for
re-fitting.”

Prior to the middle of the eighteenth century neither the British
nor the Chinese governments took much interest in the affairs of the
other, and the public interest in the two nations was even less. The
educated public in England showed a certain interest in such works
as Le Comte’s Mémoires, Du Halde’s Description . . . de Pempire

®10C, VII, VIII, passim; Morse, Chronicle, I, 139-40, 142, 150, 158, 175, 185,
189-92, 249, 259, and tables in the back; Charles Lockyer, Trade in India (Lon-
don, 1711), pp. 98-188; Alexander Hamilton, 4 New Account of the East Indies
(Edinburgh, 1727), 11, Chaps. 50-52; Peter Osbeck, Reise nach Ostindien und
China (Rostock, 1765), pp. 300fF.

® Henri Cordier, “Les marchands hanistes de Canton,” T’oung Pao, Ser. II,
Vol. 11T (1902), 37ff; H. B. Morse, The Gilds of China (New York, 1909), pp.
?%2:7;) RI.IMl%nﬁomery Martin, China, Political, Commercial and Social (London,

* Richard Walter, A Voyage Round the World in the Years 1741-44 by George
Anson (London, 1748), I, Chaps. 7-10; G. W. Keeton, The Development of Ex-
traterritoriality in China (London, 1928), I, 25-30.
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de la Chine, and Lettres édifiantes et curieuses, but only about half a
dozen works relating to China and written by Englishmen appeared
before 1750." The importation of Chinese silks, chinaware, and Chi-
nese lacquer had begun to create a taste in England for Chinese articles,
but as yet the Chinese vogue, represented in the rococo style in France,
had not spread to England. The use of tea was really the only marked
impression upon English life which contact with China had produced.
The British government itself had absolutely nothing to do with Chi-
nese affairs and was willing to leave the management of that distant
outpost of trade to the East India Company. This state of affairs must
be attributed to the great distance which separated the two Empires, the
difiiculty of obtaining information about China, the relative unimpor-
tance of Chinese affairs and trade to England as a whole, and the fact
that private traders were excluded from China by the Company’s
monopoly.

The Chinese public, on the other hand, nursing its contented ignor-
ance, was even more complacent about European affairs, and the self-
satisfied Chinese government had no wish to soil its hands by stooping
to petty commercial affairs with foreigners. The Peking government,
therefore, not only adhered to the traditional policy of provincial auton-
omy so long as order was maintained, laws enforced, and taxes remit-
ted, but insisted that the local officials should settle barbarian affairs.
In turn the provincial officials tried to confine all contact with the
Europeans to the Hong merchants and minor mandarins.

4. A New Epoch in Anglo-Chinese Relations: the Problem of the
Present Study.

About the middle of the eighteenth century, Anglo-Chinese relations
entered upon a new and more active era because of certain commercial-
diplomatic developments at Canton and because of the spread of the

" FEdmund Scott, An exact discourse of the Subtilties, Fashons, Pollicies,
Religion and Ceremonies of the East Indians, as well Chyneses as Jaudns, there
abyding and dweling (London, 1606) ; John Webb, An Historical Essay Endeav-
oring a Probability that the Language of the Empire of China is the Primitive
Language (London, 1669) [this book reappeared in 1678 under the title The
Antiquity of China; for a full discussion of this work, see Ch’én Shou-yi, “John
Webb: A Forgotten Page in the Early History of Sinology in Europe,” Chinese
Social and Political Science Review, XIX (October, 1935), 295-330}; Thomas
Salmon, Modern History (Londonm, 1725), I; Lockyer and Hamilton referred
to in note 18. Lockyer and Hamilton were the only persons who had been to
China. It should also be noted that a number of the best contemporary works on
China written in French and Spanish were translated into English and circulated
among educated people.
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rococo influence from Continental Furope to England. So important
were the developments at Canton between the years 1750 and 1800,
that from our present perspective it 1s justifiable to call them the crucial
years in early Anglo-Chinese relations. During these years the system
of trade with China became so stereotyped and the Chinese attitude of
arrogant exclusiveness became so evident that the continued commer-
cial expansion of England made inevitable the conflict of later years
between the two countries.

Such being the situation, the object of the present study is to review
in detail the commercial and semi-diplomatic relations between England
and China from the beginning of the new epoch about 1750 to the
Macartney Embassy of 1793. The period is characterized by expansion
of trade and peaceful efforts to break the rigor of the Canton system
and penetrate the wall of Chinese exclusiveness. After the failure of
the Macartney Embassy, the British gave up active efforts to produce
fundamental changes in their relations with China by the diplomatic
route, and life and trade at Canton settled into a fixed routine from
which there was no escape except by force. To cover this period ade-
quately, it will be necessary to note the system of trade at Canton as
legalized and stereotyped between 1751 and 1761 ; the growth of British
trade with China during the half century following 1750; the struggle
between England and other FEuropean nations for control of the China
trade; the increase of Anglo-Indian trade and relations with China;
the influence of British commercial and industrial expansion and of
European wars upon English and foreign trade at Canton ; the develop-
ment of commercial, legal, and political disputes between the British
and Canton authorities; and the growth of an active governmental
interest in Chinese affairs which culminated in the Cathcart and
Macartney Embassies.



CHAPTER 1]

A CRUCIAL TEN YEARS — THE LEGALIZATION AND
FIXATION OF THE CANTON SYSTEM (1751-1761)

1. The Birth of British Cultural Interest in China (1750-1770).

On the cultural and intellectual side the new era in Anglo-Chinese
relations was marked by a brief period in which Chinese design was
exceedingly popular and intense interest was shown in the study of
Chinese literature and learning. The half century of trade had brought
many material objects of Chinese design (porcelain, lacquered cabinets,
fire screens, pictures, wallpaper, fans, umbrellas, etc.) to England, and
these had encouraged a taste for Chinese things. Then, in the 1740’s,
the rococo influence, which drew much of its inspiration from China,
entered England from France.' Although England generally lagged
behind the Continent so far as Chinese influences were concerned, she
led the way in the development of the Chinese garden, and, with the
publication in 1750 of William Halfpenny’'s New Designs for Chinese
Temples, Triumphal Arches, Garden Seats, Palings, etc. (enlarged to
include inside decorations and garden design in 1751-52), the Chinese
vogue may be said to have begun in England.

Both Halfpenny and William Chambers, the chief champion of the
Chinese mode in gardening and country house architecture, undoubt-
edly drew much inspiration from Pére Attiret's letter on the Emperor
of China’s garden at Peking, published in 1749, and first translated
into English by Sir H. Beaumont (Joseph Spence) in 1752 The ideas
of Chambers, who spent a number of years at Canton studying Chi-
nese architecture and gardening, are best set forth in Designs of Chi-
nese Buildings (1757) and A Dissertation on Oriental Gardening
(1772). In Kew Gardens, which he originally designed, one can still
see the Chinese influence.' In the field of interior decoration and furni-

!Hudson, op. cit.,, pp. 273-90; A. Reichwein, China and Europe (New York,
1925), passim.

*For Attiret's letter, see Lettres édifiantes, XXVII (Paris, 1749), 1-38;
Spence's translation is in Robert Dodsley’s Fugitive Pseces (London, 1752). For
an excellent discussion of the subject see Ch'en Shou-yi, “The Chinese Garden
in Eighteenth Century England,” T’sen Hsia Monthly, 11 (April, 1936), 321-39.
See also Myra Reynolds, The Treatment of Nature in English Poetry (Chicago,
1909), pp. 271-72.

*William Chambers, Plans . . . of the Gardens and Busldings at Kew in
Surrey (London, 1763).
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ture design Thomas Chippendale' became the chief proponent of the
rococo style, which is best illustrated in his Gentleman and Cabinet-
Maker's Directory, first published in 1754.

The period also produced a number of compilations on history and
travel relating to China written by Englishmen.! In the literary field
Goldsmith’s Chinese Letters (1760-61) attracted much attention, and
Bishop Thomas Percy displayed considerable interest in China. In
1761 he edited the Han Kiou Choaan or the Pleasing History, a ro-
mance, the first Chinese translation of any consequence to appear in
English. The four-volume edition of this work also included a col-
lection of Chinese proverbs, the story of a Chinese play acted at
Canton in 1719, and some fragments of Chinese poetry. A year later
Bishop Percy edited a number of Miscellaneous Pieces Relating to the
Chinese, many of which were translated from the French. They in-
cluded a new translation of Attiret’s letter, Pére Premare’s translation
of “The Little Orphan of the House of Chao” (a tragedy), a disserta-
tion on the Chinese language, a discussion of Chinese drama, “Rules
of Conduct by a Chinese Author,” and a reprint of part of Chamber’s
Designs.

Members of the Royal Society also showed considerable interest
in the possible connections between Chinese and Egyptian writing. In
1764 the Society sent a request to the Jesuits in China for information
on this and other subjects and for “two good Dictionaries of the Chi-
nese tongue & Characters with a litteral explanation annexed thereto”

¢ Oliver Brackett, Thomas Chippendale: A Study of His Life, Work and In-
fluence (London, 1924).

* Thomas Astley, A Description of China, being Vol. IV, Book I, of 4 New
Collection of Vovyages and Travel (London, 1745-47) ; Thomas Salmon, The
Universal Traveler (London, 1752-53) ; The History of China (London, 1763) ;
John Bell, Travels from St. Petersburg in Russia to Diverse Parts of Asia
(Glasgow, 1763).

® The first three parts of The Pleasing History were originally translated into
English by James Wilkinson, an Englishman in the service of the Company,
before his departure from China in 1719. Wilkinson's translation appears to
have been made from a Portuguese manuscript translation from the Chinese.
The fourth part remained in the Portuguese translation. The whole manuscript
was given to Bishop Percy by a nephew of Wilkinson. Bishop Percy revised
and edited the original English translation and rendered the Portuguese of part
four into English. The remainder of the pieces in the edition were translated
from Du Halde and other Jesuit writers. See Ch’én Shou-yi, “Thomas Percy
and his Chinese Studies,” Chinese Social and Political Science Review, XX
(July, 1936), 202-30.
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and books relating to “History civil & natural; Laws; Geography; and
the Fundamentals of their Religion.” In March, 1765, the super-
cargoes were able to forward from the missionaries to Doctor Butler
and Doctor Morton of the Royal Society answers to their questions and
copies of the Shih Ching, and Shuo Weén, and two dictionaries." Two
Englishmen, James Flint and Thomas Bevan, both servants of the
Company, also acquired a limited knowledge of the Chinese language
during this period.’

This sudden outburst of interest in things Chinese had no organic
basis and so was short-lived. The commercial connections between
England and China were not yet closely knit, and there were no Eng-
lish students or scholars within the Empire to maintain the interest.
From the time of the publication of The Chinese Traveller in 1775
until the growth of trade and the direct contact obtained through the
Macartney Embassy provided the basis for a more fundamental interest
in China toward the close of the century, the cultural absorption in the
land of Han underwent an eclipse.

At the time when this cultural and intellectual interest in China was
at its height in England, events were occurring at Canton in the com-
mercial sphere which were in the end bound to interfere with the
laissez faire policy of the Chinese and British governments and bring
them into direct contact. The steady growth of trade inevitably ce-
mented the connections between the two peoples, but between 1751
and 1761 commercial difficulties at Canton led to the first suggestion of
a British embassy to China and caused the Imperial government to
confine foreign trade to Canton and to give its sanction to the restrain-
ing system of life and trade which custom had established at that port.

2. Efforts to Abolish the Security Merchant System and the Estab-
lishment of the Hongist Monopoly (1751-1755).

Until the Macartney Embassy reached Peking in 1793 England
remained one of the few FEuropean nations having extensive inter-
course with China which had not sent a mission of some description to
the “Dragon Throne.” The first European embassy of modern times

"Morse, Chronicle, V, 117-18. The dictionaries were: Cheng Tz T'ung,
twenty-six volumes, and the Tzt Hui, fourteen volumes. The Shuo Wén was an
explanation of the ancient Chinese characters in six volumes, and the Shsh
Ching (Book of Odes) was the classical book of poetry.

® Flint was in China from 1736 until his banishment and deportation in 1762,
and Bevan was at Canton from 1753 until 1780.
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to go to Peking, if we exclude Mediaeval envoys, was a Portuguese
sent from Goa under the direction of Thomé Pires. It reached Peking
in 1520, but the ambassador was not granted an audience. Of the five
later embassies sent by the Portuguese, one was driven from Canton
by the Chinese, one was stopped at Malacca by the Portuguese gover-
nor, and three reached Peking. About 1575 Legaspi sent from Manila
a Spanish mission under two priests, who were well received by the
Viceroy of Fukien, but were not allowed to proceed to Peking. The
first Russian embassy, under Petlin, reached Peking in 1618, but as he
brought no presents (tribute) he was not allowed to see the Emperor.
Between this date and the Kropotov mission of 1768, no fewer than
eleven Russian envoys or agents were sent to China. T'wo Dutch embas-
sies reached Peking, one in 1656 and another in 1667, and in 1662 a com-
mercial and diplomatic mission was sent from Batavia to the Viceroy
of Fukien. Pére Bouvet’s mission from the Emperor to the Court of
France and its return with a French commercial mission in 1699 estab-
lished a connection between the French Court and China. Two Papal
envoys were also sent to Peking.’

The East India Company, drawing wisdom from the experiences
of these other embassies—none of which, with the exception of the
Russian, obtained any commercial privileges worth mentioning and all
of which were compelled to submit to many indignities—refrained
from sending embassies to China. The course of events during the
1750's, however, was such that some servants of the Company began to
think of an embassy as a possible way of solving their difficulties.
Perhaps the earliest suggestion of a mission to the Emperor was made
in the spring of 1751 upon the occasion of the celebration of the sixti-
eth birthday of the Emperor’s mother at Nanking. The Canton mer-

® For accounts of these embassies, see MSS. Cornell, Macartney Correspond-
ence, VIII, No. 325 (hereafter abbreviated CMC); I0OC, XCI, 413ff; Chang
T'ien-tsé, Sino-Portuguese Trade from 1514 to 1644 (Leyden, 1934), pp. 48-53,
56-61; Andrew Ljungstedt, An Historical Sketch of the Portuguese Settlement
in China (Boston, 1836), pp. 92-93, 95-96, 99-101, 103-04; John F. Baddely,
Russia, Mongolia, China, 1602-1676 (London, 1919), II, 65-86, 130-46, 167-68, 1%4-
201, 330-60; Gaston Cahen, Histoire des relations de la Russe avec la Chine sous
Pierre le Grand, 1689-1730 (Paris, 1912), pp. 20-22, 35-44, 212; N. Bantysh-
Kamenskii, Diplomatisheskoe sobraine diel mezhdu Bossiiskim 1 Kitaishim gosu-
darstvami s 1619 po 1792 god (Kazan, 1882), passim, and 308-16, 324-25; G.
Pauthier, Histoire des relations politiques de la Chine avec la puissances occt-
dentales (Paris, 1859), pp. 42-46, 73-76, 104, 128-40; Chinese Repository, VIII,
422ff.; Williams, Middle Kingdom (1883), 11, 426-43; Eames op. cit., pp. 103-17;
Morse, International Relations, I, 41-62; C. Gutzlaff, A Sketch of Chinese History
(London, 1834), II, 417-45.
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chants proposed to John Misenor, the English chief, that Flint (who
spoke Chinese) should be sent to Nanking to pay his respects and to
solicit commercial privileges, the remittance of the present-charge of
1950 taels, and the reform of other abuses. They offered to pay the
expenses of the journey and of the presents, but Misenor refused lest
other nations might reap the benefit.”

By 1753 the restraints of the security merchant system and the
growth of other impositions and restrictions had become so troublesome
that the supercargoes began a determined attempt to bring about re-
form. A petition was drawn up requesting (1) the abolition of the
security merchant system because it interfered with trade and was un-
fair to the Chinese merchant who was appointed security for a ship.
It further desired (2) that more efficient service for the unloading of
foreign vessels be provided, (3) that linquists and compradores be
excused from making presents to the officials, (4) that orders be given
to prevent the plundering of foreign goods on the river, (5) that the
exactions and rude manners of minor officials in the customs service be
stopped, (6) that the posting of placards unfriendly to foreigners
which tended to arouse the populace against them be prohibited, and
(7) that the British merchants have free access to high officials.”

Flint, having had it translated into Chinese, presented it to the
Hoppo at the measuring of a ship on August 4. The Hoppo’s reply
was to uphold the justice and desirability of the existing system and to
order the arrest of the person who had translated the petition. Fortune
at this juncture threw opportunity into the hands of the supercargoes
in the form of Pére Hallerstien, a Portuguese missionary and Presi-
dent of the Mathematical Academy at Peking. He had accompanied
the Portuguese embassy from Peking to Macao and was now returning
to the capital. As a result of his friendly advances, a conference was
held between himself and Frederick Pigou, Thomas Fitzhugh, James
Flint, and Mason Horner on October 14.

Pére Hallerstien indicated his willingness to help the English but
held out no prospects of immediate achievements. He was asked what
was the proper manner of applying for relief from the grievances
under which the foreign trade labored, and whether application should
be made to Peking or to the local government. He advised a private
audience with the Hoppo in which the grievances were to be explained

 Alexander Dalrymple, Oriental Repertory (London, 1791-97), 11, 313.
! Morse, Chronicle, V, 9-10.
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and their representation to Peking requested. Horner then solicited
the missionary’s aid in obtaining a friend among the principal manda-
rins, either by pecuniary or other means, who would support a repre-
sentation if sent to Peking. Pére Hallerstien promised to look for such
a friend and to “concert” with him the proper measures to gain the
support of the Emperor. He considered it inadvisable for the English
to cooperate with the other nations, because money would have to be
applied in a secret way and because if any immunities were granted
they would then have to be shared with the other nations.”

The supercargoes, although feeling that the missionary was wrong
in considering the Hoppo rather than the Viceroy the most advisable
person to approach, determined to procure for Flint a private audience
with the Hoppo. It appears, however, that no attempt was made until
the next year, when the first ships of the season were held outside the
port until the grievances of the British should be discussed. In July,
1754, Flint went to the Customs House and desired an audience with
the Hoppo. As the Hoppo delayed in granting an audience, the super-
cargoes finally went to the city gate on July 29 and requested an audi-
ence with the Viceroy. After some hours, the audience was granted.
Their grievances were explained by Flint, and a petition written in
Chinese setting forth their complaints was presented. Flint especially
represented the difficulties of the security merchant system and asked
that it be abolished and the English allowed to pay their duties directly
to the officials. The Viceroy promised that their “business would be
effectually regulated,” and on August 3 the supercargoes were in-
formed that the merchants were to enter into business with them on
reasonable terms and that in the future, if the English had complaint
to make, they were to have free access to the Viceroy.”

The situation was further complicated when in September an Eng-
lish seaman was killed by a Frenchman in one of the chronic affrays
between the sailors of the two nations. Upon the insistent demand of
the English, the Chinese finally stopped the French trade until the guilty
man was given up. He was imprisoned for a time, but was freed by a
royal act of grace. During the course of the dispute the Chinese urged
the English to settle the matter privately with the French in a friendly
manner, thus showing a willingness to surrender their extraterritorial

»CMC, II, No. 2.

¥ MSS. Cornell, Macartney Documents, X, July-August, 1754 (hereafter ab-
breviated CMD) ; Morse, Chronicle, V, 10-14.
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jurisdiction when two foreigners were involved. It should be noted that
the English, in requesting the Chinese to punish a European for a
wrong done to another foreigner, established a precedent which they
were later to regret. As a result of these affrays, the French sailors
were allotted French Island upon which to exercise, and the English
were allowed Danes Island.* There can be no doubt that incidents
such as this, by confirming the Chinese in the belief that foreigners
must be strictly regulated, contributed to the issuance of a series of
restrictive decrees in 1755.

In the meantime Frederick Pigou, who returned to England with
the ships in the spring of 1754, made a definite proposal for a British
embassy to China. It was part of a general plan for the improvement
of the Company’s position in China and was presented in a long letter—
apparently to the Court of Directors.” Besides recommending that a
resident council of supercargoes with a chief be established at Canton
and containing various other intelligent remarks about the conduct of
business, the making of purchases, and the size of ships to be sent to
China, Pigou proposed that an embassy be sent in 1761, the seventieth
anniversary of the Emperor’s mother, to solicit privileges and redress
of grievances.

The Ambassador must come in the King's name, but in a Company's Ship,
he must never have been in China before; at least not in The Company's Ser-
vice, or belonging to any Ship, he must be a Man of some rank, or figure, an
Officer in the Army would do; he should be a Man of understanding and
probity, and not too haughty, he may be attended by Mr. Flint, in quality of
one of his Secretarys . . . . The Embassy may be sent, either from Amoy, or
from Canton, for to whatever place a Ship comes, carrying a proper flag, which
denotes that an Ambassador is on board, the Mandarins are obliged to give
notice of it at Court, and to entertain the Ambassador, until he is attended
thither by the Persons whom the Emperor sends for that purpose.*

He then went on to indicate that the ambassador or one of the
secretaries should understand the Latin tongue; that valuable presents
should be brought for the Emperor; that because the ambassador’s

“ Morse, Chronicle, V, 14-19 and International Relations, I, 101; Milbumn,
op. cit, 11, 465; Davis, China (1857), I, 47-48; Keeton, op. cit., I, 32-33; Shih
Liao Hsin K’an (Peiping, 1930), Ch. 10, memorial of Yang Ying-chu, dated
Ch'ien Lung 20-6-21.

* Dalrymple, op. cit., I1I, 301-316. The letter is undated, but internal evidence
proves beyond a doubt that it was written in 1754, The character of the letter
suggests that it was a special letter to the Court of Directors, giving them his
conclusions and recommendations as a result of his two years' residence in China
(1753 and 1754).

* Ibid., pp. 311-12.
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ship and goods were exempt from duties, the goods should be shipped
in the ambassador’s name; that, because the French had influence at
Peking, it would be advisable to offer to do them some service; that it
would be honorable to England if she procured the privileges for other
nations as well as for herself, but, if the privileges were to be procured
for England alone, it would be advisable to go to Amoy in order not
to arouse the opposition of the other nations at Canton. He then sug-
gested that the following things be requested:”

(1) That the Company’s ships be privileged to trade at any of the Emperor's
ports;

(2) That the Company be permitted to maintain a constant resident in China
and to build commodious houses and warehouses wherever they chose
to trade;

(3) That the Company be permitted to maintain a permanent resident at
Peking;

(4) That the existing privileges of the Company be continued and that the
6 per cent and the 1950 taels be remitted;

(5) That the English be allowed the same commercial privileges as the
Emperor’s subjects, and that they be charged no more than the Emper-
or's duties;

(6) That the Chinese who serve the Company be not forced to make presents
to the mandarins;

(7) That effectual orders be given for the protection of foreigners from in-
sults and for the protection of their goods from being plundered on the
river;

(8) That duties be not charged on provisions, liquors, and necessities, and
that officers of the customs be prohibited from exacting presents;

(9) That freedom of movement about the city and especially between Canton
and Macao be granted, and that the charge for permission to go from
Canton to Macao be abolished;

(10) That freedom of access to the mandarins be guaranteed at all times.

While these proposals were being turned over in the minds of the
Court of Directors, significant events were transpiring in China. When
Pigou returned to China during the autumn of 1755, he found that the
net result of the disturbances in 1753 and 1754 had been a series of
edicts in May, 1755, issued jointly by the Viceroy and Hoppo, which
confirmed the security merchant system, established a strict monopoly
of the Hong merchants, made the security merchants and linguists
responsible for the acts of the supercargoes and ship officers and the
two latter responsible for their men, and in general confirmed and
defined in more detail the existing regulations.

" Ibid., pp. 312-16.
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The purport of the edicts was as follows:”

(1) In the future, security merchants were to be Hong merchants, a “Hongist
Security” was to be answerable for the duties, and trade with the for-
eigners was to be conducted only by “Hongist Securities.”

(2) Shopkeepers were prohibited from engaging in any kind of trade with the
Europeans except in the name of a “Hongist Security,” and were to be
organized into groups of five who were to be mutually responsible for
each other.

(3) The interpreters were to obtain the permission of the “Hongist Security”
before applying in his name for permission to load goods on foreign ships.

(4) In the future the “Hongist Security” and interpreter were to be responsi-
ble for any crimes committed by the supercargoes, captains, officers, and
sailors, and the supercargoes and captains were to be responsible for the
conduct of the sailors.

Thus the worst fears of the supercargoes had come about, for the
edicts threw the “whole business of the place into the hands of a few
Merchants [ten], that they [might] levy as a Recompense what prises
[sic.] they please[d] on the Europeans.” The supercargoes protested
without success, but the shopkeepers raised such a remonstrance that
supplementary decrees allowed them to deal with private foreign trad-
ers, “but not in an Goods imported for Account of the Companies.”
They were allowed to sell such products as chinaware and woven silks,
and to retail articles in general except tea or raw silk, which were
reserved for the “Hongist Securities.” They were especially forbidden
from buying “Curiosities of Value, such as Pearl, Coral, Chrystal, True
Amber, etc., all which being for the Emperors Use, no Shops [should)
presume to interfere.” *

Besides being aimed at a more effective regulation of the foreigners,
the Hongist monopoly was certainly a financial measure on the part of
the government and officials. The security merchants had become a
convenient tool for extortion from the foreigners. Officials held them
responsible for all fees and dues and levied demands upon them until
the merchants themselves were opposed to the system. The only way
in which the Chinese traders could meet these demands was to charge
the foreigners more. The new combination simply increased the ef-
ficiency of this tool.”

“3&1XI4D, XYV, year 1755; Morse, Chronicle, V, 21-31, for text of the edicts,
pp. .

* Morse, Chronicle, V, 30, 41 ; Eames, op. cit., p. 81; Auber, op. cit., pp. 168-69;
Martin, op. cit,, II, 14; Milburn, op. cit., II, 46-70.

* See Chong-su, Foreign Trade of China (New York, 1919), p. 59. See state-
ments in the preamble of the edicts in Morse, Chronicle, V, 36-43.
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3. The Confinement of Trade to Canton, the Legalization of the Canton
System, and the Establishment of the Co-hong (1756-1761).

As one means of combating the growing restrictions, the Earl of
Holderness had been sent to Ningpo and Chusan in 1755 under the
direction of Harrison, Fitzhugh, agd Flint. She was well received and
granted exceptionally favorable privileges. The next year the Com-
pany’s ship Griffin and a Country ship (ship trading between India and
China on private account), the Hardwick, went to Ningpo and appar-
ently carried on a successful trade. In 1757, however, when the
Onslow reached Ningpo under the direction of Blount, Flint, and
Bevan, she was refused trade. After considerable delay the super-
cargoes were informed that the Emperor did not wish foreigners to
trade at Ningpo. As a result of further prolonged and fruitless negoti-
ations, the ship sailed away with only a partial cargo after being in-
formed that in the future double duties would be charged ships coming
to Ningpo.”

In the same year Ch’ien Lung issued an edict which, together with
supplementary decrees by the Viceroys of Min-Che (Fukien-Chekiang)
and Canton, effectively prohibited foreign trade at any Chinese port
other than Canton. To insure the confinement of trade to Canton the
Emperor ordered that any European ship entering Ningpo or Chusan
should surrender its arms, guns, ammunition and sails, and pay double
duties. This did not absolutely prohibit trade, but the new Viceroy of
Min-Che and the Viceroy of Canton issued edicts prohibiting trade at
Ningpo or Chusan and confining it to Canton.”

In a sense this act was the culmination of a growing exclusionist senti-
ment in China. It would probably not have occurred but for the hostil-
ity to foreigners; it was the Emperor’s way of insuring the least trouble
from them in the future, and at the same time reaping financial rewards
from their trade. But there were very specific and obvious immediate
causes of its issuance. It was the Emperor’s and mandarin’s reply to
the foreigner’s attempt to open trade at Ningpo. When British ships
began to go to Ningpo, the Cantonese officials and merchants, aroused

" CMD, XIII, “Extracts of Capt. MathW. Courts Journal, in the Ship Earl
Holderness, 1755-56" ; ibid., V, letters June 17, 1757-Feb. 11, 1758; Morse, Chron-
icle, V, 49-63; Shih Liao Hsiin K’an, Ch. 10, memorials dated Ch'ien Lung 20-5-
11, 20-5-16, 20-6-9, 20-6-13, 20-6-22, 20-9-19 and 20-10-3.

® CMD, V, letter of Jan. 30, 1758, diary entry of Feb. 11, 1758, and memorial
dated 22nd year of Ch'ien Lung; Morse, Chronicle, V, 53-63; Eames, op. cit.,
pp. 85-86; Auber, op. cit.,, pp. 170-171; Milburn, op. cit., 11, 461.
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by the fear of losing this valuable trade, obtained the support of the
Viceroy of Fukien and Chekiang, who had formerly been at Canton,
and dispatched a memorial, together with a large sum of money, to
Peking requesting that trade be confined to Canton. Ch'ien Lung,
fearing the destruction of his newly created engine of revenue, also
supported the Canton group. The result was the above-mentioned
decrees, which constituted the necessary steps to make the newly created
Hongist monopoly completely effective as an organ of official exaction
and imperial revenue.”

Other factors which probably influenced the Emperor’s mind were
the troubles with the missionaries, the recent homicide at Canton, num-
erous brawls among the European sailors, and the memory of the un-
happy experience with Commodore Anson. By restricting trade to
Canton, he could insure against the occurrence of such trouble at other
places within the Empire, and he could also limit the point of entry
for missionaries who insisted on violating his exclusion decree. The
edicts were, therefore, the result of a combination of private greed,
imperial financial need, and public policy looking toward the future
tranquility of the Empire.

Although the Court of Directors apparently did not approve Pigou’s
scheme of an embassy, they determined to make another attempt to
break the Canton monopoly and remove the restrictions on trade by
direct appeal to Peking if necessary. The supercargoes were directed
to renew their protests at Canton, and on December 28, 1758, they
presented a petition to the Viceroy setting forth their grievances. On
January 4, 1759, a reply was received from the Governor upholding
the existing practices. In March the supercargoes returned a spirited
reply, which was answered verbally by the Viceroy to the effect that
the Governor had already replied to their requests and that if they gave
any more trouble he would punish them. On July 6 the Viceroy and
Hoppo jointly issued a mandate repeating the regulations issued in
1755, and on July 16 the supercargoes were received in audience by
the Hoppo, who heard their complaints and promised to redress some
of their minor grievances. Nevertheless, he made no efforts to carry
out his promises.™

* The memorial referred to in note 22; Martin, op. cit.,, 1I, 14; Morse,
Chronicle, 1V, 318; ibid., V, 49, 53-56; Davis, Chinese (1836), I, 4849; See, 0p.
cst., pp. 57-58, insists that the decree was a revenue measure.

M CMD, XV, years 1758-59; Morse, Chronicle, V, 76-80.



130 Research Studies, State College of Washington Vol. 4

Driven to despair by these events, the supercargoes resorted to the
last expedient recommended by the Court of Directors. They purchased
a small seventy-ton snow, the Success, and on June 13, 1759, dispatched
her to Ningpo under the direction of Flint. At Ningpo, Flint presented
a memorial requesting permission to trade, setting forth the grievances
under which the Canton trade labored and requesting that they be made
known at Peking. Because the mandarins would not receive the mem-
orial, he sailed for Tientsin, where he arrived on July 10. The trading
ship Chesterfield, which followed Flint to Ningpo, was refused trade
and forced to return to Canton. At Tientsin, Flint, after bribing a
minor mandarin, was able on July 21 to deliver two copies of his
memorial to important officials, who promised to forward it to Peking.

The grievances set forth in the memorial included: (1) the exac-
tions of the minor customs officials, amounting to over T. 355 per ship
and the present of T. 1950; (2) the refusal of the officials to allow
foreigners to make their complaints in person; (3) the refusal of the
officials to settle the debts owed by the Hong merchant Li to the
Company; (4) the customs duties charged on provisions imported and
exported; (5) the new charges on the passage between Macao and
Canton, amounting to about T. 21 each way; (6) the 3 per cent added
to customs duties to make up an alleged difference between the Canton
and Peking weights, and various other new charges over and above
the Imperial duties; and (7) the security merchant system. Flint was
required to wait at Tientsin until the Imperial reply was received, and
on July 28 he was informed that the Emperor was sending a great
mandarin to Canton to investigate and that he was to return overland
with the mandarin. The Swuccess and her crew were lost at sea on the
return voyage to Canton.”

A High Commissioner from Peking and the Tartar General from
Fukien were sent to investigate conditions at Canton. The latter ar-
rived on August 25, 1759, and the Hoppo was immediately recalled to
Peking in disgrace. The High Commissioner arrived on September 10
and a thorough investigation was begun. Many of the complaints were
found to be true, and a number of the minor abuses and charges, in-

* CMD, V, letter of Dec. 29 [1759], and XI, year 1759, for Flint's memorial
in French translation; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 301-05 and V, 75, 80; Shih Liao
Hsiin K’an, Ch. 3, memorial of Yang Ting-chang, dated Ch’ien Lung 24-9-4
and Ch. 9, memorials of the Governor of Chekiang and of the Viceroy of
Canton dated Ch'ien Lung 24-84 and 24-10-25. Chiian 4, 5, and 6 also contain
material on the Flint expedition.
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cluding numbers 1, 3, 4, 5 and 6 above, except the 1950 taels, were
temporarily removed. The main preoccupation of the officials, how-
ever, was the finding out of the name of the Chinese who had trans-
lated Flint's memorial. In November the investigating officials left
Canton to make their report to Peking. The net result of the whole
affair was that the Chinese who had translated the memorial lost his
head, and Flint was imprisoned at Macao for three years for having
violated the Imperial order not to go to Ningpo and Tientsin. An
Imperial edict was sent down in 1760 confirming the principles of the
system, as established by long custom and by the edicts of 1755 and
1757, requiring that justice be given to the foreigners, and in general
defining and stereotyping the regulations.”

The above-mentioned Imperial decree was received in the spring of
1760, and by October the Chinese merchants, with the sanction of the
officials, had formed themselves into an association or Co-hong of
ten, which was to transact all business with foreigners. When trade
opened in 1760, the Hong merchants presented a united front and de-
manded uniform prices. The English refused to trade with the associa-
tion and complained to the officials. After considerable discussion the
Hoppo informed them that the new procedure had been approved by the
Emperor, that acceptance and conformity were imperative, and that the
association had been formed to make the merchants jointly responsible
for every trouble which the Europeans might make. After some further
protest the supercargoes submitted and began making contracts.”

Thus at last the spectre of half a century had become a reality, and
the foreign trade at Canton was the monopoly of a closed corporation
with unlimited control over prices and the support of the officials. The
trade regulations and the organization of the Co-hong stereotyped
conditions at Canton into a settled policy of restriction. The system
thus established retained approximately the same form for eighty
years, and it must, therefore, be described in some detail. Before this
is done, however, the final effort of the Company to effect a settlement
suitable to it should be considered.

The last scene in this long drama was transacted in 1761. In 1760
the Court of Directors determined to send out a special mission to
improve the relations between their supercargoes and the Chinese

® CMD, XV, years 1759-60, and V, years 1759-60; Morse, Chronicle V, 81-84,
text of edict of 1760, pp. 94-98.

¥ Morse, Chronicle, V, 90-93.
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officials and to protest against the imprisonment of Flint and against
the various impositions between 1755 and 1760. Whether or not this
mission was in any way inspired by Pigou’s letter of 1754 is uncertain,
but it put into use a number of the suggestions which he made. It was
under the direction of Captain Nicholas Skottowe, who commanded
the Company’s ship Royal George. He was charged with a letter from
the Court of Directors to the Viceroy, and it was to be given out that
he was the brother of His Majesty’s under-secretary of state. He was
to maintain a strictly unbusinesslike character, was never to be seen in
any of the shops purchasing articles, was to send for the Chinese mer-
chants when he wanted them, and was never to appear unless in full
dress uniform in the streets or at home when receiving visitors.”

The mission came too late, because the Imperial edicts of 1757 and
1760 had closed the incident so far as the Chinese were concerned.
Captain Skottowe arrived on August 12, 1761, but was not given an
audience by the Viceroy. The Court’s memorial, however, was trans-
lated into Chinese and transmitted to the Viceroy, but his reply had not
been received by December 17, when the Royal George sailed for
Madras. The Court’s letter, after expressing their disappointment at
being excluded from Ningpo, requested: (1) that Flint be released;
(2) that the present of 1950 taels, the 6 per cent charge on exports,
and the 2 per cent charged on silver by the Hoppo, be abolished; (3)
that the security merchant system be abolished and the supercargoes
be allowed to pay the duties directly to the Hoppo; and (4) that the
Hoppo consent to hear their complaints, and that direct appeals to the
Viceroy be allowed from all decisions of the Hoppo.”

The letter was transmitted to Peking, and on January 18, 1762, the
reply was received in the form of a mandate to the Chinese merchants.
Item four was admitted with certain reservations, but the other three
requests were refused. The presents brought by Captain Skottowe,
valued at T. 1,101, were refused. After this the Company gave up
active attempts to reform the system of trade established by the Chi-
nese and turned its attention to the improvement of its trading methods

and the strengthening of the bargaining power of its supercargoes in
China.

® CMD, XV, for the season 1760-61; MSS. 10, China (II): Diaries and Con-
sultations, 1760-69, V, for season 1760-61; Morse, Chronicle, V, 104.

® Morse, Chronicle, V, 104-06; Auber, op. cit.,, p. 174.
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4, The Canton System of Trade after 1760 and Its Significance.

The result of the preceding eight years of conflict was the crystal-
ization of the Canton system through the various Imperial edicts. The
establishment of the Hongist monopoly in 1755 was an attempt to
bring the foreigners under more effective control, strengthen the Hong
merchants, and perfect the security merchant system as a machine for
revenue and exaction. The decrees of 1757 were the logical answers
to the English attempts to open trade at Ningpo and were necessary
to make the newly created Hongist monopoly absolutely effective as a
tool of official exaction and imperial revenue. The decree of 1760,
which codified and legalized the existing system, was the official an-
swer to the continued British attempts to change the Canton system.
With these final flourishes the Imperial government attempted to insure
the Empire against foreign penetration and wash its hands forever clean
of the troublesome Western traders.

The regulations relating to trade and placing restrictions upon the
foreigners, many of which were of long standing and others of which
had been established during the past ten years, may be summarized
as follows:"”

(1) All trade except that of a minor sort was confined to the ten to thirteen
Hong merchants, organized as a Co-hong, and even minor trading could
be done only under license from them (established between 1755 and
1760).

(2) Duties and charges were paid through the Hong merchants, who acted as
securities for the foreign ships and who were held responsible for all
acts of the foreigners (gradually developed between 1727 and 1760).

(3) All petitions to the officials had to go through the Hong merchants, and
direct communication with officials was prohibited (gradually developed
into a settled practice by 1760, although it was occasionally departed
from at later dates).

(4) The factories where the foreigners lived were under the control of Hong
merchants (this was true as early as 1720).

(5) The freedom of movement of foreigners was considerably restricted—
the sailors being confined to certain islands, and the traders to Macao
during the summer; and even during the trading season the latter were
restricted to the regions around their factories at Canton (a gradual de-
velopment, although more stringently enforced during the 1750's).

* The most important of these regulations are to be found in the decrees of
1755-60. See Morse, Chronicle, V, 29-30, 37-44, 76-80, 89-90, 94-98 and II, 56-57;
Morse, Trade and Administration (1908), pp. 275-76; J. R. Morrison, Chinese
Commercial Guide (Canton, 1834), p. 47; Eames, op. cst., pp. 87-90; CMD, XI,
a series of edicts and decrees in French translation for the years 1759-60; Shsh
Liao Hsiin K’an, Ch. 9, memorial of Li Szu-yao dated Ch'ien Lung 24-10-25.
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(6) The firing of guns by foreigners was prohibited, but this was apparently
not enforced (an old regulation).

(7) The study of the Chinese language by foreigners was prohibited (1755).%

(8) Foreigners were not to have Chinese servants except the “established”
linguists and compradores (1755-1760).

(9) Chinese were forbidden to borrow money from foreigners on pain of
severe punishment and confiscation of property (1760).

(10) Foreigners were not to employ couriers to carry letters into the interior
or to ascertain prices of commodities except with the advice and consent

of the officials (1760).

(11) Troops under a mandarin of war were to be charged with the special
duty of looking after the European ships and maintaining order (an old
regulation but additional troops were added in 1760).

(12) Arms and ammunition were to be deposited before the ship entered the
port, but this was not enforced (a regulation going back as far as the
beginning of British trade).

(13) Foreign battleships were prohibited from entering the Canton river (an
old regulation which was first applied to the British in 1741).

(14) Foreigners who committed crimes were to be punished by the Chinese to
the limit of Chinese law (this principle was established by Ch'ien Lung
in 1749 but was not rigidly enforced until after 1760).*

The charges and impositions upon trade were numerous and showed
a considerable increase over those levied early in the century. The
first of these charges was the basic measurage charge or port duty paid
by all ships. It was one of the few charges on trade paid directly in
cash by the foreigners, although even this payment was made to the
Hong merchants. The length and breadth of ships were multiplied
together and the sum divided by ten to obtain the units of measurage.
On the basis of size, ships were divided into three classes. First-rate
ships paid dues of T. 7.777 per unit of measurage, second-rate ships
paid T. 7.142 per unit and third-rate ships T. 5.000. Practically all of
the foreign ships were considered as first-raters. The calculation upon
a ship of 758 tons was as follows:"

¥ Morse, Chronicle, V, 27-28; Martin, op. cit., 11, 13.

B G. T. Staunton, Ta Tsing Leu Lee, pp. 36, 515-23; Davis, The Chinese
(1836), 1, 66, 414-20; Morse, International Relations, 1, 110-17.

®IOCCD, LIX, 154, and LXXX, 41; Morse, Chronicle, 1, 267-68; Milburn,
op. cit,, 11, 492-3; Morrison, Commercial Guide (1834), p. 22; H. M. Elmore,
British Mariner’s Directory and Guide (London, 1802), pp. 132-33.
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Tis.
225.4 units x T. 7.777 per unit 1,752.935
Deduct the Emperor’s allowance of 20 per cent 350.586

1,402.349
Add 7 per cent to make it sycee (pure silver) 98.164

1,500.513
Add 10 per cent for the Hoppo's controller 150.051

Add 2 per cent on the T.1,402 for the Shupan or Clerks of Hoppo 28006

Basic measurage fee 1,678.570

To this basic measurage fee had to be added the cumshaw or
present, amounting to T. 1,950, which would bring the total charge up
to T. 3,629. This present was uniform for all ships of whatever size,
except that French ships paid T. 2,050 and Country ships T. 1,850."
From these figures and those in footnote 34, it is evident that of a
total measurage fee of T. 3,629, the Emperor received T. 3,107, and
the Hoppo and his establishment received T. 522 or roughly 15 per cent.
In 1762 the basic measurage charge on six ships amounted to T. 8,308
and the present to T. 11,700, a total of T. 20,008.

There were five other direct charges upon each ship. The first was
pilotage, a fee which amounted to about T. 100 toward the end of the
century, paid to the pilots who had a monopoly of guiding ships in and

* The present charge was made up as follows (Milburm, op. cit, II, 493;
Morse, Chronicle, 1, 268; Morrison, Commercial Guide [1834], pp. 22-23) :

Tls.
To the Emperor on the ship’s arrival 1,089.640
To the Emperor on the ship’s departure 516.561
To the Liangtao (Grain Commissioner) for the poor ... 132.000
To the Security Merchant’s Dispatchador 12.000
To the Writer (Shupan) on measuring the ship 8.400
To the soldiers attending the measuring 5.560
To the Hoppo's soldiers on arrival of the ship 16.780
To the Fuyuan on arrival of the ship 2.800
To the Kwangchow Fu (Prefect of Canton) ... 2.800
To the Penyii Hien with jurisdiction over Whampoa ...meeeereeeees - 1.700
To the Namhoi Hien with jurisdiction over the factories .._...... — 1.200
To the Kinming Fu (military officer at Macao) 1.200
To the tidewaiters (preventive officers) stationed by the
Hoppo on ships during their stay at Whampoa 150.000
To the difference of the Emperor’s weights, etc. 9.359
Total 1,950.000
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out of the port.”® A second charge was T. 75 paid to the linguist and
his assistant in 1760, but by the end of the century this had risen to
over T. 100. The compradore’s fees and charges for supplies and pro-
visions constituted a third charge. His fee in 1760 amounted to T. 50,
but this was later abolished so far as the Company’s ships were con-
cerned. There are no direct figures as to the cost of supplies, but the
charter:parties of the Company’s ships required the supercargoes to
advance each ship £200 a month during its stay at Canton. If a ship
stayed four months, this item would be £800, or T. 2400." A fourth
charge was about T. 180 paid to the mandarins at Whampoa anchorage
for the ship’s banksalls (storage sheds on shore) and the privilege of
exercising on Danes Island.* The fifth charge was the cost of unload-
ing the vessel, which was paid by the owner of the goods and ranged
from T. 75 to T. 100. The expense of loading the ship was paid by
the linguist out of a piculage fee allowed him by the officials.”

Besides the above-mentioned direct charges on trade, there were a
number of indirect charges paid by the Hong merchants. These in-
direct charges, which the foreigners could not calculate but which were
levied on the trade in the form of increased prices, were a constant
source of annoyance to the traders, because they believed the officials
and merchants altered them at will. The official charges that fell
under this category were five: (1) Ching hsiang, the Imperial customs
duty on imports and exports which remained unchanged during the
period covered by this study. It amounted to T. 0.150 per picul on
cotton, T. 0.300 per picul on lead, T. 0.200 per picul on tea, T. 5.400
per picul on raw silk and T. 0.500 per chang (4 yards) on broadcloth.
(2) A surtax of 24 per cent upon the Imperial customs duty, and a

¥ 10C, LXXVIII, 29; Milburn, op. cit, II, 426, 495; Josiah Quincy, Journal
of Major Samuel Shaw (Boston, 1847), p. 162; W. C. Hunter, The “Fan Kwae”
at Canton (London, 1882), pp. 11, 28-29; C.L.J. de Guignes, Voyage ¢ Peking
(Paris, 1808), 111, 276-77.

® Morse, Chronicle, 11, 289, and V, 101; Milburn, op. cit., I1, 493-95; Shaw’s
Journal, p. 176; De Guignes, op. cit., 111, 276; CMC, VII, No. 321.

" CMD, XI, Flint’s memorial of 1759; CMC, VII, No. 321; Shaw's Journal,
pp. 174-75; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 128-29; MSS. Wash. State College (W.S.C.),
Pritchard Collection of Macartney Documents on China, No. 20, p. 20 for a
charter-party of 1792; 10, Marine Records: Miscellaneous, CCCCCXXX, Ap-
pendix No. 826 for a charter-party in 1784.

B Shaw’s Journal, p. 175; De Guignes, op. cit., 111, 276-77; Milburn, op. cit.,
I1, 465; Alfred Spencer, Memoirs of William Hickey (London, 1913-23), I, 197.

¥10C, LXXX, March 31 and Nov. 14, 1784; CMC, VII, No. 321; Milburn,
op. cit.,, 11, 493-95,
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further 7 per cent upon the two previous charges to convert them into
sycee or pure silver. These two charges seem later to have been com-
bined into a single 30 per cent charge called chia san or chia hao, part
of which went to the Emperor and part of which was appropriated by
the Hoppo. (3) Tan t'ou or tan fei, a piculage or weighing fee amount-
ing about 1760 to T. 0.086 or T. 0.100 per picul on imports and ex-
ports. It later rose to T. 0.150 on imports and to T. 0.200 on exports.
This fee was divided between the Hoppo, the linguist, the Hong mer-
chants, and various minor mandarins. (4) Kuei customs, originally
illegal charges or bribes paid to the customs officials which became
fixed through usage. (5) The 6 per cent ad valorem duty on exports.
It was levied upon a fixed rate of valuation for each article. Part of it
went to the Emperor, part to the Hoppo, a small part to a hospital for
the poor, and a small part to the Hong merchants. This latter repre-
sented a tax levied on small shopkeepers for their license to trade with
foreigners. Besides these official charges the Hong merchants levied
certain indefinite charges, later known as shih li or trading arrange-
ments.”

The procedure of trade was much the same as earlier in the cen-
tury. Pilots were taken on outside Macao to guide the ship past the
Bogue forts and into the Whampoa anchorage. Linguists and compra-
dores also came aboard at Macao. The ship was measured either at
the Bogue or at Whampoa. Here the supercargoes demanded of the
“Hoppo a continuance . . . . of all the Privileges that the English
Nation [had] enjoyed at this Port, and had his assurances that they
would be granted.” * The traders then proceeded to Canton, where
they took up their residence in one of the Hongs or factories provided
by the Hong merchants. Their first care was to get an official chop or
permit to carry on trade, after which business was begun with the Hong
merchants. Contracts were often made a year in advance, and at the
end of the trading season all accounts were settled and contracts for
the ensuing year entered into. When a ship was loaded, the grand chop
or clearance paper had to be obtained before she could depart.

“CMC, VII, No. 321; I0C, XX, “Rate of duties,” near middle of volume and
CCLXIV, 102-06; CMD, XV, near end of volume; Morse, Chronicle, 1, 93, 106,
126, 139, 142-43, and IV, 371 and V, 105; Dalrymple, op. cit., 11, 325-32; Lockyer,
0p. cit., pp, 148-56; Milburn, op. cit., II, 494; Thomas Brooks, Coins in the East
Indies (London, 1766), pp. 57-72; Morrison, Commercial Guide (1834), pp. 31-43.

“ Morse, Chronicle, 1, 274.
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Figure 1.
Canton River and Factories.
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At the end of the trading season in the late spring the supercargoes
departed for Macao, where they were compelled to reside until the be-
ginning of the new season in the early fall. The cost of this annual
migration to and from Macao amounted in 1760 to about $100. It rose
to about $1000 in 1772 and to nearly $10,000 in 1792. The factory
charges in 1762 amounted to about T. 20,000.” These included table
expense and house rent at Canton and Macao, charges of merchandise,
the cost of the migration to and from Macao, and the various fees and
presents paid to officials and servants. These factory charges plus the

¢ CMD, V, letter of Dec. 29 [1759]; Morse, Chronicle, V, 88 and II, 208;
Appendix VI.
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measurage charges made up the Canton charges, which were added to
the prime cost of exports to obtain their invoice value.

The system by which the Chinese managed their trade with England
having now been noted, a brief comparison between it and the system
by which England managed her trade with China may be worthwhile.
The basic factor which brought England and China together and which
directed the course of their relations during the period covered by this
study was commerce. The management of these commercial relations
was confined to a dual monopoly, represented on the Chinese side by
the Canton Co-hong and on the English side by the East India Com-
pany centered in London. This system, which in reality delegated the
conduct of all intercourse between the two states to commercial monop-
olies, had arisen by a trial-and-error process during a long course of
evolution, and fairly well represented the two governments’ attitude
towards one another—namely, the aivoidance of official entanglements.

The organization of these two monopolies through which the rela-
tions of the two countries were conducted was very different. The
East India Company, with its virtual control of all British affairs in
Asia, had originated at the beginning of the seventeenth century, when
trade to distant parts could be conducted only by powerful commercial
monopolies, because the government was both unable and unwilling
to afford its protection far beyond the confines of Europe. By the close
of the eighteenth century, it still maintained its privileged position de-
spite repeated attacks upon it by commercial and industrial interests
outside London, although it was being gradually brought under the
control of the government. The East India Company was incorporated
on the joint-stock principle, and as such included several thousand
British subjects who were able to draw benefit from the monopoly.®
It was managed by a Court of Directors who controlled and directed
its activities as a corporate unit, and its capital and the amount of its
dividends were determined by Parliament.

The affairs of the East India Company in China were managed
after 1762 by a permanent resident Council of Supercargoes. Prior to
1754 the affairs of each ship had been managed by supercargoes com-
ing and returning on it, who sometimes formed independent Councils
for each ship and sometimes combined into several Councils or into a
single Council while at Canton. As early as 1753 the policy of leaving

_ “Robert Wissett, Compendium of East India Affasrs (London, 1802), I, sec-
tion on the “Constitution of the Company.”
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a resident agent in Canton after the ships had departed was adopted.
From 1754 to 1758 several ships were assigned to each of several
Councils, one of which held over and maintained a residence in China
until the following season. The several Councils generally acted to-
gether while at Canton. In 1758 a single Council was appointed to
manage all the Company’s affairs during the trading season, and con-
tinuity was obtained by leaving three resident agents after the ships
had departed. The system of competing Councils weakened the bargain-
ing power of the Company, and the constant shift in personnel pre-
vented the most efficient dispatch of business. In the face of the newly
created Co-hong the Company was forced to strengthen its super-
cargoes. From 1762 onward there was a permanent resident Council at
Canton presided over by a chief (Thomas Fitzhugh during 1762-67),
which was better able to conduct the commercial business and resist in
a less offensive way the impositions of the officials and the démarches
of the Chinese merchants.“

The Co-hong, on the other hand, may best be described as a regu-
lated company. Its basis was narrow, inasmuch as it consisted of from
ten to thirteen prominent merchants who had a complete monopoly of
all foreign trade, although minor merchants could be licensed by them
to trade with the foreigners. It had no corporate capital (except the
Consoo fund, established about 1779, out of which certain debts were
paid, and presents for the Emperor and officials were provided), each
merchant trading separately and independently with the foreigners
upon his own capital. It had a nominal head, but it did not always unite
in a policy of corporate bargaining and uniform price-fixing, despite
the fact that an Imperial decree in 1780 directed that it do so.” The
members of the Co-hong were collectively responsible for the good
behavior of the foreigners, the Imperial duties, and the debts of each
other. Despite its loose organization, the Co-hong was in a better posi-
tion to enforce its demands than was the East India Company, because
the foreign traders had to come to it.

Thus in a sense the story of Anglo-Chinese relations at this time is
but an account of the contact between these two rival organizations as
they sparred and angled for advantage. In reality, however, it is more
than that and involves economic, political, and even social considera-

“Morse, Chronicle, V, preface and pp. 21, 45, 65, 68, 85, 99, 106; Auber,
op. cit, p. 174 and note 15 of this chapter.

“I0OCCC, LXVIII, 194; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 57-59.
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tions within the two countries which influenced the internal and ex-
ternal policies of both governments and consequently the position taken
by their monopolistic representatives. This indirect projection of the
home administration into affairs can be seen on the part of the Chinese
government in the numerous interferences into the affairs of the Hong
merchants by Canton mandarins and even by Peking, and on the part of
the British government in such things as the Commutation Act,* de-
bates over the monopoly of the China trade, and the embassies sent
to China. More important still, the underlying prejudices of each
government to a great extent determined and influenced not only the
attitudes but also the principles which guided the relations between
these two commercial organizations.

Although the establishment of the system described in this section
was calculated by the Chinese government to relieve it of future difh-
culties with the foreigners, it was bound in the end to have exactly the
opposite effect. First of all, the legalization of the system made change
impossible except through the interposition of government. Further-
more, the system was so troublesome and annoying that the traders
were in almost constant conflict with the Chinese, a circumstance which
forced both the British and Chinese governments to take notice of
affairs at Canton. Finally, the restraining nature of the Hongist
monopoly and the confinement of trade to Canton made impossible an
indefinite expansion of trade. But trade continued to increase, and
after the passage of the Commutation Act in 1784, which reduced the
duties on tea imported into England,” trade with China grew by leaps
and bounds. The inevitable result of these circumstances was the pro-
jection of the British government into Chinese affairs in an attempt to
reform the Canton system and open new ports to trade by diplomatic
methods. The Macartney Embassy aimed to do this, and the first-hand
information which it obtained about China and the continued growth of
trade provided the basis for a more organic interest in China. The ex-
pansion of British power in India and the growing commercial connec-
tions between India and China also forced the British government to
take a greater interest in Chinese affairs.

“ Infra., Chap. III, Section 2.

“ Duties were reduced from an average of 119 per cent to 12% per cent. 24
Geo. III, cap. 38.



CHAPTER II1

THE EAST INDIA COMPANY'S TRADE WITH CHINA
(1760-1800)

1. General View of British Trade at Canton: Trends during the Period
(1764-1800).

If the abuses in the system of trade at Canton were of great impor-
tance in bringing about the first British embassy to China, commercial
developments both in England and in the China trade were of even
more fundamental importance. This being the situation, it will be neces-
sary in the present chapter to examine generally British trade at Canton
and to analyze in detail the Company’s trade with China during the third
of a century preceding the Embassy. In the succeeding chapter Private,
Country, and foreign European trade with China and economic changes
within England itself will be considered. British trade at Canton was
divided among three distinct groups: the Company, the Private traders,
and the Country traders. The Company, with its headquarters in Lon-
don, had control and supervision over the whole trade. The Private
trade was carried on between England and China and between India and
China by the commanders and officers of the Company’s ships under
license of the Company. The Country trade between India and China
was conducted by Englishmen resident in India under the license of the
Company and by native Indian merchants.

The season 1764-65, the first full trading year after the Seven Years’
War, may be taken as the starting point for this survey. During this
season the Company had fourteen ships, about 7,000 tons at Canton, and
the Country trade had three ships, about 1,500 tons; in 1775-76 the
Company had five ships, 3,881 tons at Canton, and the Country trade
eight ships, about 4,000 tons; in 1785-86 the Company had nineteen
ships, 15,413 tons, the Country trade ten, about 5,000 tons; and in 1795-
96 the Company had seventeen ships, 14,766 tons, and the Country
trade eighteen ships, 14,850 tons.® Appendices IV, VI, XI, and XIT and
Figures 2 and 5, however, will show more graphically than words the
progress of the trade during the thirty-six years from 1764 to 1800.

The most obvious thing is the great increase in the value of both
imports and exports over the period. The Company’s imports in goods

'IOCCD, Vols. 58, 81, 83; Morse, Chronicle, V, 114, and II, 11, 111, 266, and
tables of shipping in the back. Country ships are estimated at 500 tons each, in
1764-65, 1775-76, and 1785-86, A statement of their tonnage in 1795-96 is given
in Volume 115 of the Canton Diaries.
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more than quadrupled, and exports did equally as well. Private trade im-
ports and exports increased materially, and the Country trade imports
in goods increased about 10 times, and exports 5 times. A second thing
which strikes one’s eye is the disparity between the value of imports and
exports. In 1765-66 the Company’s exports were 202 per cent greater
than merchandise imports, in 1775-76 greater by 156 per cent, in 1785-
86 greater by 328 per cent, but in 1795-96 greater by only 79 per cent.
In the Country trade exactly the opposite was true, merchandise imports
in 1775-76 being 18 per cent greater than exports, and in 1795-96, 160
per cent greater. In Private trade the disparity was less marked, but
imports always exceeded exports by 10 to 80 per cent." When the totals
are examined, however, it appears that on an average imports and ex-
ports were more nearly equal. The reason for this situation is that the
Company found means for utilizing the residue provided by the Country
and Private trades in financing its extensive exports.’

It is also important to note that the disparity between the Company’s
imports and exports showed a tendency to decrease after 1790, whereas
the disparity between the Country trade’s imports and exports showed
a rapid increase after 1785. These facts indicate that the value of Brit-
ish imports in goods showed a greater rate of increase than did exports,
and suggest that a genuine demand was developing in China for certain
articles brought by the British (Indian cotton, English woollens, opium,
metals, and woods). From 1773 onwards the Country trade provided
the greater percentage of the imports. In 1775-76 it provided 54 per
cent of all merchandise imported; the Company provided but 35 per
cent, and Private trade furnished 11 per cent. In 1795-96 the Country
trade provided but 49 per cent of the imports, the Company 42 per cent,
and Private trade 9 per cent.

The Company, however, furnished the greater percentage of ex-
ports. In 1764-65 its exports equalled 70 per cent of the total, in 1785-
86, 76 per cent, and in 1795-96, 73 per cent. For the corresponding
seasons the Country trade provided but 10, 15, and 18 per cent, respec-
tively; and Private trade provided 20 per cent in 1764-65 and 9 per
cent for each of the other two seasons. The total value of the trade
(imports and exports), which amounted to T. 2,879,422 in 1764-65,
fluctuated about this norm until 1784-85, after which it increased to
T. 9,332,803 in 1795-96. Of this total the Company provided 62 per

? Appendices IV, VI, XI, XII.
* Infra, Chap. IV, Section 3.
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cent, the Country 13 per cent, and Private 25 per cent in 1764-65:
whereas in 1795-96 the Company provided 58, the Country 33, and
Private 9 per cent.*

A final observation of extreme importance is that in 1795-96, per-
haps for the first time in the history of the trade, the sales value of
goods imported exceeded the actual cost value of goods exported, and
in consequence a part of the residue, T. 23,882, was exported to Bengal
in the Country trade.’ Throughout the period the Private trade was
usually more than self-supporting (that is, the goods imported were
able to finance the goods exported), although it seems certain that
small amounts of ready cash were generally brought. Similarly, the
Country trade was more than self-supporting in a steadily increasing
manner. Bullion was imported in the Country trade during the early
part of the period, but by the end it was exported, although small sums
for ready cash were still imported. The Company’s trade was never
self-supporting, and if 1t could not draw enough money into its treasury
from the residue of the Country and Private trade to finance its ex-
ports, it had to rely on bullion, bonds, credits from the Hong mer-
chants, or money paid in by Portuguese or other foreign traders in
return for bills on London. Taken as a whole, British trade was not self-
supporting, during most of the period, but from 1791 onward it hov-
ered on the edge, sometimes rising above, sometimes sinking below the
level of self-sufficiency. This achievement of self-sufficiency was
caused by the rapid growth of the trade in raw cotton from India and
woollens from England, and to a lesser extent by the growth of the
opium, metal, and wood trade.

By putting these facts into the most simple generalization, one can
say that British trade at Canton increased by 294 per cent over the
years between 1764 and 1800; that an ever-increasing majority of the
exports were furnished by the Company; that from 1773 onward a
majority of imports were furnished by the Country trade ; that the ratio
of Private trade to the total trade declined from 1764 to 1774, after
which it remained relatively the same, providing from 8 to 10 per cent
of imports and exports throughout the period ; that the Company was
dependent upon the Country and Private trade for financing its own;
and that until the very end of the period exports in goods exceeded
imports in goods, the difference having to be met by imports of bullion,

¢ Appendices IV, VI, XI, XII.
*10, Bengal Commercial Reports: External, 1795-1802, Range 74, Vol. XIIIL
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by bonds and credits, and by money paid in by foreigners in return for
bills.

The most fundamental fact about the commercial development of
the period was that nearly all the enormous increase which took place
in the trade occurred after 1784. This is clearly shown in Figure 2.
From this Figure it is evident that trade maintained a rather low level
prior to 1784, and that it then went up like a sky-rocket, the volume of
British exports increasing in three years from T. 2,595,586 to
T. 6,099,908, and by 1796 to T. 7,576,269. A corresponding thing oc-
curred, but to a less pronounced degree, in the importation of raw cot-
ton, which remained relatively low at an average of about T. 300,000
per annum until 1784, and then in three years shot up to T. 2,160,217.
The close correspondence between the trends of the Company’s export
trade and the import curve for raw cotton shows how dependent the

Figure 2.
Total British and the Company’s Trade at Canton (1760-1800)%.
Legend
=—cem-=—=-Britigh Exports  =---=cee- British Imports e=e——e==— Cotton
Company's Exports srseesseeses Company‘'s Importe
Tls,
6,000,000
7,500,000 \ ‘
L ' :
7,000,000 RN
1 r
6,600,000 H—+H—
PN J' i S
6,000,000 N VT
\ P FIEN
6,500,000 ™ ,u 54 7
6,000,000 ' T Y
4,600,000 DA .
4.ooo'ooo i hERY! / l 1 j
’ ] ] l’ :
l[ P /
3,600,000 ;l ’.
l y
3,000,000 " 1 .
[AY * ™ &
2,600,000 - n 3 = R
2. r\\ ’A\/A \-~‘ /\‘ ‘/ |\ "7 ; o 3 "“ Sl LS _{r
000,000 v = 111 T B
' AYNARZERN\FIRIEE S AN
1,500,000 ¢ N BT TV B H
ANARNESYR AN P
’. 7., Q) X ]
1.000.000 ' Al r-‘ . .\\ v .:‘ . "“.\ E!
600 . 000 ” - ~ 0"‘\“ N .-'. o 3 ,‘fé
a S
1760 62 64 66 68 70 72 74 176 78 60 €2 €4 £6 88 90 92 94 96 $€ 1l&0O

* Based on Appendices, I1I, IV, VI, XI, XIIL



146 Research Studies, State College of Washington Vol. 4

Company was on Indian cotton for financing its exports, and suggests
that the amount of raw cotton purchased by the Chinese depended to
a certain extent upon how much tea the Company exported.

Considering the phenomenal expansion of trade, one may legiti-
mately ask what caused it. The answer is simple. It was the Commu-
tation Act® of 1784 in England—which reduced duties on tea from an
average of 119 per cent ad valorem to 12% per cent.’ Because of the
important effect which it had upon the China trade, it seems necessary
to turn to a brief consideration of this important measure.

2. The Commutation Act (August 20, 1784).

The most important event in the history of Anglo-Chinese relations
prior to the abolition of the Company’s monopoly of the China trade
in 1833 was the Commutation Act. It was passed by the House of Com-
mons on August 16, 1784, and four days later received the Royal
assent.’ Its obstensible object was to safeguard the revenue through
the elimination of smuggling by the reduction of duties on tea. This
reduction of duties by lowering prices would make smuggling of tea un-
profitable, and the reduction of prices would relieve the poor of unneces-
sary burdens. A secondary and equally important, although less talked
of, object was the encouragement of British trade with China at the
expense of Continental competitors (France, Sweden, Denmark, Hol-
land, and various interlopers sailing from Ostend under Imperial
colors).

The popular demand for tea, together with the ease by which rev-
enue could be collected from it, had caused successive governments
throughout the eighteenth century to load it with duties, which between
1768 and 1772 amounted to 64 per cent. For this period the average
amount sold by the Company was 8,075,794 Ibs. per year. The exigen-
cies of the exchequer, however, caused the government to increase the
duties to an average of 106 per cent for the years between 1773 and
1777, with the result that the vearly average of tea sold at the Com-
pany’s sales declined to 5,559,007 Ibs. This alarming decline in the
British tea trade led to a temporary reduction of the duties to an aver-
age of 100 per cent for the years 1778 and 1779, and under this

°24 Geo. I11, cap. 38.

542' Wissett, Compendium, 11, section on tea; Milburn, Oriental Commerce, II,

* Commons Journal, 1784, X1, 444, 446, 451.
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respite the Company’s trade showed signs of revival, the average sales
between 1778 and 1782 being about 6,000,000 lbs. The closing years of
the American War of Independence, however, threw new burdens upon
the exchequer, with the result that the duties were raised to 114 per
cent in 1783 and to 119 per cent for the first half of the year 1784;
consequently the Company’s trade suffered a slight decline.’

The high duties upon tea had always been an inducement to the
smuggler, and numerous harsh and troublesome laws were framed to
prevent smuggling. The excessively high duties after 1772 caused the
smuggling trade from the Continent to rise by leaps and bounds. As it
rose, the Company’s trade declined, and the trade of its Continental
rivals, which supplied the smugglers with tea, rose. The Company was
well aware of the effect of the Government’s fiscal policy upon its trade,
and the honor of collecting the information and organizing the agita-
tion which finally led to the Commutation Act goes principally to
William Richardson,” at the time deputy accountant at the India House.

In 1778 Richardson became acquainted with a London wholesale
dealer and a Maidstone distiller who were trying to get an Act of
Parliament passed to prevent smuggling. From them he obtained in-
formation, and he aided them in getting acts passed in 1778 and 1779
which slightly reduced the duties. He also printed a pamphlet against
smuggling and organized a number of London tea dealers into an assoc-
iation which met once a week to present information and devise schemes
for preventing smuggling. He also organized similar associations in
other towns, and the work was helped by the subscription of £500 from
the Court of Directors. In 1781 he prepared a plan which would have re-
duced duties by 16 per cent. It was not favored by the Court of Direc-
tors, because they thought the Government would want indemnification
for the loss of revenue, and the decrease in duties was not sufficient to
eliminate smuggling or the illicit manufacture of adulterated tea in
England.

Richardson next evolved the idea of taking off all duties on tea
and replacing them by a window tax, which would fall upon the
wealthy. He'obtained the support of the Earl of Shelburne, who, on
July 13, 1782, became Prime Minister. Lord Shelburne had Richard-
son’s plan delivered to the Commissioners of the Customs and Excise
for their opinions, and the original of the plan was given to William

* Wissett, Compendium, 1I, section on tea; Milburn, op. cit.,, 11, 542,
10, Home Miscellaneous, LXI, 115-19, 151-52.
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Pitt (the younger), Chancellor of the Exchequer. Encouraged by
ministerial support, Richardson worked out his plan in detail on Sep-
tember 14, 1783. He estimated that between seventeen and eighteen mil-
lion pounds of tea was consumed annually in England and her depend-
encies ; that between 1772 and 1780 the average annual exportation of
tea from China was 18,838,140 Ibs., of which 5,639,938 Ibs. was brought
to England by the Company, 5,500,000 lbs. was consumed upon the Conti-
nent, and the remainder, 7,698,201 1bs., was smuggled into England, and
that between 4,000,000 and 5,000,000 pounds of tea was annually manu-
factured in England. If the whole of the China tea annually consumed in
England could be brought into the Company’s hands, thirty-eight large
ships per year would be employed instead of only eighteen. In order
to bring this about and to eliminate smuggling, he proposed to take the
duties off tea and replace them by a window tax.”

Richardson presented this plan to various members of the Govern-
ment and of Parliament, who in general approved of it.” By this time
the Government, faced with dire financial necessity, had taken fright
at the progress of smuggling, which encouraged lawlessness and de-
frauded the revenue of immense sums, estimated at £2,000,000 per
year.” The King’s message on November 11, 1783, called attention to
the frauds upon the revenue caused by smuggling and requested Parlia-
ment to provide remedies. On the 21st, Parliament passed a resolution
providing for the appointment of a committee of fifteen to investigate
the problem of smuggling. It was elected with William Eden as chair-
man and on the 27th it held its first meeting. In the meantime the
Court of Directors had been considering Richardson’s plan, and on
December 17 the Court ordered that the Chairman and the Deputy
Chairman should wait upon the First Lord of the Treasury and the
Chancellor of the Exchequer and request their good offices in carrying
it out.”

At this junction the North-Fox Ministry, the successor to the Shel-
burne Ministry, was replaced by the King’s nominee, William Pitt.
This Ministry was too weak to carry successful legislation through until

10, Home Miscellaneous, LXI, 103-104, 138-42; G. L. Staunton, Embassy
fn;m the King of Great Britain to the Emperor of China (London, 1797), II,
617-23.

210, Home Miscellaneous, LXI, 117-19, 152.

B Commons Journal, 1783, XXXIX, 853.
Y Ibid., pp. 709, 738, 740, 741.
%10, Home Miscellaneous, LXI, 113, 149-50.
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after the general election in May, 1784, which returned it to power with
a working majority.” In the meantime the Committee on Smuggling
had been hard at work. On December 24, 1783, it presented its first
report dealing with England. The report gave a detailed account of
how smuggling was carried on and the extent to which it was practised
in England. The Committee proposed a resolution, deploring the alarm-
ing growth of smuggling and calling upon the House to give the matter
its earliest attention; this was passed on February 11, 1784." The
second report, which related to Scotland and confirmed the first, was
presented on March 1, 1784." The third report, which proposed changes
in the existing laws to prevent smuggling, the reduction of duties on
tea, and the substitution of a tax on windows, was presented on March
23.°

The Pitt Ministry was too much occupied with its Government of
India Bill to give immediate attention to the problem of smuggling, and
not until June 2, 1784, were the three reports from the Committee on
Smuggling taken up. On June 21 Pitt introduced several resolutions
relative to the tea duties. The resolutions, as originally introduced and
passed by the House on June 22, provided that existing duties on tea
were to be replaced by a window tax and by duties ranging from 12%
per cent on bohea tea to 40 per cent on congo.”

As finally passed, the bill provided for a uniform duty of 12% per
cent on the sales value of all tea sold at the Company’s sales, and a
window tax. In return for this boon, and in order that the public
might be safeguarded, the Company was required to make four sales
each year and to put up at least 5,000,000 Ibs. at the first sale, 2,500,000
at the second, and thereafter such quantities as were judged sufhcient
for the demand. At the first four sales bohea was to be put up for sale
at 1/7 per Ib., congo at 2/5, souchong and singlo at 3/3, and hyson at
4/11, and the tea was to be sold if one penny per pound was bid on
the upset price. After that the Company was to offer its teas at a price

 Commons Journal, XL, 1-3; Parliamentary History, XII, 450-51, and XIII,
307, and XIV, 1-4.
N " Commons Journal, XXXIX, 853, 911; PP, Sessional Reports, 1783-84, VI,
o. 58.
N B Commons Journal, XXXIX, 964; PP, Sessional Reports, 1783-84, VI,
0. 59.
® Commons Journal, XXXIX, 1048; PP, Sessional Reports, 1783-84, VI,
No. 60.
» Commons Journal, XL, 67-68, 240-47; Parliamentary History, XV, 230-40.
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not exceeding the prime cost and charges and was always to keep on
hand a stock equal to at least one year’s consumption.”

This measure was far-reaching. The quantity of tea sold at the
Company’s sales increased from 5,857,882 Ibs, in 1783 to 10,148,257
lbs. in 1784 and to 15,081,737 Ibs. in 1785. The sales amount then went
slowly up until it reached 20,750,994 Ibs. in 1796. The sales value of
the Company’s exports from China (despite the decrease in the price
of tea) more than doubled in five years,” and because the quantity of
British goods which the Chinese would buy was directly dependent
upon the quantity of Chinese goods purchased by the British, the sales
value of goods imported into China by the Company doubled in five
years and nearly quadrupled in ten years. Similarly, the exports from
India to China doubled in a single season and increased by seven times
in three seasons.”

As the British trade flourished, that of its foreign rivals decreased.
The quantity of tea exported from Canton by foreign European Com-
panies, which was 19,072,300 lbs. in 1783-84, decreased to 10,165,160 in
1786-87, and to 2,291,560 in 1790-91.* The price of bohea tea at the
Company’s sales decreased from 2/10 per 1b. in 1783 to 1/6 per 1b. in
1787 ; hyson decreased from 7/8 per 1b. in 1783 to 5/9 in 1787, and the
average price of all teas decreased from 3/10 per Ib. in 1783 to 2/10
per lb. in 1787.* This decrease in wholesale cost of tea naturally led to
a considerable extension of its consumption. It also should be noted
that these commercial results had a direct bearing (as will be noted
later) upon the sending of the first British embassy to China.”

Finally, it is worth pointing out that the main benefits of this act
did not accrue to the Company alone. Its average yearly net profits
upon the China trade for the five years preceding the Commutation Act
were £239,289; for the five years following the Act they were
£558,413 per year.” The chief benefit accrued to the Country traders
through the expansion of the cotton trade and to the nation in the
reduction of tea prices, the increased sale of its woollens and metals

24 Geo. ITI, cap. 38.
* Appendices V and VII.
» Appendices IV and XII.

* CMC, X, Nos. 401, 402, 433; Milburn, op. cit., 11, 486; David Macpherson,
Annals of Commerce (London, 1805), IV, 337.

® Wissett, Compendium, 11, section on tea.
® Chap, V, Section 2.
* Appendix VIII.
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in China, and the increased number of seamen and workers which the
expanded trade employed. There is no better example in history for
illustrating the beneficial results of a wise commercial policy.

3. The Company’s Trade: A General View (1760-1800).

Figure 2 gives a very graphic view of the Company’s trade with
China. In 1760-61 the total value of its merchandise trade at Canton
(imports and exports) was T. 901,371. It rose gradually until it
reached the total of T. 3,036,671 in 1771-72 and then fell off to
T. 866,016 in 1774-75. It then rose gradually to T. 2,505,221 in 1780-
81, but in 1782-83 it dropped to T. 1,044,796, largely because several of
the ships destined for Canton were detained in Indian ports. The arrival
of the cargoes of these ships account for the high figure of
T. 2,866,316 in 1783-84, but in 1784-85 it settled back to T. 2,519,434.
The average for the first ten years was T. 1,675,943 and for the next
fifteen years T. 2,059,757. The average for the whole twenty-five-year
period prior to 1785 was T. 1,906,231.® It is worthy of notice that in
1779-80 and 1781-83, years when the Company’s average fell low, the
Country trade was also at a low ebb—a fact which shows to a marked
degree the interdependence of the two.

Under the influence of the Commutation Act the Company’s trade
shot skyward, reaching the enormous figure of T. 6,095,825 in 1787-88.
It then declined to T. 5,292,234 in 1791-92. This decline was caused
partly by troubled conditions in Europe and by the overstocked condi-
tion of the tea market, partly because some of the ships sent to Canton
did not arrive, and partly because the Country trade for the season was
more than halved—the resources available to the Company at Canton
thus being decreased. It should be noted that the value of imports did
not decline during this season, but actually increased. The entire de-
cline was in exports. The value of trade rose rapidly again, however,
reaching a peak of T. 8,349,289 in 1796-97. The average for the
fifteen-year period from 1785 to 1800 was T. 5,978,650, or 190 per
cent greater than for the fifteen years prior to 1785.

It is of special importance that the value of exports for the five
years 1791-92 through 1795-96 declined, and that the actual increase in
the value of the total trade for these years was caused by an increase
in imports. During the ten years from 1790 to 1800, imports in goods

® Appendices IV, VI.
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equalled half of the exports, a thing never before known in the trade
between Europe and China. Throughout the first half of the eighteenth
century, roughly 90 per cent of the Company’s imports were bullion,
and only 10 per cent were goods. During the twenty years from 1775
to 1795, goods composed about 65 per cent and bullion 35 per cent of
the Company’s imports. This remarkable change was caused partly by
the American and European war, which during the early part of the
period closed the market for Spanish dollars, partly by the enormous
increase in the market for British woollens after 1790, but mainly by
the fact that the Company found means, which will be discussed later,”
for drawing the residue of the Country trade into its treasury to be
used in financing its exports. Between 1760 and 1775 the Company
imported bullion to the value of T. 9,780,937 and goods to the value of
T. 7,516,587. During the next ten years, when war was going on, it
imported bullion to the amount of T. 723,776, most of which was from
India, and goods to the value of T. 4,583,308. During the ten years
from 1785 to 1795, when large sums were needed to finance the ex-
panded tea trade, it imported bullion to the amount of T. 10,862,218,
and goods to the value of T. 15,428,542.%

From 1764 until 1785 exports from Canton showed no material
increase, but after that period they increased rapidly, reaching a peak
of T. 6,248,940 in 1796-97. Imports, on the other hand, increased
steadily until 1771-72, after which they declined until 1783-84. From
this date they rose steadily, reaching their highest figure of T. 2,546,225
in 1799-1800. In 1760-61 the ratio of exports to imports was 3.9 to
1, in 1775-76, 2.56 to 1, in 1785-86, 4.28 to 1, in 1794-95, 2.12 to 1,
and in 1799-1800, 1.57 to 1. This shows fairly well the tendency during
the period. Exports reacted much more quickly to the Commutation
Act, but merchandise imports gradually responded until, by the end of
the period, they had made the gap between themselves and exports
less than it had been in the history of the trade.”

The Company’s imports sold at a steady loss after 1775. During a
few years they sold at a profit, but for the twenty-year period from
1775 to 1795 the average annual loss was T. 24,039 or 2.3 per cent per
annum upon the total cost. Imports actually sold at a profit upon the
prime cost, but after handling charges, interest, insurance, and the

® Chap. IV, Section 3.
®Appendices IV, IX.
" Appendices IV, VI.
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supercargoes’ commission were figured in they showed the above loss.”
Charges for freight were not figured against imports but were charged
against exports. This loss on imports was of no great consequence to
the Company. Its great profit was made on its exports, and imports
were used only as a means of financing exports and meeting the de-
mands at home that it export British manufactures. An increase in
quantity* of goods exported to China, not profit upon them, was the
policy of the Company ; and well might it have such a policy, consider-
ing the profit it made upon its exports, and the fact that it lost even
more upon bullion and bills—the only other means it had for financing
the trade. The bullion which it imported between 1775 and 1795
realized an average yearly loss of T. 55,511, or 5.27 per cent; on an
average it lost 8.33 per cent on the bills which it issued.”

When we turn to the Company’s export trade, a different story
appears. After all charges—interest, insurance, freight outwards and
homewards, and the supercaroges’ commission—are included, its ex-
ports from China sold at an average yearly profit of £333,316 or 29
per cent upon the total cost for the ten years from 1775 to 1785, and
for £488,802 or 21 per cent for the ten years from 1785 to 1795.
The average yearly profit for the whole period was T. 1,233,177, or
24.5 per cent.® Upon its total trade with China (imports and exports—
bullion included), its average annual profit for the twenty-year period
was £204,479 or T. 613,437. This amounted to an annual profit of
28 per cent upon the actual money invested in the trade.”

In summary, one can say that the total value of the Company’s
merchandise trade with China increased by 593 per cent between 1760
and 1800. Imports into China increased by 1200 per cent and exports
from China by 470 per cent. The major part of this increase came
after 1784-85. Over the tweny-year period from 1775 to 1795 imports
in goods provided 35 per cent of the money invested in exports, and
bullion equalled 20 per cent, a total of 55 per cent. Of the remaining
45 per cent, about 36 per cent came from the Country trade through
bills of exchange, 514 per cent from engagements with the Indian
Presidencies, 3 per cent from the Private trade in the form of certifi-
cates, slightly over 14 per cent from freight, and slightly less than 14

® Appendix IV.

* For bullion, see Appendix IX, and for bills, consider the value of each
dollar at 5/- and the average exchange rate at which they were issued 5/5.

“ Appendix VII.

* Appendix VIII.
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per cent from bonds.” The relatively greater increase of the merchan-
dise import over the export showed that the Company’s policy of
dumping English goods into the Chinese market at less than cost was
bringing results, and that a real demand for British woollens was
gradually developing.

4, The Company's Import Trade in Goods (1775-1795).

From England the Company imported woollens, lead, tin, and a
small amount of copper. From Bombay it brought raw cotton, from
Madras and Bombay sandalwood and small quantities of redwood,
from Benkulen pepper, and on one occasion it brought opium from
Bengal. The total value of goods imported during the twenty years
from 1775 to 1795 was T. 20,011,850, of which 90 per cent came from
England and 10 per cent came from India and Benkulen. English
woollens composed 75.8 per cent of the above total, British metals 14
per cent, and miscellaneous produce from England 0.2 per cent. Of
the 10 per cent which came from the East, pepper provided 4.7 per cent,
cotton 3.5 per cent, opium 1.2 per cent and sandalwood and redwood
0.6 per cent.” It should be noted that prior to 1783 Indian produce
played a much more important part in the trade than after that date.
Figure 3 will show more clearly than words the progress and relative
importance of the Company’s imports in woollens, metals, and Indian
produce.

Woollens were by far the most important article of merchandise
imported by the Company. Over the twenty years from 1775 to 1795
woollens to the value of T. 15,224,639 were imported. They constituted
nearly 844 per cent of the total merchandise imported from England,
and metals constituted only 15% per cent, divided as follows: tin 7.1
per cent, lead 7 per cent, and copper 1.4 per cent.® The woollens were
of three sorts: long ells, broadcloth, and camlet; at various times
the Company attempted to introduce other varieties, but without
success.

From the point of view of both quantity and total value, long ells
were the most important of the woollens imported. The value of long
ells imported during the twenty-year period was T. 9,897,584 or 65
per cent of the total woolens imported. According to the price at which

* Appendices 1V, VI, IX, X.
* Appendices I, II, III, IV.
® Appendices I, II,
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they sold (T.7 per piece from 1776 to 1783 and from then onwards,
T.7.5 per piece) long ells must have been an inferior type of woollen
cloth. Judging from the name, they were an ell (48 inches) in width,
and they were probably 24 yards long, for in 1792 each cloth contained

Figure 3.
East India Company’s Imports into Canton (1760-1800)°.
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24 yards. They were shipped to China in bales containing 20 pieces.
Their importation remained fairly low, averaging about 30,000 pieces
per season, until after 1785, when they began a steady rise, reaching
177,155 pieces in 1793-94. They sold at a loss of 3.2 per cent upon the
total cost throughout the period excepting the season 1794-95, when the
overstocked market caused the Chinese to reduce the price to T. 6.7 per
piece. Prior to 1788-89 the Company imported only one variety of
long ells, but in that year it introduced a superior variety, which
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was regularly imported in small quantities after 1790 and sold for T'. 9
per piece.”

The fine, smooth, densely woven broadcloth was the second most
important of the woollens imported by the Company. Over the twenty-
year period the value of broadcloth imported was T. 4,558,321 or 30
per cent of the total woollens imported. It was of three varieties:
worsters, which sold at T. 1 per yard; supers, which sold at an average
of T.145 per yard; and superfines, which sold at an average of
T. 2.50 per yard. Each cloth contained about 35 yards, or 90 covids,
and three cloths were packed in a bale. Prior to 1783 the importation
averaged about 2,000 cloths per year; it rose to about 4,000 per year
between 1783 and 1790, and then increased rapidly to 7,151 cloths in
1793-94. Broadcloth also sold at a steady loss throughout the period,
the total loss being T.465,013, or an average of 914 per cent upon
the total cost. It actually sold at a slight profit upon prime cost.”

Camlet cloth constituted a poor third in the triumvirate of woollens
imported by the Company. It provided nearly 5 per cent of the wool-
lens imported by the Company, and miscellaneous varieties provided one
tenth of one per cent. Judging from the price (T.36 per piece) at
which the ordinary worsted camlet sold throughout the greater part of
the period, it was in quality somewhere between the long ell and the
broadcloth. The inferior quality camlet imported by the Company had
to compete with the superior brand brought by the Dutch, but, never-
theless, it was the only woollen cloth which sold at a profit throughout
the period. The total profit realized upon it was T. 165,424, or 29 per
cent. During most of the period the Company imported only the
worsted camlet, but in 1788-89 it introduced an imitation Dutch camlet,
which was imported in small quantities for several years, and sold at
prices between T. 40 and T. 44 per piece. In 1794-95 this was replaced
by a mohair camlet, which sold for T. 33 per piece. Each piece con-
tained 55 yards, and 20 pieces were packed in each bale. Prior to 1783
the average importation was about 300 pieces per year; it then rose

to 1,250 per year for three seasons, and by 1794-95 reached 5,020
pieces.”

¥ Anvendix T and the Canton Diaries as indicated in the notes to Appendix
I, CMC, V, No. 225.

“ Appendix I and the Canton Diaries, as indicated in the notes to Appendix I.
“ Appendix I and Canton Diaries, as indicated in the notes to Appendix I.
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Over the whole of the twenty-year period, the Company lost
T. 903,088 (5.6 per cent) upon its woollens. This, however, was part
of a settled policy of dumping them into the market in order to provide
funds for the homeward investments, and in order to drive out Dutch
and other Furopean competition. The market was constantly over-
stocked after 1788, when the rapid increase in the woollen trade began.
The Court of Directors insisted that barter transactions should not be
made, and so the supercargoes sold the woollens at a stipulated price
and kept a distinct account of their sales; but in reality the price which
the Chinese merchants would give for woollens depended upon the
price they received for their teas. If the supercargoes tried to raise
the price of woollens, the merchants advanced the price of tea. The
only method by which the supercargoes could force the sale of wool-
lens was to make the quantity of tea which they bought from a given
merchant dependent upon the quantity of woollens which he took.
Contracts for tea were regularly made in this manner.”

The Company carefully supervised the preparation of its woollens
for the Chinese market and was especially careful to maintain the
quality and specifications so that there would be no complaint. This
policy was worthwhile, for in time the Company’s mark became the
mark of quality, and it was said that its woollens were sent to the
northward without ever having been opened, the merchants having the
utmost confidence that the number of pieces and quality were exactly
as stamped upon the bale. There was no real market for woollens at
Canton because of the warm climate, and they had to be sent to the
north where the cold climate made them desirable. Tn the course of
time the Company’s policy bore fruit; arteries of trade to the north
were opened, and a genuine demand for British woollens developed.

Although metals constituted only 1514 per cent of the Company’s
imports from England, they were an important branch of the trade.
The Company did not attempt to force the sale of metals, and they
consequently sold at a slight profit above all costs. Some seasons they
showed a loss, but for the twenty-year period they registered a net
gain of T. 154,230 or slightly over 6 per cent. Lead, which had long
been a staple article of export to China from Europe, was imported in
ever-increasing quantities throughout the period. Its lowest year was

"Mprse, Chronicle, 11, 20, 28, 40, 96-97, 127, 174, 198, 210, and Morse, “The
Provision of Funds for the East India Company's Trade at Canton during the
Eighteenth Century,” Journal of the Royal Asiatic Society, April, 1922, pp. 238-39.
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1779-80, when only 1,667 piculs were imported, and its best year was
1786-87, when 35,640 piculs were imported. Its sales price ranged be-
tween 4 and 6 taels per picul, the average being less than 5. ILead
constituted slightly over 46 per cent of the metals imported by the
Company during the period, and it sold at an average profit of 8 per
cent. A considerable percentage of the lead imported was used for
lining camphor boxes and tea cannisters.

Tin, although not imported until the season 1789-90, quickly became
the most important of the metals. During the six remaining seasons of
the period, tin to the value of T. 1,280,106 or 47 per cent of the total
metals was imported. The profit realized upon it was T. 57,468 or
434 per cent above all costs. Tin from the island of Banka was
always in demand at Canton and had long been brought by the Country
traders and by the Dutch. The first British tin from the mines in
Cornwall was introduced by the Company in 1789-90, when 925 piculs
were sold at the market price of T.15.5 per picul. According to
Meares, George Unwin of the Royal Navy was responsible for the
introduction of English tin into China. It is quite certain, however,
that in 1789 the Company entered into an agreement with the Corn-
wall tin producers, who were facing ruin because of the declining de-
mand for Cornish tin upon the Continent, to export 800 tons of tin
annually at £75 per ton, provided a sale could be found for it in India
and China. British tin was considered less malleable than Banka tin,
which was preferred, but a comparison of the market price and the
price which the Company received for its tin reveals no particular dif-
ferences, the price of each ranging between 14 and 16 taels per picul.“

As an article of importation, English copper was of slight impor-
tance. Considerable copper was imported from Japan in the junk trade
and was preferred to European copper. The first English copper was
brought in Private trade in 1786-87, when 24 piculs were imported.
In the same year the Company entered into an agreement with copper
producers in England, that when prices fell below a certain level in
England the Company would export what the producers could supply.
Under this agreement considerable quantities were imported into China
between 1787-88 and 1791-92. The first consignment (21 tons) sold for
T. 7,217, a profit of T.701. During the five seasons that it was im-

“ Appendix II.

“ Appendix II; John Meares, Voyage . . . from China to the North West
Coast of America (London, 1790), pp. xc-xcv; PP, Accounts and Papers, 1792-
93, No. 774b, p. 6; Wissett, Compendium, 11, 4,
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ported, a total of 9,952 piculs were brought, and, selling at T. 18 per
picul, realized T. 181,117, a net profit of T.3,859, or 2.2 per cent.
Copper constituted 7 per cent of the metals imported during the
period.” It should be borne in mind that the main expansion in the
metal trade came after 1789, when the Company began the importation
of tin and copper in considerable quantities, and that it began the im-
portation of these metals at a time when it was straining every resource
to finance the phenomenal expansion of the tea trade.

Indian produce, which had been of considerable importance in the
Company’s trade prior to 1775, constituted but 10 per cent of its im-
ports between 1775 and 1795. Every season except two saw some
Indian produce brought on the Company’s account, but throughout the
period its importation showed no increase. In 1760-61 the sales value
of Indian produce was T.71,371. Its highest mark was reached in
1782-83, when a cargo of opium realized T. 237,082, a loss of 18.7 per
cent. The trade then dropped to T.19,219 in 1794-95 but rose to
T. 162,817 in 1799-1800. During the period from 1775 to 1795 the total
sales value of Indian produce was T. 2,024,666, a yearly average of
T. 101,233. 1t is hard to see why the Company did not encourage this
trade, especially as it realized a net profit of T. 311,906, or 18 per cent
over the twenty-year period. It is certain that the Company could have
introduced much greater quantities of raw cotton from Bombay at con-
siderable profit. However, the Indian Presidencies either did not wish
to be troubled with the provision of large shipments or could not
finance them, and so preferred to encourage the Country traders, by
which means the proceeds ultimately reached the Company’s treasury
at Canton (but at a loss instead of a profit).”

In point of value pepper occupied first place among the Indian im-
ports, constituting 46.8 per cent of the total between 1775 and 1795.
With the exception of the season 1776-77, when it came from Bombay
and Madras, all the pepper came from Benkulen (Fort Marlborough).
The average cost of the pepper was 6d. per Ib., and it sold in Canton at
prices ranging from T. 10 to T. 16 per picul. If it sold for T. 12 per
picul or above, it realized a profit, and during only four out of the
thirteen seasons that it was imported did it sell below T. 12. It had to
compete with pepper brought by the Dutch and in the Country and

“ Appendix II; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 136-37; I0CCD, LXXXV (1786-87),
table of imports in Company’s ships.

“ Appendix III.
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Private trades, but over the whole period its sales value amounted to
T. 948,309, recording a net profit of T. 107,493 or 12.7 per cent.”

Raw cotton from Bombay was the second most important Indian
import, and the only one which showed a tendency to expand. Its
sales value for the period was T. 707,980, amounting to 35 per cent of
the total Indian produce. It was imported during fourteen of the
twenty seasons, and sold for a loss but once. It sold at prices ranging
between 9 and 15 taels per picul, and realized a total profit of
T. 226,496 or 47 per cent.” Redwood was imported twice from Madras
and once from Bombay. It sold at a profit of 100 per cent the first
time, at a slight loss when imported from Bombay, and again at 100
per cent profit upon its last importation. Sandalwood was imported
during six seasons from Bombay and sold at a profit during four of the
seasons, when the price was above T. 20 per picul. Taken together,
sandalwood and redwood equalled 614 per cent of the total Indian
import and sold for a net profit of T.24,948 or 24.7 per cent. The
remaining 12 per cent of the Indian produce imported was made up
by the one shipment of opium, and by a pearl which sold for T. 5,400,
a profit of T.64.°

5. Attempts to Introduce New Articles into China.

On the whole, the East India Company was rather lax about at-
tempting to introduce new articles into the Chinese market. It pre-
ferred to deal only in articles which found an extensive sale, and left
minor produce and the experimentation in new products to the Private
traders. The attitude of the supercargoes toward experimentation in
new articles was well shown by the Secret and Superintending Com-
mittee on February 3, 1794, which stated that it considered the list of
articles of trade recommended by Loord Macartney as better suited to
the speculation of individual traders than adapted to the extensive
scale of the Company. To this Lord Macartney quite properly replied
that, as the China trade was very largely a closed monopoly, he con-
sidered it incumbent upon the Company to undertake the introduction
of new products.” That the Court of Directors in general followed the
policy suggested by the supercargoes can be judged from the few at-

“ Appendix III.
“ Appendix III.
“ Appendix III.
“CMC, VII, No. 322; I0CM, XCII, 529-32.
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tempts made by the Company, except with respect to different varieties
of woollens, to introduce new articles into China.

It has been noted already that the first British copper was intro-
duced in Private trade. The same was true of cottons and steel. Thir-
teen piculs of cotton yarn were first brought in the Country trade in
1777-78; sixteen were brought the next year, and in 1780-81, 191
piculs were introduced (presumably from India) in Private trade. In
1781-82, 200 pieces of muslin were brought in the Country trade and
48 pieces in Private trade. These were probably from India, but in
1783-84, 327 pieces of muslin and 223 pieces of gingham, both of
Manchester manufacture, were brought in Private trade. They appar-
ently did not sell at a satisfactory profit, for no more were brought
until 1792-93, when 330 pieces of muslin were imported.”

In the meantime the Company had shown signs of initiative. In
1886-87 some patterns of “Norwich, Manchester and Halifax Stuffs”
arrived. They were shown to the merchants, who considered them too
expensive and not as well suited to the Chinese market as the less
elegant Chinese manufacture. In 1788-89 more samples of ‘“Norwich,
Halifax, and Manchester Goods” arrived. Shy Kinqua said that the
velvets and velverets were useless, but indicated that he would not
object to a small trial indent of denims and royal ribs, two cotton
cloths of Manchester manufacture. In consequence of this, 50 pieces
of denims invoiced at £317 (prime cost £289), and 50 pieces of royal
ribs invoiced at £295 (prime cost £268) arrived in 1790-91. They
were disposed of at T.1000 for each variety, a net profit of T.164
upon the invoice cost and T. 110 or 5.8 per cent upon the total cost.
Because they were ‘“‘not approved of” by the Chinese merchants, how-
ever, the Company refrained from sending any more.®

No attempts were made by the Company to introduce iron or steel
during the period. In 1786-87, 641 piculs of iron were brought in the
Country trade, and in 1792-93, 35 piculs of steel were brought in
Private trade. In 1778-79 the Company brought 8 pieces of gold and
silver tissue invoiced at £440 (total cost T.1,398), which sold at a
loss of T.71 and in 1794-95 they brought 172 pieces of Irish linens
which realized a loss of T. 72 upon the total cost of T. 2,619. Their only
other adventures into the field of the unknown were three shipments
of furs. The first, in 1777-78, was damanged on the way out and sold

® TIOCCD, tables of trade in Vols. 62, 64, 71, 74, 78, 104.
®IOCCD, XCV, 118 and XCIX, 5; Morse, Chronicle, I1, 120, 152, 179-80;
PP, Accounts and Papers, 1792-93, No. 774.
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at a net loss of T. 6,756 upon the total cost of T.11,076. The next
year a second consignment arrived from London, invoiced at £ 3,586,
and it sold at a loss of nearly 49 per cent. Discouraged by this, the
Company did not attempt this trade again until 1793-94, when a consign-
ment, invoiced at £12,075, sold for T. 16,057, a loss of 56 per cent
upon the total cost. It is hard to account for this last failure of the
Company to sell its furs at a profit, unless it be attributed to lack of
initiative on the part of the supercargoes in discovering good buyers,
for the Private traders were bringing large shipments of furs from
London at this time with apparent success.”

The Company made several unsuccessful experiments at intro-
ducing new types of woollens. In 1777-78, four pieces of felts sold
for T. 295, and the next season fourteen pieces of duroys sold at a
profit of nearly 53 per cent. These beginnings were not followed up.
Flannels and drabs introduced in 1784-85 sold at a loss, as did forty
pieces of camaroons introduced in 1787-88. In 1786, fourteen pieces
of tabinets sold at a slight profit. But three years later 140 pieces sold
at a loss. In 1793-94, two bales of embossed cloths sold at a profit, and
as a consequence they were imported in small quantities for several
seasons. During the period miscellaneous woollens to the value of
T. 14,030 were imported and realized a net loss of T.777 or 5.3 per
cent.™

6. The Company’s Export Trade (1760-1800).

As the Company exported only five articles from Canton (tea, raw
silk, chinaware, nankeens, and sago), an analysis of its export trade
is much simpler than of its import trade. As has already been noted,
the value of exports made a phenomenal rise after the passage of the
Commutation Act. This fact can be seen most clearly in Figure 4,
which shows the progress of the Company’s trade in each one of its
staple exports from 1760 to 1800. This figure, together with Appen-
dices V and VI, shows emphatically to what extent tea dominated the
Company’s export trade. Raw silk, the exportation of which was pro-
hibited during the early years of the period, increased to T. 673,400 in
1767-68 and then declined to T.169,077 in 1785-86. It jumped to
T. 849,914 the following year, after which it steadily declined. China-

® IOCCD, tables of trade in Vols. 62, 64, 67, 78, 85, 91, 104, 107, 109, 115;
Morse, Chronicle, 11, 28, 30, 205, 256.

* IOCCD, invoices of ships and tables of trade in Vols. 62, 64, 80, 85, 87, 97.
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ware and sago showed a slight tendency to increase until their exporta-
tion was stopped in 1791 ; and nankeens, which at no time amounted to
more than an infinitesimal part of the total exports, showed a steady
increase.

Figure 4.
East India Company’s Exports from Canton (1760-1800)%.
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* Based on Appendices V, VI.

Tea was, in fact, the god to which everything else was sacrificed.
Tea alone was an object of almost universal domestic consumption in
England which did not compete with home manufacture, and from
it the Company drew over 90 per cent of its commercial profits. Every
precaution was taken to preserve it as a strict monopoly; every effort
was made to expand it at the expense of foreign competitors, and
every available resource was tapped in order to provide funds to
finance its rapid expansion. During the fifteen years from 1760 to 1775
the total value of tea exported from Canton was T. 14,746,909, or 76
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per cent of the Company’s total exports. During the next ten years
the value of tea was T.8,774,060, or 66 per cent of the total exports.
During the ten years 1785 to 1795 the total value of tea was
T. 36,173,374, or 88.3 per cent of the total exports. During the whole
thirty-five-year period nearly 60 million taels’ worth of tea was ex-
ported, which amounted to 81 per cent of the Company’s exports.*
There were two main varieties of tea: black and green. Gener-
ally speaking, the black teas were inferior to and cheaper than
green teas, and throughout the period about 70 per cent of the teas
exported by the Company were black. There were four major varieties
of black tea: bohea, congo, souchong, and pekoe, all of which came
in the main from the Bohea Mountains in Fukien province. All teas,
whether green or black, were the leaves of the same plant or shrub,
the difference being due to the time of picking and the manner of
preparation.”

Prior to 1785, bohea was by far the most important of the black
teas exported. Between 1775 and 1785, it constituted about 77 per cent
of the black teas and 53 per cent of all teas exported. After 1785, be-
cause of the decrease in the price of teas in England, it declined in
importance and was replaced by congo, a somewhat superior and more
expensive black tea. Between 1785 and 1795 bohea constituted but 31
per cent of the black teas and 21 per cent of the total teas exported.
It was the cheapest of the black teas and sold in Canton throughout
the period at prices varying between 12 and 14 taels per picul. Prior
to the Commutation Act, its price at the Company’s sales was from
2/5 to 2/10 per Ib., but after this Act its average price was about 1/7
per Ib. It was probably made from the second, third and fourth gather-
ings of tea and was consumed by the poorer classes in both England
and China.”

Congo was the second variety of black tea. It was more carefully
prepared, of a larger leaf, and less dusty than bohea. It became very
popular in England after the Commutation Act had reduced its sales
price from an average of about 4/10 per lb. to about 3/2. Between
1785 and 1795, it constituted roughly 60 per cent of the black teas and
40 per cent of the total teas exported from Canton by the Company.

® Appendix V.

® Chinese Repository, VIII, 132-64; Davis, The Chinese (1836), I1I, 336-37;
Milburn, op. cit., II, 521-27.

“JOCCD, tables of trade and prices throughout the volumes from 1775 to
1800 ; Wissett, Compendium, 11, section on tea.
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Its sales price at Canton averaged T.21 per picul prior to 1785 and
T. 25 per picul after 1785. Congo-campoi was a superior variety of
congo which sold on the average for about T. 31 per picul. Souchong
was a superior black tea carefully prepared from the first and voungest
leaves picked. Its sales price at Canton varied between 30 and 50 taels
per picul, and prior to the Commutation Act it sold at about 6/- per
Ib. at the Company’s sales but afterwards at about 4/2. Pekoe, the most
excellent of all black teas, did not constitute over 1 per cent of the
black teas exported and sold at prices ranging from 45 to 60 taels per
picul at Canton.”

Green teas constituted about 30 per cent of the teas exported from
Canton by the Company. Of the green teas, singlo constituted about 40
per cent, twankay 25 per cent, hyson skin 10 per cent, and hyson 25
per cent. Most of the green teas came from a hilly region dividing the
provinces of Chekiang and Anhwei. Singlo was the most inferior of
the green teas, and its consumption expanded considerably after the
Commutation Act reduced its average price at the Company’s sales
from 4/9 to 2/10. The increased demand caused its quality to deterio-
rate, which ultimately (after 1790) led to a rapid decline in its popu-
larity. Its average cost price, both before and after 1785, was T.21
per picul. Twankay was a superior variety of singlo which increased
in popularity as singlo declined. Its sales price in England was about
the same as singlo, but in China its average cost price prior to 1785
was T.23 per picul, and after that date T.26 per picul. Hyson skin
consisted of the rejected leaves of hyson tea and sold in Canton at an
average price of T.26 per picul. Hyson was the most excellent of all
teas exported from Canton. It was made from the first gathering of
tea, and was of a small, close twisted, bluish green leaf. Its cost price
varied between 45 and 60 taels per picul, and after the Commutation
Act it sold at the Company’s sales for prices varying from 5 to 6
shillings per 1b.*

In view of the often reiterated contention of the Company that the
re-establishment of the Co-hong in 1780 led to a great rise in tea prices,
it is worthwhile to consider the matter upon the basis of the prices pre-
served in the Company’s own records. Averaging the prices for four
periods, we obtain the following results:®

* See note 57.

* For a discussion of teas see CMC, IX, No. 364.

®IOCCD, tables of prices in the volumes from 1775 to 1795. The Co-hong
was abolished in 1771 but re-established in 1780; see Chap. V, Sect. 1.
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Average Average Average Average
Variety of Tea 1775-80 1780-85 1785-90 1790-95
Bohea Tls. per picul 13.2 13.4 13.4 12
Black teas Tls. per picul 23 23 28 26.4
Hyson Tls. per picul 52.8 50 52.2 56
Green teas Tls. per picul 29 314 32 32.8
All teas Tls. per picul 26 27.4 30 30

From this it appears that there was no appreciable change between
1780 and 1785 in bohea, black teas, or hyson. The other varieties of
green tea showed a slight increase, as did the average for all tea.
Between 1785 and 1790, however, a considerable increase is to be
noted in all teas except bohea, the one variety in which the Company’s
purchases showed a relative decline. One therefore concludes that,
although the creation of the Co-hong did cause a slight increase in
prices, the major rise did not come until five years later and was the
result of the Commutation Act and the increased demands of the Com-
pany for tea. By 1790 a new level had been struck, so that between
1790 and 1795 the average for all teas remained the same as for the
previous period, with black teas declining a little and green teas in-
creasing a little.

The profits realized by the Company from its tea trade were great.
Over the ten years from 1775 to 1785, the total value of tea sold was
£11,809,112, the net profit being £2,792,910, or 31 per cent. Over the
next ten years the total value of tea sold was £24,412,793, the profit
being £5,865,923, or 31.6 per cent. The average yearly profit for the
twenty years was £432,942, or 31.4 per cent above all costs.” In view of
the importance of the tea trade, the Court of Directors in 1790 sent out
a tea expert, Charles Arthur, to assist in the examination and apprecia-
tion of teas.”

Figure 4 and Appendix VI show that raw silk was the second most
important article exported from Canton by the Company. Chinese silk
rather than tea had been the article which originally attracted British
ships to China, and during the early part of the eighteenth century it
was of much greater importance than tea. As the demand for tea in
England increased, however, the relative importance of silk declined.

* Appendix V.
“ Morse, Chronicle, 11, 181.
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During the seasons 1760 to 1763 none was exported, because of an
Imperial prohibition and the limited funds of the supercargoes; but
in 1764 the reduction of the duty on raw silk imported into England
to 1/3 per Ib. of 24 ounces encouraged the Company to resume its
exportation.” Between 1771 and 1774 the average yearly exportation
was 1,600 piculs; for the next five years the average exportation was
1,733 piculs; between 1780 and 1785, it declined to 1,385 piculs per
year ; it then rose to 1,840 piculs per year between 1785 and 1790 ; and
finally it dropped to an average of 1,101 piculs for the next five years.*

Between 1775 and 1785 the average yearly value of silk exported
was T. 416,170, or 31.2 per cent of the total yearly value of the Com-
pany’s exports. During the next ten years the average value of the
exportation dropped to T. 397,024, or only 9.7 per cent of the exports.
During the whole twenty-year period raw silk composed 14.9 per cent
of the Company’s exports.” Raw silk thus showed not only a relative
but an actual decline in quantity after 1790. From Appendix VI it
appears that this decline began after the peak season of 1786, in which
2,841 piculs were exported. The absolute decline in the silk trade
was caused by an increase of the duties in England to 3/- per Ib. in
1787, and by its replacement in the British markets by Italian and
Turkish thrown silk.” The silk exported by the Company was the
superior variety manufactured near Nanking. Its average cost price
steadily increased until it reached a peak of T. 327 per picul in 1785,
after which it steadily declined.”

From the point of view of cost and sales value, but not from the
standpoint of profit, chinaware and sago occupied third place among the
Company’s exports from Canton. Chinaware, which was exported as
flooring for tea, was packed in sago to prevent breakage. For the ten-
year period, 1775 to 1785, the average annual value of chinaware and
sago exported was T. 31,273, and, as the exportation of teas increased,
chinaware showed a temporary increase, the average for the ten years
from 1785 to 1795 being T.54,395. Chinaware, however, was very
bulky and in proportion to value exceedingly expensive to carry. Fur-
thermore, the demand for Oriental porcelain was on the decline, be-

® Shih Liag) Hsiin K’an, Ch. 18, memorial dated Ch'ien Lung 24-6-25; Milburn,
op. cit, 11, 251,

“ Morse, Chronicle, V, 150, 156, 165, 176, 186; IOCCD, tables of the Company's
trade in the annual volumes indicated in Appendix I.

® Appendix VI.

® Milburn, op. ctt., II, 251, 254-56.

“ IOCCD, LXXXI, tables of prices.
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cause it was imitated by European and English manufactures and the
British government loaded it with ever-increasing duties, amounting
to 47%: per cent in 1787 and to 109)4 per cent after 1799. As a conse-
quence of these factors, it sold at an ever-increasing loss.® In view of
this, the Court of Directors sent out orders to decrease the quantity of
chinaware purchased, and on August 4, 1791, sent out positive orders
that after that season no more was to be sent on the Company’s
account.” The last sago was exported in 1785-86, and the last shipment
of chinaware went home in the spring of 1792. Because of the de-
creased demand, the Company then had stocks on hand which were
not entirely sold out until 1798.

Although nankeens, a brownish-yellow cotton cloth, manufactured
near Nanking, constituted less than 1 per cent of the Company’s ex-
ports, the trade showed a steady increase after 1775. From this date
until 1786 the ordinary exportation was 20,000 pieces per year, but in
that year it was doubled. In 1792 it was increased to 60,000 pieces, in
1796 to 119,000 pieces, and in 1799 to 200,000 pieces. This increased
exportation was caused in part by the tariff policy of the British gov-
ernment, Prior to 1787, the duty amounted to nearly 50 per cent, but
after that date it amounted to only 18 per cent, with a 10 per cent
drawback upon re-exportation.” Roughly one third of the nankeens
imported into England were re-exported.” Before 1789, the nankeens
exported by the Company were 14 covids (5% yds.) long by
1 covid (14.1 inches) wide. They were packed in bales of 100 pieces
which averaged about a picul in weight, and by 1786 the price per bale
had risen from T. 38 in 1775 to T.48. In 1789 the Company began the
exportation of nankeens 18 covids (7 yds.) long by 1 covid wide, which
cost T. 62 per bale of 100 pieces, and in 1790 it added a new variety,
12 covids (424 yds.) by 1 covid, which cost T. 40 per bale.”

Before attention is turned to the Private, Country, and Foreign
trade, a final summary of the Company’s export trade will be desirable.
The average annual prime cost value from 1775 to 1785 was
T. 1,332,426, and the average profit was £333,316, or 29 per cent per
annum. During the next ten years the average prime cost value was

® Wissett, Compendium, 11, section on duties.

® CMD, XII, Court to Select Committee, Aug. 4, 1791.

“TOCCD, Company’s contracts for nankeens scattered throughout the vol-
umes from 1775-1795; Wissett, Compendium, 11, section on duties.

" PP, Sessional Reports, Papers, etc., 1812-13, VIII, No. 191, p. 479; Mac-
gregor Commercial Statistics, IV, 420, and V, 33.

"TOCCD, XCV, XCVII, XCVIX, contracts for nankeens.
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T. 4,095,813, an increase of 207 per cent over the previous ten years.
Average annual profits amounted to £488,802, or 21 per cent." This
shows clearly that the increase in the China trade, although leading to
a greater gross profit, was attained only at a decrease in the rate of
profit. This fact is accounted for by the rise in prices at Canton result-
ing from increased demand and by close government regulation at
home, which kept the sales price down.

" Appendices VI, VII.



CHAPTER IV

PRIVATE, COUNTRY, AND FOREIGN TRADE AND THE
STRUGGLE FOR CONTROL OF THE CHINA TRADE
(1764-1800)

1. Private Trade at Canton (1764-1800).

Although Private trade constituted only about 15 per cent of the
total British trade at Canton during the period, it was of considerable
importance for several reasons. First of all, the Private traders dealt
in all manner of minor articles for which there was a definite demand at
Canton and with which the Company did not wish to be concerned.
In the second place, through the Private trade the Company found a
cheap although sometimes troublesome way of reimbursing and en-
couraging the commanders and officers of its ships. In the third place,
the Private trade, through its surplus of imports over exports, helped
to finance the Company’s trade. Finally, it was the only means by which
the average British citizen, without shares in the Company’s stock,
could participate in the China trade.

Although the Private trade showed a considerable increase during
the period, as can be seen from Figure 5, it tended to fluctuate a great
deal and showed an actual as well as a relative decline between 1772
and 1783. The average annual value of the trade (imports and ex-
ports) for the six years 1764-1770 was T.748,277; for the fifteeen
years 1770-1785, it declined to T. 570,920 and then rose to an average
of T. 1,127,810 for the last fifteen years of the period. If the average
for the years 1764 to 1767 and 1796 to 1799 be taken as bases of com-
parison, the total trade showed an increase of 71 per cent. Imports
showed an increase of 99 per cent for the same years and exports an
increase of only 47 per cent. The most striking thing about the Private
trade, however, was its relative decline when compared with the Com-
pany and Country trade. It constituted 26 per cent of the total British
trade in 1764-65 but dropped to 7 per cent in 1774-75, rose to 14 per
cent in 1780-81, and then fell off to 8 per cent in 1795-96.

The decline during the middle part of the period corresponds to the
years in which the Company’s trade was in an unhealthy condition, and
the number of ships sent by the Company, which really determined the
size of the Private trade, was small. The relative decline over the

' Appendix XI.
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whole period, although due in part to a decline in the demand in Eng-
land for articles carried in the Private trade and to the exceptional
growth of the Country trade in raw cotton and opium, must be attrib-
uted fundamentally to the increase in the size of ships used by the
Company. In 1764 the Company loaded fourteen ships of an average
size of 499 tons, and in 1799 it loaded fifteen ships of an average size
of 1200 tons.” The increase in the tonnage capacity of the Company's
ships decreased the number necessary to carry its ever-increasing trade
and so automatically decreased the relative importance of the Private
trade. The greater increase in Private trade imports than in exports
during the period is largely accounted for by the growth of the gin-
seng and fur trade after 1785.

The variety of articles imported in Private trade was almost un-
limited. Many of them never found their way into the Chinese customs
house books, and so no record of them is preserved. In 1811 we have
a list of fifty-six articles exported from England to China in Private
trade. Of these, forty-five articles valued at £42,387 were British
produce, and eleven articles valued at £17,851 were European and
American produce. Raw cotton, furs, ginseng, dyes (blue and coch-
ineal), metals, woods, cloth cuttings, and pepper were the most impor-
tant articles imported during the period under discussion.' Articles
imported in Private trade came from England, North America, and
Asia. In 1785-86 the value and the distribution were as follows: Brit-
ish produce T. 86,564 (Prussian blue T. 24,000, lead T. 16,328, cloth
cuttings T. 18,538, window glass T.23,840, flints T.4,000), North
American produce T. 144,556 (ginseng T.92,620, fine fur T. 1,400,
rabbit skins T. 37,936, cochineal T.12,600), and Asiatic produce
T. 195,623 (cotton T.74,012, tin T. 32,976, woods T. 55,250, pepper
T. 4,210, sharks’ fins T.6,800, putchuck T.4,131, elephants’ teeth
T. 2,967, miscellaneous T. 15,277), making a total of T. 426,725.*

The average of the figures for the seasons 1775-76, 1785-86, and
1795-96 shows that roughly 26 per cent of the goods imported came
from England, 31 per cent from North America, and 43 per cent from

*Morse, Chronicle, V, and II, tables of shipping in the back.

* Macgregor, op. cit., V, 35-38; IOCCD, LXXXVII, tables of trade, for the
articles imported in a typical year. .

* Appendix XI and IOCCD, LXXXIII, tables of trade. Only the quantities
of articles imported in the Company's ships in Private trade are given in the
Canton Diaries. The value is obtained by multiplying the quantity of each
article by the Canton current price which is given in the same volume. All
values for the Private and Country trade have been obtained by this method.
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Asia. Over the whole period, Private import trade showed an increase
of 99 per cent, but this increase was not distributed equally among the
three sources of produce. In 1775-76 the percentages were as follows:
English 36, North American 23, Asiatic 41. From this it appears that
the importation of English produce suffered relatively, the proportion
of Asiatic produce increased slightly, and North American produce
increased a great deal.

The relatively greater expansion of the trade in North American
produce was caused by the introduction of much greater quantities of
ginseng and by the development of an extensive trade in fine furs after
1785. Rabbit skins had been a staple article of Private trade from the
beginning, and in 1785 a beginning was made in the fine fur trade with
350 beaver skins. This trade grew rapidly and consisted mainly of
beaver, fox, and otter skins brought from Canada to England and then
shipped to China. From 1792 onward seal skins were also brought, and
occasionally marten and sea-otter skins were imported. The peak year
was reached in 1793-94, when 108,471 fine furs were imported and
311,100 rabbit skins. Cochineal was a West Indian insect from which
was made a dye used in the preparation of silk goods.*

Besides the articles already mentioned as coming from England,
bees’-wax, watches, clocks, knives, cutlery of various sorts, and glass-
ware such as looking glasses, plate glass, and wine glasses, were
brought. Prussian blue was a blue dye, and smaltz was an oxide of
cobalt melted with silex and potash and was used for painting on por-
celain. It is certain that camlets were smuggled in Private trade, but
no satisfactory figures on the subject are obtainable. It also seems
certain that small quantities of silver were regularly brought from
England ; and numerous miscellaneous articles—such as copper, cotton
cloth, and iron and steel—were tried from time to time.’

Cotton from Bombay, tin from Banka, and woods from Bombay
and Madras (sandalwood, redwood, and blackwood or ebony) were
the most important articles of import from Asia, cotton easily being
the most important article brought in Private trade. A description of
articles imported from Asia may be found in Milburn’s Oriental Com-
merce (11, 216, 497-545). Besides those already mentioned, rattans,
betel-nut, olibanum and other gums, stick-lac, sago, béche de mer, cutch,
fish maws, snuff, spices, rose maloes, cornelians or agates, and various

*TOCCD, LVIII, LXXXITI, CIV, CVII, tables of imports in the Company’s

ships; Morse, Chronicle, V, 155, and IT, 185, 193, 256.
® Milburn, Oriental Commerce, 11, 479.
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types of Indian cotton piece-goods, such as Madras long cloths and
handkerchiefs, and Bengal palampores and handkerchiefs, were im-
ported at various times in Private trade.

The value of exports in Private trade never equalled the value of
merchandise imported. The main features and general character of the
export trade may be judged from the figures for the season 1785-1786.
During this season the total value of exports was T. 315,510, divided
as follows: tea T.96,000, nankeens T. 30,750, woven silks T. 29,800,
chinaware T. 27,340, rhubarb T. 20,130, cassia and buds T.76,288,
sugar and candy T. 9,352, sago T. 1,040, and miscellaneous T. 24,810.
There are figures from the season 1793-94 onwards for the value
of Private trade goods sold at the Company’s sales in Loondon. During
this season the value of Private trade was £258981, in 1794-95
£209,715, in 1797-98 £319,236, and in 1800-01 £268,701. During
the season 1795-96, 1,344,794 lbs. of tea were sold for £314,139, the
value of nankeens sold was £16,281, chinaware £11,024, and miscel-
laneous items £9,663—making a total of £351,107.°

As in the Company’s trade, tea was the most important article
exported, though its relative importance steadily increased throughout
the period. Only the more expensive teas, souchong (black) and hyson
(green), were exported in Private trade. At the beginning of the
period chinaware was as important as tea, if not more so, but its
exportation gradually declined for reasons already given in the discus-
sion of the Company’s trade. The export of silk piece-goods showed a
tendency to decline throughout the period, whereas the export of nan-
keens steadily increased until 1790, after which it underwent a tempor-
ary eclipse. The exportation of rhubarb increased, and the trade in
sugar and sugar candy, most of which went to India, was a steadily
expanding one. The export of cassia and cassia buds increased steadily
until 1786-87 and then underwent a sudden decline. Besides the above-
mentioned articles, the following were exported in varying quantities
during the period: turmeric, gamboge, galangal, rattans, mother-of-
pearl ware, lacquered ware, quicksilver, fans, whanghees, soy, mats,
borax, and silk thread.’

* Appendix XI, and IOCCD, LXXXIII, as in note 4 of this chapter.

* PP, Sessional Reports, Papers, etc., 1812, VI, No. 148, pp. 80-81, 102; Mil-
burn, Oriental Commerce, 11, 480; Macgregor, Commercial Statistics, IV, 412-13,
and V, 33-34, 79-81; Wissett, Compendium, 11, section on tea.

*IOCCD, tables of exports in the Company’s ships, scattered throughout the
volumes from 1775 to 1790.
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Figure 5.
Private and Country Trade at Canton (1770-1800)*.
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* Based on Appendices XI, XII.

2. Country Trade at Canton (1764-1800).

In 1764-65 the Country trade contributed 12 per cent of the total
British trade at Canton; in 1775-76 it amounted to 40 per cent ; in 1785-
86 it receded to 30 per cent; and in 1795-96 its proportion was 33 per
cent. Throughout the period it contributed about 30 per cent of the
total British trade. It was primarily an import trade in contrast to the
Company’s, which was primarily an export trade. In 1764-65 imports
in the Country trade exceeded exports by 16 per cent, and this disparity
continued to grow throughout the period, amounting in 1775-76 to 18
per cent, in 1785-86 to 104 per cent, and in 1795-96 to 148 per cent.
In 1775-76 the Country trade contributed nearly 50 per cent of all
British imports and but 30 per cent of the exports; in 1795-96 it pro-
vided 48 per cent of the imports and 18 per cent of the exports.”

As can be seen from Figure 5, the Country import trade remained
around T. 250,000 until 1773-74, when it rose to T.632,000. This new

* Appendix XII.
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high level was generally maintained until 1782-83, when for three
years the average fell below T.400,000. It jumped to T. 1,284,873 in
1785-86 and continued to rise until it reached T. 3,372,207 in 1797-98,
the high-water mark for the period. Its general character may be
judged from the average value of articles imported during the three
seasons 1775-76, 1785-86, and 1795-96. The average annual value of
the trade for these three seasons was T. 1,384,653, divided as follows:
cotton T. 708,038, opium T.213,398, tin T.95,939, pepper T. 60,574,
camphor T. 50,666, sharks’ fins T. 31,655, woods T. 29,299, putchuck
T. 26,490, elephants’ teeth T. 12,486, birds’ nests T.5,266, olibanum
T. 4,339, fish maws T.2,677, rattans T. 1,584, and miscellaneous
T. 149,909."

As can be seen from Appendix XII, raw cotton (from Bombay)
was by far the most important article imported in the Country trade.
During the period from 1775 to 1800 it constituted at least one-half of
the total merchandise imported in the Country trade, although in 1775-
76 it was exceeded in importance by tin from the island of Banka.
Throughout the period from 1775 to 1800 tin actually occupied third
place among the Country imports. Figures for opium are practically
unobtainable, but the best estimates indicate that it occupied second
place among the imports and contributed perhaps 15 per cent of the
total for the period. Pepper occupied fourth place among the imports,
followed in order by camphor from Sumatra and Borneo, woods (main-
ly sandalwood, with small quantities of blackwood, redwood, and sapan
wood) from Bombay and Madras, and sharks’ fins and putchuck from
Bombay. The cotton trade was a rapidly expanding one, and the trade
in opium, woods, sharks’ fins, olibanum, rattans, and elephants’ teeth
showed a steady growth. Tin, pepper, putchuck, fish maws, and cam-
phor showed no marked increase.”

During this period the greater percentage of the Country trade was
between Bombay and Canton. Generally speaking, six out of every ten
Country ships were from Bombay, whereas only two came from Mad-
ras and two from Bengal. The produce which was brought in Country
trade came from five general regions. Arabia and the Persian Gulf
contributed cornelians (agates), cow bezoar, cutch, olibanum, myrrh,

Y10CCD, LVIII, LXXXIII, CXV, tables of Country trade and tables of the
current price at Canton. The values are obtained by multiplying the quantity
imported by the current price.

* Appendix XII and IOCCD, tables of Country trade for the seasons from
1775 to 1800.
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putchuck, rose maloes, and sharks’ fins. Most of these articles were
brought to China by the Parsee merchants from Bombay, and to a
lesser extent they came via Madras. Bombay, Surat, and the Malabar
coast contributed cotton, cotton piece-goods, sandalwood, false amber,
cow bezoar, elephants’ teeth (ivory), gogul,olibanum, pearls,and sharks’
fins. From Madras and the Coromandel coast came sandalwood, red-
wood, blackwood (Ceylon), cotton piece-goods, elephants’ teeth, pearls,
sharks’ fins, pepper, mace, and false amber.

Cotton piece-goods, opium, rice, elephants’ teeth, and stick lac came
from Bengal; and a great assortment of articles were brought from
the East Indian Islands and the Malay Archipelago by ships from
Bengal, Madras, and Bombay. Birds’ nests, camphor, dragons’ blood,
bengamin, rattans, sago, betel-nut, and pepper came from Java, Su-
matra, and Borneo. Spices came from the Moluccas and Banda Islands,
and amber, bees’-wax, béche de mer, coral, fish maws, mother-of-pearl,
and tortoise shell were brought from the various islands and the Archi-
pelago. Tin came from the Island of Banka and elephants’ teeth from
Borneo and Siam. Practically all the cotton came from Bombay or
Surat, but small quantities came from Madras after being transshipped.
None came from Bengal at this time. Opium was brought from Bengal,
Goa, and Daman by the Portuguese and from Bengal by Country
traders, and small quantities may have been smuggled from the Mala-
bar coast by the Parsee.”

In return for these articles the Canton market offered a great variety
of things which the Indian Presidencies wanted, but never in sufficient
quantities to make the trade balance. The difference would have been
made up in bullion had not the Company needed the favorable Indian
balance to finance its tea trade. The tea appetite of the English for
many years saved China from the consequences of this balance of trade
in favor of India. In fact, this insatiable desire for tea really created
the favorable Indian balance, for it is doubtful that the trade in raw
cotton, which actually caused the scales to swing in favor of India,
would ever have expanded to such proportions had the Company not
needed the residue which it left at Canton.

The curve of the export trade roughly followed that of the import
trade, although its rate of increase was much slower. The relative value
of the various articles sent by China to India may be shown by averag-

".Milburn, op. cit., 11, 497-545; Morrison’s Commercial Guide (1844), pp. 131-
44 gives a description of the articles mentioned above.
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ing the trade for the three seasons 1775-76, 1785-86, and 1795-96. The
average annual value of the export trade during these years was
T.673,158, divided as follows: raw silk T.133,247, tutenague
T. 100,729, sugar T'. 90,401, sugar candy T. 87,352, tea T. 77,025, woven
silks T. 63,943, chinaware T.29,317, camphor T.26,217, quicksilver
T. 15,127, nankeens T'. 14,293, alum T. 6,945, cassia and buds T. 6,220,
China root T.870, and miscellaneous T.21,495.* Sugar and sugar
candy together were the most important exports, constituting roughly
26 per cent of the total. Next in succession followed raw silk and
tutenague, which throughout the period contributed roughly 20 per cent
each. Tea made a poor fourth with 12 per cent, and woven silks
amounted to about 10 per cent. Camphor and chinaware each con-
tributed about 4 per cent, and quicksilver, nankeens, alum, and cassia
lagged behind with 1 to 2 per cent each.

Besides the articles mentioned above, small quantities of dammar,
turmeric, beads, gamboge, galangal, rhubarb, mother-of-pearl ware,
lacquered ware, cochineal, hams, writing paper, mats, woods, spices,
umbrellas, fireworks, glue, silk stockings, drugs and sweetmeats were
from time to time exported. The annually exported quantity of each of
the articles mentioned above tended to fluctuate a good deal, but over
the period all of them, with the exceptions of tea and raw silk, showed a
slow but steady increase. Tea and raw silk remained about the same
throughout the period.” Such articles as tea, chinaware, and lacquered
ware were exported primarily for the use of Europeans in India, but
it seems probable that some proportion of the raw silk, nankeens, cassia,
and drugs exported ultimately went to England via India. Tutenague,
sugar, sugar candy, alum, Chinese camphor, quicksilver, and China root
were apparently exported primarily for Indian consumption. What
proportions of these exports went to the various Indian Presidencies
is impossible to say, for many of the ships from Bombay and Madras
returned via Bengal and Madras.

The number of London and Indian firms and individuals engaged
in the Country trade at this time was large. From the lists of bills
issued by the supercargoes and preserved in the Canton Diaries, it is
possible to pick out and trace the evolution of some of the leading firms.
Two early firms of importance were those of Crichton and Smith and
Huttonand Gordon,both of whom began business in the late 1760’s. Both

“TOCCD, as in note 11 of this chapter.
* Ibid., tables of the Country trade in the volumes from 1775 to 1800; Mil-
burn, op. cit, I, 45, 147, 482, 497-545.
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firms loaned money extensively to Chinese merchants, lost heavily as
a result of the Hongist’s bankruptcies of 1779, and shortly afterwards
ceased to do business in China. Another early firm was Messrs. Rum-
bold, Charlton and Raikes, which appeared in 1775. By 1787 we find
it under the name of William and Thomas Raikes and Salomons, and
during 1791 and 1792, the last years in which it appeared, the name
was William and Thomas Raikes and Samuel Ibbetson. Another
prominent firm began in 1778 as John Hunter, Thomas Parry and
James King and in 1784 included Hunter, Larkins, Vansittart, and
Law. By 1787 Larkins had dropped out, but the firm of Hunter,
Vansittart and Law (all of London) continued until 1791. Hunter’s
name was also linked with William Hornby’s in 1787 and 1788, but in
1796 he was a member of Hunter and Tasker. His name also appeared
alone in 1781, 1789, 1790, 1791, 1793, 1794, and 1795.

The firm of Samuel Smith and Sons appeared in 1778 and continued
for several years, but in 1791, 1792, and 1793 it became Smith and
Atkinson and then returned to the original name. The firm of Lambert
and Ross first appeared in 1778 under the name of Ross, Mill and
Ross. In 1788 the name of Anthony Lambert appeared, and thence-
forward the firm of Lambert and Ross appeared regularly until after
1796. In 1778 also appeared Messrs. Hoares and Co. under Bland,
Barnet, Hoares and Co. By 1781 Bland and Barnet had dropped out,
but the firm continued to do business until 1797. The name of John
Forbes appeared in 1781 alone and in conjunction with Libbald, Lock-
yer and Forbes. Forbes continued to trade alone until 1795, when the
firm of Forbes, Smith (James) and Co. of Bombay was formed. It
was replaced in 1804 by Forbes and Co.

The names of William Fairlie and John Fergusson appeared indi-
vidually between 1781 and 1790, but in 1788 and 1790 the firm of
Fairlie, Fergusson and Co. of Calcutta, did business at Canton. Be-
tween 1784 and 1788 the firm of Gildart and Reid (John Reid, Imperial
Consul) did business at Canton. In 1789 and 1790 the names of
Andrew and John Reid appeared and in 1793 the name of David Reid
(as Danish Consul). Between 1792 and 1795 Reid and Fairlie united
to form Fairlie, Reid and Co., which was replaced from 1796 onward

by Fairlie, Gilmore and Co. Reid later united with Beale to form Beale
and Reid.

The year 1787 saw the beginning of several firms. Daniel Beale, an
unlicensed Country trader and former purser on one of the Company’s
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ships, arrived at Canton as Prussian Consul and continued to reside
there for some years. During 1787, 1788, and 1789 he and John Henry
Cox, also an unlicensed trader resident at Macao, did business separ-
ately, but in 1790 and 1791 they united in the firm of Cox and Beale.”
After that, Beale did business alone and with his brother Thomas until
after the formation of Reid and Beale of Calcutta in 1801. In 1804
this gave place to Beale and Magnac, which continued for some years.

Colvin, Bazett and Co. began in 1787 as Bayne and Colvin. Bazett
was added in 1789, whereas Bayne dropped out, leaving Colvin and
Bazett of Calcutta to do a regular business thereafter. Horsley and
Palmer appeared in 1788, became Hall and Palmer the next year, and
operated as Willam Palmer in 1790 and 1791. In 1802 it became
Palmer and Co. of Calcutta. In 1793 Alexander Bruce, a former super-
cargo, began doing business at Canton, and from 1796 onward Bruce,
Fawcett and Co. of Bombay and London did regular business at Can-
ton. Ewan Law of London did business with various firms after 1784,
but in 1798 the firm of Law, Bruce and Co. of Token House Yard,
London, was formed.

The following is a list of other important firms which did business
at Canton, together with the dates between which they carried on their
most extensive trading, as shown in the list of bills.

William and Thomas Lushington (1775-1806).

Messrs. Drummond and Co. (1778-94).

Capt. James Farquaharson (1778-1804).

Capt. Joseph Cotton (1778-94), sometimes Tatnell & Cotton.
Alexander and John Duncan (1778-96), alone and with others.
Capt. William Mackintosh (1784-93).

William Paxton and Co. (1784-89).

Joseph Barretto and Co. (1787-----), Calcutta and Macao.

NN AR

' John Reid, a Scotchman, was at Canton in 1783 and 1784 as Imperial Consul
(Morse, Chronicle, 11, 85; Shaw’s Journal, p. 171), and from 1793 onward David
Reid resided at Canton as Danish Consul (Morse, Chronicle, 11, 206, 285, 311,
322). The Reids were probably brothers who had business connections in Bengal,
and after 1792 they were represented in China by David, who worked in con-
junction first with William Fairlie of Calcutta, and then with Thomas and Daniel
Beale of Calcutta and Canton. For an account of the activities of Daniel Beale
and John Henry Cox, see Morse, Chronicle, 11, 85, 142, 150, 175, 187, 206, 285.
In 1796 Thomas Beale, brother of Daniel, arrived at Canton as secretary to
the Prussian Consul, and in 1798 he succeeded his brother as Prussian Consul.
In 1802 Charles Magnac arrived as Prussian Vice-Consul, and soon the firm of
Beale and Magnac was formed. It later became Magnac and Co. and finally
evolved into Jardine, Matheson and Co., which is still in existence (Morse
Chronicle, 11, 285, 311, 390).
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9. Edmund Boehm and Co. (1787-93).

10. John Call (M.P.) (1787-94), New Bond St., London.
11. Cockerell and Trail (1787-1804).

12. Joseph Price and Co. (1787-90).

13. David Scott and Co. (1787----- ), Calcutta.

14. Robert and William Dent (1787-96).

15. Messrs. Goslings, Bankers (1788-93), London.

16. Lance and Fitzhugh (1788-96), London. Former supercargoes.
17. William Marsden (1788-95).

18. John Duval and Sons (1789-1801).

19. Porcher and Redhead (1789-----).

20. Dady Nasserwanjee (1792-98), Bombay.

21. Alexander Adamson (1793-1805).

3. How British Trade at Canton was Financed.

As already noted, the Country and the Private trade were more than
self-sufficient ; that is, they imported goods to a greater value than they
exported and so there was no problem of finding money to pay for
their purchases. With the Company’s trade the situation was entirely
different. During the twenty years between 1775 and 1795 the total
sales value of goods and bullion imported into China by the Company
was T. 31,597,844. During the same period the total invoice value of
goods and stores exported was T.56,516,560. The question at once
arises as to where the supercargoes obtained the difference,
T. 24,918,716, between the value of imports and exports. A glance at
the balance in favor of the Country and Private trade will reveal the
answer. Over the same period the Country trade showed a favorable
balance of T'. 13,644,563 and the Private trade a favorable balance of
T. 1,762,730, a total of T.15,407,293. In addition, the Country trade
is known to have imported $1,718 920 in silver and the Private trade
$466,196, and considerable unrecorded amounts were almost certainly
sent.”

From this it is obvious that the residue of the Country and Private
trade was used by the Company to finance its trade. The only question
remaining to be answered is: How did the Company make this residue
available for its use? The methods employed have already been indi-
cated to a certain extent, and Doctor H. B. Morse has so thoroughly
explained them in an article in The Journal of the Royal Asiatic

" Appendices IV, VI, IX, XI, XII.
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Society" that a detailed discussion upon the subject would be idle.
Only a brief statement of the methods will therefore be given, together
with an indication of the relative importance and success of each.

Of the total funds needed to finance the Company's export trade
and to pay running expenses at Canton for the years from 1775 to 1795,
goods imported provided T. 20,011,850, over 34 per cent, and bullion
provided T. 11,585,994, or nearly 20 per cent. All the bullion imported
from England came in the form of Spanish dollars, and their availability
in London depended upon the continuation of peace in Europe. Conse-
quently, between 1775 and 1783, when England was at war, little silver
was imported, and practically all that was brought to Canton on the
Company’s account came from India in the form of Spanish dollars,
gold mohurs, pagodas, other Indian coins, and gold dust. India and
Benkulen sent T. 588,108, or slightly over 5 per cent of the total bul-
lion imported. Between 1786-87 and 1792-93, when peace prevailed in
Europe, large quantities of Spanish dollars came from England. They
were invoiced at from 5/11% per ounce to 5/214 per ounce. Altogether
T'. 10,997,886, or 95 per cent of the total bullion, came from England.”

Bills of Exchange on the Court of Directors in London were the
most important source from which funds were secured. The Com-
pany obtained T. 22,627,742, or nearly 36 per cent of its funds from
this source. For the most part the bills were issued in favor of Indian
and London merchants in return for cash paid into the Company’s
treasury at Canton. Most of them were payable at 365 days sight, and
issued at an exchange ranging between 5/- and 5/6 per Spanish dollar.
Some were issued at 730 days sight at exchanges ranging between 5/3
and 5/7. Bills issued in favor of London firms went directly to London
to be redeemed, but those in favor of Indian merchants went to India,
where they were sold to persons wishing to transfer money to England
and so were eventually presented in London for payment.”

Most of the cash paid into the Company’s treasury in return for
these bills came from the sale of goods brought in the Country trade.
However, in times of emergency, especially during the early years of
the period, this was insufficient, and the Indian Presidencies adopted
other means of sending cash to Canton. For example, in 1776 the

®“The Provision of Funds for the East India Company's Trade at Canton
during the Eighteenth Century,” April, 1922, pp. 227-35.

** Appendix IX.

* Appendix X and the lists of bills given in the Canton Diaries from 1775 to
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Governor-General’s Council at Fort William invited subscriptions to a
fund, the subscribers to be paid by bills on London. Through this
method 966,66624 arcot rupees (420,520 dollars) were received at
Calcutta and sent to Canton in a King’s frigate.” In 1779 the Councils
of Bombay and Fort St. George (Madras) adopted a modified form of
this subscription plan and invited private merchants to send silver to
Canton freight-free and at the Company’s risk to be paid into the
Canton treasury in return for bills on London.”

The freight-free privilege was another means employed to get
money into the Company’s treasury. By this method the Indian Presi-
dencies allowed Country merchants to send goods to Canton upon the
Company’s ships freight-free, and, in return for this favor, they were
to pay the proceeds into the Company’s treasury and receive bills on
London.*

Another means by which bills were made to realize purchasing value
at Canton without the actual transfer of money was transfers in the

treasury. This method was a modified form of barter and arose

at a time when the want of Specie rendered it an object of reciprocal conveni-
ence to the Company, the Merchant, & the Remitter, & was an order from the
[Chinese] Merchant to whom the Company was indebted to pay the amount of
the Balance owing or any part thereof to an Individual who [had] at the same
time a demand on the Merchant, which payment it [was] always understood
[was] to be made by a Bill of Exchange on the Hon'ble Court of Directors.”

The issue of tranfers in the treasury developed extensively after 1786
in consequence of the prohibition upon the issue of bills on Bengal by
the Governor-General.

Although bills on the Indian Presidencies had been used prior to
1775, the year 1786 saw the only issue during the period under con-
sideration (1775-1795), when bills amounting to nearly 7 lacs of
rupees, T. 244,995, were issued at an exchange of $39 = 100 current
rupees. Lord Cornwallis reprimanded the supercargoes for this and
prohibited further issue in the future® This one issue amounted to
nearly 1 per cent of the total funds received during the period.

Engagements of the Indian Presidencies was the next most impor-
tant source of funds, realizing during the period T. 3,011,323, or 515

> Morse, Chronicle, 11, 7.

2 Ibid, 11, 36-37, 40-42.

2 Ibid., 11, 9.

*Ibid., 11, 143-44.

®Ibid., 11, 121, 142; Appendix X.
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per cent of the total. These engagements assumed various forms, but
in general they consisted of advances of money from the Indian gov-
ernments to Country merchants, who bought goods with them. The
goods were shipped to Canton, and the proceeds, to the amount origi-
nally advanced, were paid into the Canton treasury. In Calcutta the
government often delivered optum to Country merchants to be sent to
China, the proceeds from which, to the value of the goods originally
delivered, were to be paid into the Company’s treasury at Canton."

Certificates, which really amounted to bills upon the Court of
Directors, issued to commanders and officers in return for cash paid
into the Company’s treasury were another important source of funds.
During the period a total of T. 1,658,803, or 3 per cent of the total
receipts, was obtained through this medium. The certificates were made
payable half at 90 days’ and half at 365 days’ sight, and were issued
at the exchange of the season. The use of other sources of remittance
to England by Private traders was virtually forbidden, and by this
means the Company obtained practically all of the residue of the Private
trade.”

Freight paid by Country traders for goods shipped from India to
China on the Company’s ships provided T.221,956, or about 14 per
cent of the funds.

Bonds realized T. 170,926, or slightly less than !4 per cent. The
bonds were issued at various times to Portuguese, Spanish, and Country
traders at Canton and to the supercargoes. The rates of interest were
generally very high, amounting in 1795 to 10 per cent.”

It is also of interest to know by whom the money received in ex-
change for bills was paid into the Company’s treasury. Since the Com-
pany forbade the residence of “private English” at Canton, the Country
trade had to be transacted through supercargoes sent with the ships or
by agents in Canton. Private English residents at Canton under cover
of a foreign commission and Portuguese at Macao sometimes acted as
agents, but most of this business was done by the junior supercargoes
of the Company. The money received in return for bills was thus paid
in by the Company’s supercargoes, by commanders of Company ships
under special license, by supercargoes and captains of Country ships,
by Portuguese and other foreign mechants, and by “private English.”

» Appendix X ; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 31, 121.
* Appendix X.
® Appendix X : Morse, Chronicle, 11, 32, 266.
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From the list of bills issued it is possible to obtain the names of the
persons who paid in the money.

During the whole period the Company’s supercargoes probably paid
in a greater percentage of the money than did any other group. In 1775
they paid.in T. 107,515, commanders of ships T. 8,637, and Country
traders T. 322,528. In 1781-82 the supercargoes paid in but $331,366
out of a total of $1,432,472, but as the period advanced they paid in
greater percentages.” From 1775 to 1783 W. H. Pigou was the most
important of the supercargoes, and in 1784 and 1789 Lance and Fitz-
hugh were most important. Between 1787 and 1792 the agencies of
Hall and Peach and of Parkin and Smith did practically all the business
for the supercargoes. In 1791 the Court sent out orders that a House
of Trade, to consist of two or three junior supercargoes, was to be
formed to conduct the commission business, the profits to be divided
among the supercargoes. This agency was formed in 1792 as Drum-
mond and Sparkes and continued to do all the business for the super-
cargoes until 1796.%

Among the most important of the commanders who paid in money
were Capt. Walter Watson (1778-84), Capt. William Mackintosh
(1784-93), Capt. John William Wood (1787-91), and Capt. Lestock
Wilson (1793-96). Several prominent “private English” who resided
at Canton and Macao in defiance of the Court’s orders paid money into
the Company’s treasury. George Smith, of Guildford, Surrey, and
Madras, resided in China continuously from 1772 until the spring of
1782. He was finally forced to return to England in 1782, and in 1787
we find him in England requesting Colonel Cathcart to collect the debts
which certain Chinese merchants owed him. Another George Smith,
of Kingston, Surrey, and Bombay and Calcutta, first appeared in China
during the year 1759. He remained there more or less continuously until
1765,when he returned to England. He did not go back to China for
nineteen years, when he appeared again as supercargo of the Lady
Hughes in the seasons 1784-85 and 1786-87. This latter George Smith

was in Calcutta on September 10, 1787, when his namesake was in
England.™

® Morse, Chronicle, 11, 5, 26; I0CCD, LXXIV, 58-70.

* Morse, Chronicle, 11, 196-97, 206, 285.

" For Geo. Smith of Guildford. Surrey, ibid., V, 148, 162, 166, 172, 179, 191
and II, 4, 11, 33, 46, 54, 66-67. For Geo. Smith of Kingston, Surrey, Morse,
Chronicle, V, 72, 102, 108, 115 and II, 99-100: 10, Home Miscellaneous,
CCCCXXXIV, 11-12 and IOC, XIX, Geo. Smith to Dundas, Canton, Nov. 26
and Dec. 12, 1786, and Calcutta, Sept. 10, 1787.



The Crucial Years of Early Anglo-Chinese Relations 185

1936

John Henry Cox, of Bengal, who arrived at Macao in 1781, con-
tinued to reside in China until the spring of 1788, when he was forced
to leave. Between 1778 and 1787 he paid in considerable sums, and in
1784 he was in partnership with Hugh Parkin, a supercargo. In 1787
Daniel Beale, a former purser on one of the Company’s ships, arrived
and took up his residence under cover of a commission as Prussian
Consul. He resided at Canton until 1797 and regularly paid in large
sums. Between 1789 and 1792 the firm of Cox and Beale carried on
business at Canton, Cox presumably coming from India each season as
a Country trader.”

From 1792 onwards, Manoel de Souza, a Portuguese resident at
Macao, paid in considerable sums, and two Parsee named Edeljee Bo-
manjee (1787-98) and Dady Nasserwanjee (1788-94) appeared prom-
inently. The names of numerous Country traders appeared, and the fol-
lowing is a list of the most prominent together with the dates between
which they paid in money: Thomas Dickinson (1778-93), John Reid
(1781-92), John Smith (1787-93), Duncan, Parker and Smith (1788-
95), Bruce, Simpson and Watson (1789-95), Thomas Bruce (1792-95),
John Elmore (1791-92), and Robert Hamilton (1792-97).

From the data at hand it is possible to draw up a balance sheet of
the Company’s transactions at Canton during the twenty years from

1775 to 1795:®

Receipts Tls. Payments Tls.
Carry over 1775 340,395 Goods 54,282,381
Goods—English 17,987,184 Charges 2,110,424

Indian 2,024,666 Stores 123,755
Bullion—England 10,997,886 Bonds and Bills 500,537
India 588,108 Advances to Ships 820,800
Bills—I.ondon 22,627,742 Msc. Expense 514,212
Bengal 244,995 —_—
Indian Engagements 3,011,323 Total 58,352,109
Certificates 1,658,803
Freight 221,956 Balance Remaining
Bonds 170,926 1795 1,521,875
59,873,984 59,873,984

* Morse, Chronicle, V, 85, 142, 150, 175, 187, 206, 285.

® Advances to ships while at Canton are estimated at the charter-party rate
of £200 per month. 304 ships were at Canton during the period, and their
average stay was about 18 weeks per ship, Miscellaneous expense has been added
to bring about the balance. Under it would come expenses attending the Macart-
ney Embassy, various unrecorded bills paid and stores sent to India, expenses
attending certain ships sent to India, advances to the supercargoes on their com-

missions, and minor unrecorded charges.
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4. Continental European and American Trade at Canton and the
Struggle for Control of the China Trade (1764-1800).

The British were not without strong competition in the China trade.
The French established a successful factory at Canton in 1698, one year
before the English, and the Dutch had indirect connections with Can-
ton through Batavia from early in the seventeenth century. Their first
direct ship from Holland to Canton arrived in 1729. Two years later,
in 1731, the first Danish ships came, and in the following year the first
Swedish ships arrived.* These five nations—England, France, Holland,
Denmark, and Sweden—competed for the mastery of the China trade
throughout the eighteenth century, and it was not until the very end of
the period that the British emerged victorious. Between 1779 and 1795
new rivals appeared in the Imperialists, the Prussians, the Italians, the
Americans, and the Spanish. Because of the importance of this foreign
competition in influencing the Company’s and the British government’s
policies toward China and the China trade, it seems advisable to devote
some space to an analysis of the trade of these various countries.
Figures 6 and 7 give a general view of foreign European and American
trade from 1764 to 1800 and will serve as a starting point for this
analysis.

The first important thing to notice is the steady growth of the
total Continental trade in merchandise from 1772 until 1783 (with the
exception of the war years, 1780 to 1783) and then its steady decline
to a record low level in 1795. Starting with a value of T. 2,640,150 in
1764-65, it remained at about this level until 1772-73, when it rose to
T. 3,006,310. It then increased steadily, except for the season 1775-76,
until T. 3,656,340 was reached in 1779, It then decreased to T'. 1,831,630
in 1781-82, because the European war interrupted the French and the
Dutch trade. The Danes and the Swedes profited by this interruption,
and persons sailing under Imperial, T'uscan, and Prussian flags seized
this opportunity of sending ships to China. In consequence, a peak
season of T. 5,454,744 was reached in 1783-84, when the cessation of
hostilities enabled eight French ships—as well as two Prussian, five
Imperial, three Swedish, and three Danish ships—to arrive. The arrival
of four Dutch and four Portuguese ships the next season caused the
average to remain high at T. 4,140,020. The season of 1785-86 was also
an exceptionally good one, there being thirteen Continental European
ships at Canton carrying a total trade of T. 4,294,450, but the following

% Morse, Chronicle, 1, 91-92, 193, 203, 212,
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season saw a decline, which continued steadily until the all-time low
mark T. 693,150 was reached in 1795-96. Despite the war years, when
French and Dutch ships were not at Canton, Continental European
trade between 1775 and 1785 averaged about T. 3,530,000 per year.
Between 1785 and 1795 it averaged about T. 2,560,000 per year.”

The second important thing to notice is the development of Spanish
trade (between Manila and Canton) and American trade after 1784.
One Spanish ship arrived in 1783 and four arrived in 1785, after which
ships came regularly, averaging two per year for the last ten years of
the period. The first American ship arrived in 1784, five came in 1786,
and after that they came in increasing numbers. The development of
the Spanish and American trade just about offset the decline of the
Continental trade, their combined yearly average from 1784 until 1795
being about one million taels.” Spanish trade, however, did not compete
to any extent with the British, and the American trade offered only in-
direct competition through its replacement of British teas in North
America and the West Indies and to a very limited extent at this time
upon the Continent.

A third important thing to consider was the influence which Euro-
pean wars had upon the Continental trade. Between 1779 and 1783
there were no French ships at Canton, because France had come to
the support of the Americans in their war for independence. For the
same reason there were no Dutch ships at Canton between 1781 and
1784. French and Dutch misfortune reacted favorably on the Danish
and Swedish trade without being of any real benefit to the British, and
it is certain that the revival of a Prussian trade and, to a considerable
extent, the beginning of Italian trade were but attempts of the Dutch
and the French to carry on a contraband trade.” The beginning of the
Wars of the French Revolution ended the reviving French trade after
1792, while the last Dutch and Italian ships sailed from Canton in the
spring of 1795. This war also gave the Americans an opportunity to
carry on an extensive contraband trade between China and Europe.

As can be judged from Figure 6, the life-blood of Continental
trade was tea. Over 80 per cent of the Continental exports were tea;

® E. H. Pritchard, “The Struggle for Control of the China Trade during the
Eighteenth Century,” Pacific Historical Review, 111 (Sept., 1934), tables, pp. 292-
94; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 40, 50, 84, 95, 111.

% Pritchard, loc. cit.; IOCCD, Vols. 78, 83, 85, 95, 99, 102, 104, 109, 115, tables
of trade, for the Spanish trade; Morse, as cited in note 37.

¥ Morse, Chronicle, 11, 40, 50, 61, 74, 84, 95, 111, 136, 184, 187, 193, 201, 205.
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Figure 6.
Tea Exported from Canton (1768-1796)*.
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after the Commutation Act struck so successfully at the smuggling of
tea into England, the life-blood was removed from the French, Danish,
and Swedish trades, and they declined. With the exception of the
Dutch, who imported about twice as much merchandise as they did
bullion, all Continental countries were very largely dependent upon
bullion to finance their exports. Nearly 80 per cent of the French,
Swedish, and Danish imports was bullion, but slightly less than 60 per
cent of the total imports by Continental countries was bullion.® The
Dutch occupied a favorable position because of their East India pos-
sessions, which enabled them to send large quantities of tin, pepper,
sandalwood, and spices to Canton.

As intimated in the last paragraph, the Dutch were the strongest
competitors of the British in the China trade because their trade was
in every way legitimate and organically sound. They had an old and
well-organized trade with the Far East, an extensive home and Conti-
nental market for their teas and China goods, and well-organized com-
mercial centers in the East Indies which provided them with goods for
the Canton market. Dutch exports, which were about T.863,280
(imports T. 551,940) in 1764-65, remained at about the same level until
1776-77, when they rose to T. 1,012,490 (imports T. 356,680) ; they
reached their highest level of T. 1,420,130 (imports T. 470,990) in 1786-
87. The Commutation Act hurt but did not ruin Dutch trade. Its
downfall was accomplished by the Wars of the French Revolution, and
no more Dutch ships reached Canton after the season of 1794-95. The
principal imports were tin, pepper, cloves, sandalwood, woollens, and
silver. Tea, raw silk, woven silks, nankeens, and chinaware were the
chief exports as in the British trade.”

The French trade, like the Dutch, was a legitimate one, for France
offered a good market for Chinese goods despite the fact that the tea
habit had not taken deep root in France. French trade, however, was
handicapped by a lack of East India possessions from which to draw
articles for the Canton market and by financial weaknesses and vacil-
lating commercial policies at home. The numerous wars with England
also hurt French trade. Starting with an export trade of T. 349,350

® Pritchard, loc. cit. As will be noted from the tables referred to, Continental
exports, except the Dutch, were many times larger than imports. This difference

had to be made up in the main by the importation of silver. For silver imported,
see Morse, Chronicle, 11, 12, 29, 35, 40, 50, 61, 74, 84.

® Pritchard, loc. cit.; IOCCD, LXXXIII, tables of foreign European trade for
a typical year,
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(imports T.97,680) in 1764-65, French trade rose to T.1,251,110
(imports T. 120,000) in 1776-77. It ceased entirely from 1779 to 1783,
then rose to T.1,044,690 (imports T.98,000) in 1784-85, and then
declined steadily until the renewal of war with England ended it after
the season 1792-93. Silver, woollens, lead, Prussian blue, and black-
wood (from Mauritius) were staple imports, and to the Dutch exports
should be added tutenague.”

The Swedish and the Danish trade had no organic basis. The home
market for Chinese goods was small, and neither had valuable posses-
sions in the East from which to draw products for the Canton market.
The life of the trade of these two countries depended to a large extent
upon the finding of an illegal market for teas in England and upon the
Continent; accordingly, after the Commutation Act their trade de-
clined and was on the point of dying when the Wars of the French
Revolution gave it new life. Danish exports rose from T. 473,840 (im-
ports T.37,530) in 1764-65 to T. 1,125,000 (imports T.374,620) in
1782-83, after which they declined steadily. Swedish exports rose from
T. 252,760 (imports T.13,770) in 1764-65 to T. 1,200,540 (imports
T.142,800) in 1785-86, after which they declined rapidly. Besides
silver, the only staple Swedish and Danish imports were lead and other
metals, amber, and Prussian blue. Tea was the main article exported,
and to the Dutch list should be added rhubarb and tutenague.”

The Imperial, the Prussian, the Genoese, and the Tuscan trade was
entirely transitory. Expeditions were generally fitted out under these
foreign flags by disgruntled English or French who hoped to profit by
war-time conditions or by the smuggling trade into England. The ships
under Genoese, Tuscan, and Prussian colors between 1787 and 1794
belonged without exception to Country traders who were attempting
to avoid the regulations of the British Company. From 1779 to 1783
there were seven Imperial ships at Canton importing goods to the value
of T. 582,823 (bullion T.729,000) and exporting goods to the value of
T.980,429. Three ships under the Tuscan flag were at Canton, one in
1782, one in 1787, and one in 1792. They imported goods amounting
to T.194,912 and exported goods valued at about T.351,129. The
five Genoese ships at Canton between 1792 and 1794 seem to have been
engaged in the Northwest fur trade and imported goods valued at
T. 876,460 and exported goods to the value of T.326,386. The six

“ Pritchard, op. cit., pp. 285, 292-94; TOCCD, LXIV, tables of European trade
for a typical year.

“ Pritchard, loc. cit.; IOCCD, as in note 39.
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ships under the Prussian flag at Canton from 1783 to 1791, two of
which were certainly on Dutch account, imported goods to the value
of T. 488,739 (bullion T.210,000) and exported T. 809,869 worth of
merchandise.”

The Spanish trade which began in 1783 was non-competitive with
the English, as it aimed to procure articles for export across the
Pacific to Spanish America. It imported little save bullion and tropical
woods, and its exports were almost entirely confined to fabrics such as
woven silks, nankeens, Canton cloths, and grass cloth. In 1785 it im-
ported bullion amounting to T.415,000 and goods equal to about
T. 92,970 and exported goods to the value of about T.462,555. In
1795-96 the bullion and the goods imported equalled T. 300,000 and
T. 8,576, respectively, and exports amounted to about T. 287,076.¢

Since the story of the beginning of American trade has been told so
well by Doctor Latourette* and others, it seems useless to discuss it
here. The Canton Diaries do provide figures from which a rough esti-
mate of its value may be obtained, but, as the author has already given
these figures elsewhere, they need not be repeated in detail here. Ameri-
can exports rose from T.79,320 in 1784-85 to T. 1,720,000 in 1799-
1800, and the value of merchandise imports rose from T. 136,450 to
T. 757,750 during the same period. The difference had to be made up
by the importation of bullion.”

The struggle between England and her Continental rivals for control
of the China trade during the eighteenth century has been dealt with
indirectly at several points already, and as the author has discussed the
matter more in detail elsewhere,” it is necessary only to summarize the
final decisive years here. The struggle centered about the control of the
tea trade, and, because Great Britain consumed the largest percentage
of tea imported into Europe, the British government held the deciding
ace in the form of the duties on tea. To reduce the duties charged on
tea imported into England would kill the smuggling trade and hence

“TOCCD, Vols. 67, 71, 75, 78, 83, 87, 102, 104, 107, 109, tables of Continental
trade and the Canton current price list; Pritchard, loc. cit.

“TOCCD, Vols. 78, 83, 85, 95, 99, 102, 104, 107, 109, 115, tables of Continental
trade and price list.

“Kenneth Scott Latourette, History of Early Relations between the United
Stqtes and China (Transactions of the Connecticut Academy of Arts and
Sciences, XXII) (New Haven, 1917) and Voyages of American Ships to China,
5%31844 (New Haven, 1927) ; F. R. Dulles, The Old China Trade (Boston,

“ Pritchard, op. cit., pp. 292-94.

“ Ibid., pp. 280-95.
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cause the Continental competition to die. To leave the duties at a high
level would make the Continental trade flourish.

Figure 7.
Foreign Exports from Canton (1764-1806)%*.
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A glance at Figure 6 will show exactly what happened in the tea
trade between 1767 and 1796, and Figure 7 will illustrate what hap-
pened to the commerce of the nations concerned. Despite the handicap
imposed upon the Company’s rivals by the Seven Years War, the
annual quantity of tea sold at the Company’s sales between 1760 and
1767 was only 4,333,267 lbs. ; the duties on it amounted to 90 per cent.
At the end of the period the Company had over 15,000,000 pounds of
tea on hand and was faced with financial ruin. In order to relieve it
the government passed the Idemnity Act, whereby for five years the
excise duty of 1/- per pound was to be abolished on black and singlo
teas and the whole customs duty of 23.93 per cent was to be drawn back
on teas exported to Ireland and America. If the return from the duties
fell below the average for the preceding five-year period, the Company
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was to make up the amount to the government. This amounted to a
reduction of the duties to 64 per cent, and as a result the average an-
nual sales for the next five years (1768-72) rose to 8,075,794 Ilbs.
During the corresponding period the Company exported annually from
China 9,088,109 lbs. of tea, and its Continental rivals 11,565,468 Ibs;
in other words, despite the reduced duties, the price of tea in England
was still so high as to make smuggling profitable.”

In spite of the revival of the Company’s trade, the Idemnity Act
had not worked satisfactorily and the Company was forced to idemnify
the government and buyers £686,399. In consequence, the old duties
were restored in 1773, and the outbreak of the American Revolution
caused the government to load new duties on tea. The average duty
between 1773 and 1777 was 106 per cent. The Company’s trade went
into a rapid decline, and that of its rivals flourished as smuggling in-
creased. The fortunes of the Company touched bottom during the
years 1776, 1777, and 1778, when the yearly average of tea sold at its
sales was but 4,977,068 Ibs., whereas the yearly average of tea exported
from Canton by its rivals was 14,085,400 Ibs. A decrease in the duties
in 1779 and 1780 helped the Company, but, as the government was in
need of money, the duties were increased in 1781 and 1782. Conse-
quently, the years 1781, 1782, and 1783 saw the Company’s trade de-
cline, and its financial affairs were brought to the verge of bankruptcy
in 1783. The annual sales during these three years amounted to
5,721,655 Ibs., whereas the return of France and Holland to the Canton
market enabled its rivals to export 14,719,015 Ibs. per year for the five
years between 1780 and 1784.°

The peak of the Continental trade was reached in the season of
1783-84, when 19,072,300 Ibs. of tea were exported from Canton. Dur-
ing the thirteen years before 1785 the average annual value of British
exports from Canton had been T. 1,974,954 and that of their rivals
T. 2,749,620.° The Company and the government after the return of
peace were thus faced squarely with the problem: either the duties on
tea had to be lowered or British trade with China would be ruined,
and the government’s tea revenue would be much decreased and its
authority set at naught by the smugglers. The Fox-North coalition

“ Milburn, Oriental Commerce, 11, 538-39; Wissett, Compendium, 11, section
on tea.

“ Milburn, op. cit.,, I1, 534; Wissett, Compendium, 1I, section on tea; Parlia-
mentary History, 1782-3, XXIII, 572-82, 646-47, 795-801.

® Pritchard, op. cit., pp. 292-95.
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had in contemplation measures for the reduction of duties on tea when
they were replaced by the Pitt Ministry. Pitt himself lent a willing ear
to the proposals of the industrial and commercial interests of the
country, and Henry Dundas, chief member of the newly created Board
of Control, was especially interested in expanding British trade in the
East.

Consequently, the government and the Company formulated a
policy, perhaps unconsciously at first, but later on very consciously,
which aimed at the ruin of England’s rivals in the India and China
trade, and at making London the European distributing center for all
Asiatic products. The first step in this direction was the Commutation
Act; the second, the forcing of greater quantities of English goods into
the Chinese market in return for larger contracts for tea; the third, the
Eden Treaty with France in 1786 (which had as its primary purpose
the opening of France to British manufactures); and the fourth, an
Embassy to China, which aimed at the opening of the northern ports
of that country to trade for the benefit of the Company and in the hope
that British manufactured articles would find an extended sale there.

The success of the Commutation Act is clearly shown in Figures
6 and 7. The lowered duties ruined the smugglers, on whom Danish,
Swedish, Imperial, and to a certain extent, French trade lived, and
ensured the British market to the Company ; in fact, the lowered prices
enabled teas imported by the Company to be exported to the Continent.
For a few years the foreign companies tried to keep up the competition,
but they were soon forced to capitulate, and their trade, with the
exception of that of the Dutch, declined rapidly. Between 1785 and
1790 the annual amount of tea exported by the Company from Canton
increased to 18,864,218 lbs., whereas that of its rivals decreased to
10,979,950 Ibs. During the next five years the Company’s annual ex-
portation increased to over 1914 million pounds, whereas that of its
Continental rivals decreased to 4% million pounds.”

The ruin which the Commutation Act began was completed by the
Revolutionary Wars, which eliminated France in 1792 and Holland in
1794. Swedish and Danish trade were for a time revived by the Wars,
but they never again offered successful competition to the English.
The newly developed Spanish trade at Canton did not compete with
the British, and the American trade, although it was growing rapidly

® Ibid.; Milburn, op. cit,, 11, 486; Appendix V.
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and had largely displaced the English in the American market, was not
yet more than a cloud upon the horizon. In 1795, England, with her
control of the seas, stood triumphant in the century-long conflict for
mastery of the China trade.

5. Commercial and Industrial Expansion of England during the
Eighteenth Century.

Before the semi-political events at Canton leading directly to the
sending of the first British embassy to China are discussed, it is neces-
sary to consider certain economic developments in England—the begin-
ning of the Industrial Revolution in north England—which in a general
way influenced the sending of the first embassy. At the beginning of
the eighteenth century England had to share with Holland, France, and
the Scandinavian countries commercial and industrial supremacy. By
the end of the century she was undisputed mistress in both of these
fields. At the opening of the eighteenth century the most important
industries in England were the manufacture of woollen and leather
goods, followed by the production of silk, linen, tin, lead, and iron
articles. At the close of the century the leather, tin and linen industries
were on the decline, and the slowly growing woollen and silk industries
were being eclipsed by the rapidly expanding cotton and iron and steel
industries. The manufacture of porcelain and glass had also risen to
respectable heights, but the lead industry was stationary.

These changes had been brought about by a multiplicity of forces,
but suffice it to say here that the establishment of a sound financial
structure in the Bank of England, the beneficial effects of the Naviga-
tion Acts, the commercial power of the East India Company, England’s
extensive Colonial Empire, and her control of the seas, had all contrib-
uted to the growth of her commercial supremacy. This latter created a
surplus capital necessary to industrial growth, and the increase in popu-
lation (from 54 million in 1700 to 834 million in 1800)* provided a
market for industrial production and a supply of ready labor." The
application of mechanical invention and the factory system to the
cotton industry and of chemical invention and the factory system to

' W. Cunningham, Growth of English Commerce and Industry (London,
1892), Pt. 2, p. 935.

*Ibid., Pt. 1; P. Mantoux, The Industrial Revolution (New York, nd.),
pD. 417—;})40, 349-73; Frederick Dietz, The Industrial Revolution (New York, 1927),
Pp. .
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iron and steel production enabled these industries to take the lead.®

The character of this industrial and commercial change can be
judged from a few figures. The value of British imports and exports
increased during the century from £6,010,000 in 1697 to £62,690,000
in 1800, over ten times; and the tonnage clearing out of English ports
increased from 245,000 tons to 2,130,000 tons during the same period.*
The value of exported woollens increased from £2,933,292 in 1699 to
£6,487,000 in 1802, only 214 times.” In 1699 woollens composed 43
per cent of the total exports; in 1802 they composed but 17 per cent,
and 1/6 of all woollens exported went to China.

The exportation of cotton goods, which amounted to but £5,915
in 1697, remained low during the greater part of the century, rose to
£355,060 in 1780, and then shot up to £7,624,505 (over a million
pounds greater than woollens) in 1802. The value of cotton goods
manufactured in England, which was considered as £960,000 before
1780, rose to £7,500,000 in the course of eight years.” The progress
of pig iron production was equally rapid during the closing years of
the century. Between 1720 and 1740 it remained stationary at about
17,000 tons per year, but with the coming of chemical improvements
rose to 68,300 tons in 1788, to 125,079 tons in 1796, and to 258,206
tons in 1806." It is also of importance to note that, though the Com-
pany exported a large percentage of the woollens produced to India
and China, it did not, until after the close of the century, export cotton
or iron goods, and then only in small quantities.”

The important thing about this industrial expansion was that most
of it occurred after 1780 and that it was confined to the north and west
of England—Manchester, Birmingham, Sheffield, and Leeds. The
almost overnight rise of the cotton industry created a new crop of
industrial barons who besieged Parliament and the government with

® Cunningham, op. cit,, Pt. 2; Mantoux, op. cit., pp. 193-346; T. Ellison, Cot-
ton Trade of Great Britain (London, 1886), p. 29.

™ Anderson’s History of Commerce, IV, 692-94; Leon Levi, History of Brit-
tsh Commerce (London, 1872), pp. 491-93; Cunningham, op. cit., pp. 694-96.

® George Chalmers, Considerations on Commerce . . . (London, 1811), Ap-
pendix 1; Levi, op. cit, p. 500; Cunningham, op. cit., pp. 696-97.

* Macpherson’s Annals of Commerce (London, 1805), III, 602, and IV, 15,
489, 525; G. L. Craik, History of British Commerce (London, 1844), II, 47;
Mantoux, op. cit, p. 106.

% Macpherson's Annals, IV, 132; Ellison, op. cit, p. 29; Cunningham, op. cit,,
p. 639; Macgregor, op. cit, IV, 753-54, 768.

® Mantoux, op. cit., p. 278; H. Scrivenor, Comprehensive History of the Iron
Trade (London, 1854), pp. 136. 256, 302.

® PP, Sessional Reports, Papers, etc, 1812-13, 1X, No. 248, p. 463.
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demands that it find markets for their swelling production. The com-
mercial growth had been more evenly distributed over the century, but
it too brought into prominence commercial cities in the north—Liver-
pool, Glasgow, and Hull. The net result of these changes was to trans-
form England into a beehive of productive and expansive energy.
New and powerful interests were created in the north which came to
the government demanding protection, encouragement, and outlet for
their productive energies—interests which looked with greedy eyes
toward the East, from which the Company’s monopoly excluded them.
This spirit and pressure of the ‘“‘cotton kings,” both of which were
reflected to a marked degree in the commercial policies of the Pitt
administration,” helped to bring about the conditions that inspired the
government to attempt to open all of China to British trade.

6. Significance of these Commercial and Economic Developments.

The enormous growth of British trade with China which took place
between 1784 and 1795 was in the main the direct result of the lowering
of the duties on tea. The exports of tea by the Company and the im-
ports of raw cotton by the Country traders were the first to respond
to the Commutation Act, but in the course of five or six years the
Company’s import trade at Canton also showed a marked advance,
especially in woollens. An immediate effect of the expanding tea trade
was the importation into China by the Company of large consignments
of bullion, but, as the Country import trade grew and the Company’s
import trade in merchandise expanded, the importation of bullion de-
creased. After 1791 British trade was virtually self-sufficient (not
dependent upon the importation of bullion), and the market for British
metals and woollens, and Indian cotton and opium was expanding.
During the period the Company’s trade showed a steadily decreasing
unfavorable balance, whereas the Country trade showed a steadily in-
creasing favorable balance, the latter being the source from which the
Company realized about 37 per cent of the funds necessary to finance
its trade. By the end of the period the balance of British trade was on
the point of turning against China for the first time in history.

The consequences of these commercial developments were far-
reaching. As the Company’s trade expanded and its profits grew, it
became more desirous of maintaining and protecting the trade and of

® Mantoux, op. cit., pp. 257-67; The Commercial Policy of Pitt and Peel,
1785-1846 (London, 1847), pp. 5-6.
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doing nothing which might endanger it. Conversely, as the China trade
grew and the Company’s profits expanded, the commercial and espe-
cially the rapidly developing cotton and metal industries in the north of
England, which were excluded from participation in the China trade,
became more jealous of the Company’s monopoly and desired to par-
ticipate in the trade. London and south England commercial and
handicraft ‘interests, which profited by the increased shipping of the
Company and by its growing exportation of woollens, were more prone
to support it. Furthermore, as the tea trade became more and more
important to the nation and as the revenue realized from the total trade
expanded, the government became more responsive to events in China
which might endanger the trade, and, in accordance with its general
policy of encouraging commercial and industrial expansion it interested
itself in schemes for expanding the China trade. The expansion of
trade seriously strained the system at Canton, and the confinement of
trade to Canton placed a serious restraint upon its indefinite expan-
sion—restraints which could be removed only by governmental action.
Expansion of trade also increased the number of daily contacts at
Canton between Englishmen and Chinese and multiplied the number of
problems and conflicts which arose, thus making more evident the
desirability of a treaty basis for the conduct of relations with China.

The growth of the Country trade also opened the eyes of Country
traders to the restraints imposed by the Company and to the possibili-
ties of a free trade to other parts of the Empire, and the Indian govern-
ment found in the growing cotton and opium trade a valuable source
of revenue. From the Chinese government’s point of view the growing
trade meant more revenue, more troublesome problems with the for-
eigner, and a greater danger of the influx of foreign ideas. To the
Cantonese merchants it meant greater profits, but more danger of ex-
tortion from the officials, who saw in the increasing financial trans-
actions a greater field for personal gain.

In England and in China, the conclusions drawn from the situation
were diametrically opposite. The British government and Private
traders wanted the trade expanded throughout the Empire, whereas the
Chinese (Canton merchants, officials, and government) saw their best
interests in keeping it strictly confined to Canton. The Company saw
advantages in having it expanded to the north of China, but it was
unwilling to undertake drastic measures which might endanger the trade
or their monopoly. A final result, and one of more immediate influence
upon the sending of the first British embassy to China, was the strain
which the sudden expansion of the tea trade threw upon the Company’s
ability to finance the trade.



CHAPTER V

EVENTS LEADING TO THE FIRST BRITISH EMBASSY
TO CHINA (1760-1786)

1. Financial Troubles with the Hong Merchants and the Proposal of an
Embassy (1760-1782).

In the three preceding chapters we have discussed three of the fun-
damental factors which led to the first British embassy to China. The
dynamic force was the steady growth of the China trade and especially
its rapid expansion after 1784, which carried with it immense advan-
tages to the Company, to the Country and Private traders, to the
marine and woollen interests of I.ondon and south England connected
with the trade, to the government’s revenue, and to the general public.
The inactive factor, against which the commercial expansion continu-
ally knocked its head, was the restraining nature of the Chinese
monopoly—the confinement of trade to the single port of Canton under
troublesome and undefined restrictions, which at any moment might
be so changed as to make the continuation of the trade impossible.
Such restraints upon economic expansion did not suit the temper either
of the government or of the commercial and industrial interests in late
eighteenth century England. A third basic factor—although of less
direct importance than the other two, but nevertheless of considerable
importance in bringing about the state of mind which caused the gov-
ernment to send an embassy—was the commercial and industrial growth
of England throughout the eighteenth century, culminating in the In-
dustrial Revolution. These changes created in northern and western
England marine and manufacturing interests which desired to partici-
pate in the India and China trade.’

The problem of this chapter is to trace the semi-political events at
Canton which led directly to the sending of the first British embassy
to China. The Co-hong of 1760 had been established in order to con-
solidate the power of the Hong merchants, to enable them to dictate
terms to the foreign traders, to make them better able to meet the

! See Chap. VII, Sect. 5.
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enormous responsibilities imposed upon them as securities for the for-
eigners and their ships, and to help them in meeting the financial de-
mands of the mandarins and in providing presents for the officials and
Imperial Court.’ At about the same time the failure of a Chinese mer-
chant to pay his debts led the foreigners to present a petition to the
officials demanding redress. The Viceroy referred the matter to Peking,
and in consequence one of the provisions of the Imperial Edict of 1760
forbade the borrowing of money from foreigners under pain of banish-
ment to Ili and the confiscation of the property of the offender.’

Strengthened by the Co-hong, the Chinese merchants prospered for
a number of years, and despite the Imperial prohibition borrowed large
sums from Country traders in 1766-67. The rates of interest were ex-
orbitant, ranging from 16 to 20 per cent and sometimes as high as 40
per cent per annum, but for a number of years the merchants met their
obligations. The demands of the officials increased, however, and early
in 1771 the supercargoes requested the Court of Directors to restrict
the number of sing-songs brought in Private trade, which the man-
darins forced the Hongists to purchase as presents, lest the merchants
be ruined and the Company involved in their misfortune.*

Apparently without realizing it, the supercargoes had already taken
the step which was to lead to disaster when they procured, after the
payment of T. 100,000, the dissolution of the Co-hong on February 11,
1771. 'This dissolution broke the bargaining power of the Hongists;
prices decreased, and the demands of the officials fell upon the mer-
chants individually instead of collectively. Those who had borrowed
and spent most extravagantly were unable to meet their obligations, and
in consequence there was an influx of Country merchants who resided

at Canton contrary to the Company’s orders in an attempt to collect
their debts.” -

When the Co-hong was dissolved there appear to have been eleven
Hong merchants organized into ten mercantile houses or Hongs—
Puankhequa, Munqua, Shy Kinqua, Chowqua, Kewshaw, Yngshaw,

* This latter was said by the merchants in 1776 to amount to T. 500,000
(Morse, Chronicle, 11, 16-17).

*CMC, 11, No. 2; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 54, 56, 57, and V, 94-96.
‘CMC, II, No. 6; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 44-46, and V, 154.

*CMC, 11, No. 6; Morse, Chronicle, V, 153, for influx of Country merchants,
pp. 162, 172, 180; Dalrymple, Oriental Repertory, II, 319.
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Chetqua, Sy Anqua,’ Coqua and Tinqua,’ and Wayqua. Chetqua, who
was indebted to the Company in 1768, died in 1771, apparently leaving
no unsettled debts. Wayqua, who was in debt to the Company when the
Co-hong was dissolved, absconded in March, 1772, when the super-
cargoes petitioned the Viceroy in regard to his debt of T.11,726. The
affair was not settled until 1777, after a report had been sent to Peking
by the Governor. Wayqua was ultimately found and imprisoned until
the debt was paid, after which he was transported. T. 6,000 were paid
by his brother and T. 5,216 were furnished by the officials.’

During 1773 and 1774, because of the financial difficulties of the
Company in Europe, few bills were issued on London, and the Country
traders, being unable to remit their money to England and being at-
tracted by the extravagant offers of the floundering merchants, again
lent extensive sums to the Chinese. In September, 1773, as Sy Anqua
and Teowqua (Coqua) were unable to pay small sums which they had
owed the Company since the preceding season, the supercargoes twice
petitioned the Hoppo and Viceroy. By January 31, 1774, Teowqua
(Coqua) had paid off his debt of T. 13,300, and Sy Anqua had reduced
his from T. 17,025 to T.7,251. Later in 1774 Puankhequa assumed Sy
Anqua’s debt to the Company and the affair was settled so far as the
Company was concerned.” Late in 1774 Sy Anqua died in bankruptcy.
The officials assessed his debts due to Country merchants at $222,000
(mainly to Hutton & Gordon), although his creditors claimed $300,000.
His brother Seunqua was appointed to manage the business and as-
sume the Hongist chop, and the debt without further interest was to be
paid in ten annual instalments after Sy Anqua’s son attained man-
hood. The creditors refused to accept the award.”

This placed all creditors in a fright, and, as their attempts to collect
debts were unavailing, they refused to lend any more money. This

_ *Variously spelled—in 1768 Si Hunqua, in 1772-74 Sy Anqua; the firm con-
sisted of two brothers Sy Anqua and Seunqua (Morse, Chronicle, V, 136-37, 159,
179-81, 186, 192, and II, 45, 55, 58).

! Coqua and Tinqua were sons of a retired Hong merchant, Suqua; both had
Hongist chops, and with them were associated two other brothers, Tiqua and
Chelqua (CMC, No. 6). It seems that prior to 1775 Coqua was spelled Teowqua,
or if this is untrue, then there were twelve Hongists, of whom Teowqua was one
(Morse, Chronicle, V, 159, 181, and II, 6, 25, 33-34, 45).

* Morse, Chronicle, V, 136-37, 141, 152, 159, 161, 168.

*CMD, XV, Nov. 18-20, 1777; Morse, Chronicle, V, 161, 172, 178, and II, 25.

*CMD, XV, Nov. 18-20, 1777, and VII, Dec. 17, 1777; Morse, Chronicle, V,
180-81, 186, 192.

" CMD, VII, Dec. 17, 1777; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 45-46, 55-56.
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created a situation reminiscent of that produced by the cessation of
American loans to Germany after 1929. In both situations the continu-
ation of payments was dependent upon the receipt of loans, and when
these stopped, the Chinese merchants were unable to purchase goods
and carry on business, to say nothing of paying old debts. To relieve
themselves from this situation the merchants attempted in 1775 to re-
store the Co-hong and in 1776 to impose a tax of 10 per cent upon all
exports and a similar tax upon pepper, lead, tin, putchuck, and cotton
imported. On both occasions the supercargoes protested to the mer-
chants and to the officials and were successful in preventing these pro-
posed measures.”

Being unable to borrow money, prevented from forming a protective
combination, and refused contracts because they could not pay their
debts, a number of the merchants were left with nothing else to do but
await the executioner. At the close of the season 1776-77 Coqua was
indebted to Company merchants to the amount of several hundred
thousand taels, and, because he was unable to discharge his obligations
of T. 20,388 to the Company, it curtailed its business with him.

At the close of the season of 1777-78, Yngshaw was in difficulties
and refused to renew his bonds to Country creditors. On February 3,
1778, he owed the Company T. 80,000 and Captain Parks of the Coun-
try ship Favourite T.45,000. His business transactions had been cur-
tailed because the Danish Company withheld $40,000 due to him for
tea delivered, to offset his debt to private Danish merchants. In order
to save him from bankruptcy, the Dutch Company advanced him
T.30,000 and the English Company T. 42,000 on contracts for tea to
be delivered in the fall, and Captain Parks was paid T. 25,000, the
remaining T. 20,000 to be paid in goods the following season.”

The Company had ceased to do business with Coqua. By 1778
Tinqua and Chelqua, two other members of the firm, had absconded,
and the active management of the business was in the hands of Tiqua
(a poor business man) and Coqua, an idiot (according to Matthew
Raper)." At the end of 1778 or early in 1779, the firm was declared
bankrupt and all the property seized by the officials to pay the Emper-
or’s duties and meet other obligations.

¥ Morse, Chronicle, 11, 13-22; CMC, II, No. 6.
® Morse, Chronicle, 11, 25-27, 30, 47.
" Ibid., 33-34, 45; CMC, 11, No. 6.
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Thus at the close of the year 1777 the situation was becoming des-
perate. Of the eleven Hong merchants in 1771 Chetqua and Sy Anqua
had died, the latter in bankruptcy, and although his business was con-
ducted by Seunqua, the creditors would do no business with him.
Wayqua had become bankrupt. Tinqua had absconded, and his firm,
of which Coqua and Tiqua only remained, was soon to be declared
bankrupt. Yngshaw was unable to pay his debts, and Kewshaw was
also unable to pay his Country creditors, although he still made con-
tracts with the Company. Only four merchants—Puankhequa, Chow-
qua, Munqua, and Shy Kinqua—were able to meet all of their obliga-
tions and conduct business in a dependable manner. Under these cir-
cumstances, four of the principal creditors—Charles Crommelin,
Thomas Hutton, Charles Gordon, and George Smith—then resident at
Canton, drew up, on December 17,1777, a representation and sent it to
their agents and partners in London.”

After pointing out how the debts originated and indicating that
both the Country trade and the loans which the Country traders had
made to the Chinese were of immense advantage to the Company, the
representation went on to say: that not only payment of bonds had
been refused but their renewal except at reduced rates of interest had
been refused; that the Hongists had fixed prices in a most unjust and
arbitrary manner; that the merchants because of their lucrative trade
were well able to meet their obligations; that every mode of legal re-
dress had been denied and nothing but misrepresentation and deception
had attended every complaint brought before a Chinese court; that
every attempt to get redress by public action was attended by a declara-
tion of bankruptcy, which resulted in the Chinese creditors being
favored in preference to the foreign or in an unjust reduction of the
amount due; and that representations sent to the officials through the
merchants were either secreted or misrepresented. The representation
continued that:

From all of which duly considered and maturely weighed, we arc of positive
opinion that no hopes of redress can be entertained from the Justice of the
Chinese, unless our Complaints are properly made known to the Court of Pcking
and therefore that the only mode left us of obtaining the just and lawful property
of the many British Subjects now under our management is by this plain and

faithful representation of our case to the Court of Great Britain from which
alone can be expected such a Power as shall make known and enforce these our

®*CMC, II, No. 2; CMD, VII, Dec. 17, 1777.
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lawful demands so unjustifiably kept back in a Country where an intercourse has
been solicited, where justice is denied us, and where equity is not known,

Accompanying this representation was a paper showing the obliga-
tions due to Country merchants, amounting in all to about T. 3,000,000.
These papers were carried to England by Charles Gordon, one of the
principal creditors. He arrived in London some time during the sum-
mer of 1778, and a number of meetings of the creditors were held. A
committee was deputed to inform the Ministry and request it to send an
embassy to Peking. The Government apparently refused to take any
action other than through the Company,” and in consequence the credit-
ors—Mathew Purling, John Hunter, George Paterson, John Clements,
and Thomas Raikes—presented a memorial to Sir George Wombwell,
Chairman of the Court of Directors, requesting the Company’s assist-
ance in the collection of the debts. They stated that the debts repre-
sented accumulated fortunes in India which had been sent to China in
order to be transferred home by means of bills, but as the Company’s
treasury was not always open they had been forced to lend their money
to the Chinese ; and that the money so employed was of great advantage
to the Company, because it enabled the Chinese merchants to fulfill their
obligations to the Company.”

Accompanying the memorial was a memorandum stating that from
the supposed equitable maxims of the Chinese government, and espec-
ially from its recent edict settling the debts of Wayqua, it was thought
that, if the distressed situation of the debtors were made known to the
Court of Peking, redress would be certain. It then pointed out that, be-
cause of the corruption of the mandarins and merchants at Canton, it
was impossible to send a representation through them, and proposed
that a person with a commission from the English Crown should be
sent in a King’s Frigate from India to Tientsin and Peking to lay the
matter before the Imperial Court. As a mode of liquidation, it proposed
that debts remain at their present figure without any accumulation
of interest, and that, as the profits of the Chinese merchants from the
English trade amounted to over $700,000 annually, that sum should be
paid into the Company’s treasury each year on account of the creditors
until the debts were liquidated, or, if the Chinese government wished

77‘9" CMD, 1V, Council of Supercargoes to John Alexander Panton, October 7,

" CMD, VII, no paging and no date; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 43.
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to assume the obligations, it might remit the duties, which amounted
to about $800,000 annually, until the debts were paid.”

The memorandum concluded by pointing out that there was danger
of general bankruptcy among the Hong merchants, which would affect
the Company as much as the Private merchants; that something should
be done to improve the position of the Company’s supercargoes, who
were treated with disrespect; and that, as the French, who had recently
established a Consulate at Canton and who were negotiating with the
Portuguese for a cession of Macao, had sent a representative to Paris
to solicit government aid in collecting debts, it was likely that an em-
bassy would be sent which might gain privileges inimical to England.
The Court of Directors apparently did not favor the proposal of an
embassy, but on December 23, 1778, it sent instructions to the super-
cargoes to do all in their power, consistent with the interests of the
Company, to assist the Private creditors since it considered the
“Amount of the Money as a National Object.” *

While these measures were in progress, the hotheads in India were
taking the bit in their teeth. Two addresses were drawn up on July
8, 1779, soliciting the aid of Rear-Admiral Sir Edward Vernon in plac-
ing before the Hoppo and Viceroy a statement of the creditors’ de-
mands. One was from George Smith, George Monbray, Alexander
Cuthbert, Andrew Ross, Alexander Jameson, Gilbert Pasley, and John
Crichton; the other, from John Crichton alone. The latter contained
a memorial to the Hoppo, which Crichton desired be delivered together
with an address from the Admiral to the Hoppo. The memorial pro-
posed that the existing bonds be renewed at a reduced interest of 12
per cent, and in return for this concession the debts were to be dis-
charged in twelve annual instalments payable partly in goods and partly
in money. The annual payment of interest was to be made compulsory,
and the whole arrangement was to be enforced by the Chinese gov-
ernment.”

At the same time a letter was sent to the Governor (Sir Thomas
Rumboldt) and Council of Fort St. George, requesting their assistance.
The Governor and Council reprimanded the creditors for approaching
the Admiral without first consulting them, and in reply to Admiral
Vernon’s letter of July 20, informing them that he intended sending an

® CMC, II, No. 2; CMD, VII, no page and no date.
 CMD, IV and VIII, Dec. 23, 1778, parags. 45-46; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 43-44.
¥ CMD, 1V, July 8, 1779.
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address to the Viceroy of Canton by the Commander of H. M.
Sea Horse, they suggested that the Commander should present the
documents to the supercargoes and consult with them as how best to
proceed.” Admiral Vernon, however, did not change his peremptory
orders, and the Sea Horse sailed for China under command of Captain
John Alexander Panton, where she arrived on September 23.

It is not known when the Court’s letter of December 23, 1778, in-
structing the supercargoes to aid in settling the debts, reached China.
The investigations, however, had already begun when the first regular
ships of the season arrived on October 3, bringing two members of a
newly appointed Select Committee (Thomas Fitzhugh and Thomas
Bevan, the other member, Matthew Raper, already being in China) to
manage the Company’s affairs in China. The Committee found that
debts, represented in bonds and accumulated interest for money lent
and goods sold on credit, to the amount of $4,347,300 were claimed by
Country traders and supercargoes representing Private merchants. Of
this amount $539,224 was apparently owed to non-English in partner-
ship with or represented by Englishmen, and $3,808,076 was owed to
English, not more than $1,078,976 of which represented money and
goods advanced. The difference represented accumulated interest com-
pounded annually at 18 to 20 per cent. The debts were owing from one
to eleven years, but most of them had been incurred within seven
years.”

The claims on Coqua were $1,156,162, but, as the firm was already
bankrupt and its property had been seized by the officials to meet vari-
ous obligations, no counter claims were given. Seunqua was presented
with claims to the amount of $648,359, mostly represented in the debts
(and interest accumulated on them) of his brother, Sy Anqua. The
mandarins in 1774 had assessed this debt at $222,000 and by this de-
cision Seunqua was willing to abide. Yngshaw admitted that he had
debts to the amount of $980,165 in 1777, after which he had refused
to renew the bonds. The claims against him were $1,387,311. He
offered to pay the principal in fifteen annual instalments, and interest
amounting to $125,000 in six annual instalments after the end of the
fifteen years. Kewshaw—who was kept solvent throughout the season

" CMD, 1V, July 8, 20, 23, 28, 31, 1779.

 Morse, Chronicle, 11, 44-46. The various creditors and their claims were as
follows: Hutton and Gordon $1,776,638, Geo. Smith [and John Crichton] $789,379,
James Frudd $304,545, A. Crommelin $73,818, Abm. Leslie $31,730, W. H. Pigou
(supercargo, agent for others) $840,669, others $530,511.
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only by a loan of T. 39,000 from the Company which was passed on to
the accounts of Puankhequa, Munqua, Chowqua and Shy Kinqua—
admitted debts of $321,110. The claims against him were $399,463,
which he offered to discharge in ten annual instalments without further
interest. The supercargoes advised the acceptance of these offers as the
best available and in order to prevent the utter ruin of all the Canton
merchants, Puankhequa and Munqua, who were solvent and whose
credit was good, owed $244,710, which they were able to meet when it
fell due. The remaining $511,295 was claimed from Chinese who were
not Hongists.”

At this point constructive diplomatic efforts were set at naught by
the interposition of the mailed fist. Captain Panton, despite the super-
cargoes’ representation that his address to the mandarins would lead to
the bankruptcy and banishment of several merchants, and to the estab-
lishment of an oppressive Co-hong, persisted in his orders. Conse-
quently, on October 19, the supercargoes recorded a formal protest
against Admiral Vernon and Captain Panton “for all losses of Goods,
Monies, demorrage for detention of Ships, and every ill consequence
that may (and we think will) attend the present premature representa-
tion to the Viceroy.”

On October 22, Captain Panton went into the City and was received
by the Governor and Hoppo. He delivered the letter from Admiral
Vernon, “demanding justice be done to His Majesty’s oppressed Sub-
jects in China, and two letters from Mr. Crichton humbly requesting
justice in behalf of himself and others to whom the Chinese Merchants
[were] indebted large sums of money,” and himself asked “the Chi-
nese Government in a respectful, friendly and firm manner, that His
Majesty’s Subjects [might] be justly paid the Debts owing to them.” *
The supercargoes of the other nations at the same time presented an
address to the officials requesting that their business be not endangered
by the action of Captain Panton. On November 6, the Captain received
an answer that “Justice [would] be done agreeable to Imperial Laws,”
and on November 8 he sailed for Madras.”

® Morse, Chronicle, 11, 45-47.
¥ CMD, 1V, Oct. 6, 9, 19, 1779; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 47-48.
¥ CMD, IV, Captain Panton’s Memorial to the Viceroy.

® Ibid., IV, Viceroy’s Reply to Capt. Panton, Nov. 6, 1779; Morse, Chronicle,
11, 48-49, 53.
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On January 15, 1780, the Select Committee wrote to the Court of
Directors explaining proceedings relative to the debts up to that point.”
On the 17th Matthew Raper apparently addressed a private communi-
cation to someone at the India House (perhaps his uncle, John Raper),
in which he enclosed a list of eighteen privileges “originally granted to
the English” and annexed “a few remarks on the arbitrary deviation
from them,” and stated that it appeared to him that no redress would be
attained ‘“‘unless it be brought about by some extraordinary interposi-
tion”’—an embassy, perhaps.” It also seems likely that two letters, one
written prior to 1779, the other in 1779, to W. (a missionary at Macao)
from a missionary at Peking (almost certainly Jean-Joseph de Gram-
mont), were inclosed in Raper’s letter.”

The first was in answer to some questions asking whether it would be
possible to put the Europeans in China on a more equitable foundation.
The missionary said that the only hope was for all the Europeans to
unite in sending an embassy to Peking to request enlarged privileges
and the right to maintain a diplomatic representative at Peking or
Canton through whom their complaints might be made known. If this
mode of redress was not favored, an agreement might be made with
Portugal whereby all European trade could be removed to Macao and
European laws enacted for its government. In the letter of 1779 the
writer said that, if the Emperor were informed of the conditions of
the Europeans, he would remedy the situation immediately ; that, if he
knew of the debts, he would secure their payment at once; that a
private representation through one of the missionaries would be con-
troverted by the mandarins and would only bring official wrath down
upon all the missionaries ; and that the only hope was for the FEuropeans
to unite, a procedure that might accomplish something.

After Captain Panton’s interruption, ordinary negotiations were
resumed and a new statement of the indebtedness, uniformly calculated
to the beginning of 1780, was handed in. This amounted to $4,400,222,
of which Coqua owed $1,194,586, Yngshaw $1,383,976, Seunqua
$634,784, Kewshaw $452,418, Munqua $158,451, Conqua (not a Hong-
ist) $81,944, and other non-Hong merchants $494,063. On February

" CMD, VII, Canton general letter, Jan. 15, 1780.

®CMD, I, Jan. 17, 1780, ncar end of volume. Raper corresponded with
%ga}r;'nmlont,.__as is indicated in James Legge, The Texts of Taoism (Oxford,
, I, xiii.
"_” CMD, I, near end of volume, enclosed in a letter from Raper to the East
India Company in Dec., 1791; IOCM, XCI, 29-31.
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29 a joint communication was received from the Governor and Hoppo,
which reminded the supercargoes of the decree of 1760 prohibiting the
borrowing of money from foreigners (of which all the supercargoes
and creditors claimed ignorance) and of the provision of Chinese law
which said that accumulated interest should never be allowed to more
than double the original principal. The supercargoes were asked to
draw up a statement of the money lent, distinguishing between that lent
before and after 1760. An interview was finally arranged and on March
22, 1780, Bevan, who spoke the mandarin language, and Raper were
received by the Hoppo. He was surprised at the size of the accounts
delivered by the supercargoes, which were much greater than the ones
given to him by the merchants, but he indicated that he and the Gov-
ernor were willing to secure payment of double the principal.®

As a result of this, and after negotiations between the creditors and
debtors in April, Yngshaw offered to pay half the principal in yearly
payments of $40,000 without further interest or security. Kewshaw
proposed to pay his debt in ten annual payments without further in-
terest or security. Seunqua resolved to abide by the decision of the
mandarins in the year 1774. As Coqua’s estate was already in the hands
of the receiver, no proposals were made in regard to his debts. Munqua,
whose firm was in sound condition, proposed to pay the whole of his
debt in three yearly payments with interest at 5 per cent. The spirit
of the creditors had been strengthened by the action of Captain Panton,
and they refused to accept the proposals of Yngshaw and Kewshaw,
but agreed to Munqua’s proposition. Considering the precarious situa-
tion of Yngshaw and Kewshaw and the fact that the officials undertook
to insure these payments, the proposals were remarkably generous.”

After this breakdown of negotiations, affairs at Canton awaited the
decision of Peking upon Admiral Vernon’s letter, which had been for-
warded to the Capital together with a memorial from the Governor
(acting Viceroy) reporting the affair as it appeared to him. Several
of the creditors, being much encouraged by the effects of Admiral
Vernon'’s letter, wrote to India in November and December, 1779, sug-
gesting that a second representation should be sent by the naval author-
ities the following season.” In consequence, the creditors at Madras
obtained the support of Admiral Sir Edward Hughes, who despite the

¥ Morse, Chronicle, 11, 53-55.
" Morse, Chronicle, 11, 55-56.
¥ CMD, IV, Nov. 8 and Dec. 4, 1779; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 57.
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opposition of the Governor and Council of Fort St. George, directed
Captain Panton to deliver a second representation to the Viceroy and
demand a statement of his intentions regarding the debts.® The Sea
Horse sailed for China as convoy for merchant ships on June 19,1780,
and reached Canton some two months later. Captain Panton had an
audience with the Viceroy and delivered the letter from Admiral
Hughes, but he received no explicit assurances.*

The second letter from India was useless, because the wheels of
Chinese justice had moved. The representations sent to Peking had
been referred to the joint investigation of the Li: Pu (Civil Office) and
Hing Pu (Justice). Upon their recommendations an Imperial edict
was issued on July 7, 1780, in consequence of which Yngshaw and
Kewshaw were thrown into prison, their property was confiscated to
pay arrears of the Imperial duties said to amount to T. 150,000, and
the remainder was to be used in paying their mercantile debts. All
sums owing by them before 1760 were to be doubled and paid in ten an-
nual instalments without further interest. It seems, however, that the
debts were actually computed with interest until the end of 1779, and
that half of the amount thus obtained was ordered to be paid in ten
annual instalments.” In this way the amount was fixed at $817,738, of
which the first payment was received on April 25, 1781. Seunqua’s
debt was to be settled according to the judgment of 1774 without fur-
ther interest.

The Imperial edict also required that in future the Hong mer-
chants should fix a uniform price and be under the supervision of a
mandarin. In carrying this into execution, the merchants were required
to meet at a certain place under the direction of a military mandarin
in the Hoppo’s office. In order to raise money to pay the debts and
purchase presents for the mandarins, the merchants established a Con-
soo or Guild fund provided for by a voluntary levy upon themselves,
which was shifted to foreign trade in the form of decreased prices for
imports and increased charges for exports. The last step in the re-
establishment of the Co-hong was taken in 1782, when the Hoppo
forced the five newly created Hong merchants—Sinqua, Geowqua,

BCMD, 1V, June 1, 9, 13, 16, 1780.
“ Ibid., 1V, Letter from Canton, Oct. 29, 1780; Ft. St. George to Directors,
Jan. 9, 1781 ; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 56.

'g7C§V[D, V11, Vansittart and Law to Directors, Nov. 1, 1783 ; Morse, Chronicle,
IT, 57-59.
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Pinqua, Seequa, and Lunshaw—to become jointly security for each
other.”

As the Imperial decree did not provide for the settlement of Coqua’s
or non-Hong merchants’ debts, a “Humble Petition” to the Emperor
was drawn up by certain of the creditors late in 1781 or early in 1782
requesting that these debts be paid, and that the newly formed associa-
tion of merchants should be abolished and the foreigners allowed to
trade freely with all Canton merchants.” Whether or not this petition
was ever sent to Peking is uncertain, but, because no settlement of these
debts was obtained, George Vansittart and Ewan Law, acting as at-
torneys for the creditors, wrote to the Court of Directors on November
1, 1783, requesting the Company’s assistance in obtaining a settlement
of Coqua’s debts. Inasmuch as the Court had been angered by the
actions of the Country merchants in calling for Admiral Vernon's aid,
the creditors were informed in 1785 that any further action in the
matter would be detrimental to the Company’s affairs.”

Thus ended a second drama which began with the dissolution of the
Co-hong and the default of Wayqua in 1771, and did not end until six
of the Hong merchants had been bankrupted, the wrath of Peking in-
voked, and the Co-hong re-established. Thanks to the Private creditors’
usurious demands backed up by gun-boat diplomacy, of the $4,400,222
claimed by them not over $1,198,189, slightly more than the total prin-
cipal, was ever required to be paid them. Had they not called in the
aid of the Navy and had they accepted the supercargoes’ advice in 1779,
over twice this amount might have been realized, Yngshaw and Kew-
shaw saved from bankruptcy, and the establishment of the Co-hong and
the Consoo fund prevented. The tragic demise of the Hongists was
also caused “by their own vanity and extravagance,” as the supercar-
goes said, and especially by the exactions of the mandarins. The Com-
pany must also bear a share of the blame because it was responsible
for the abolition of the Co-hong and the introduction of the policy of
appealing to the officials when the merchants could not meet their debts.

* Morse, Chronicle, 11, 57-59, 69, 81, 82, 92.
) ¥ CMC, X, No. 430. Only an undated copy of this petition is preserved, but
internal evidence shows that it followed shortly after the Imperial action on the
other debts. It is initialed by A[braham] L[eshe], J[ohn] C[richton], T[homas]
H{utton], C[harles] G[ordon], C[harles] C[rommelin], and G[eorge] S[mith],
all of whom were in China at the time, and all of whom were creditors of
Coqua (Morse, Chronicle, 11, 51, 54, 66-67).

® CMD, VII, letters of Vansittart and Law, Nov. 1, 1783 and Feb. 8 1785;
10, Committee of Correspondence: Reports, 1785-88, XV, 10.
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From our present point of view, the whole affair was for several
reasons of great importance. First of all, it led to several proposals that
embassies be sent to China, at least one of which was made directly to
the British government. Second, it led to the re-establishment of the
Co-hong and the establishment of the Consoo fund in 1781, both of
which, in the Company’s opinion, were detrimental to their interest and
raised prices. The Company was willing to take extensive measures to
have them abolished. In the third place, it illustrated the unsatisfactory
nature of the system by which trade was conducted and the inability
of British subjects to obtain their own sort of justice in China. It
suggested the advantages that might be gained from an official repre-
sentative in China who had access to the Peking government and who
had power to control the actions of British subjects in China. Finally,
it created a considerable stir in India and in London and brought the
British government into more direct contact with affairs at Canton.

2. Financial Difficulties of the Company and Government: the Commu-
tation Act and the Plan to Dominate the China Trade (1783-1786).

At the close of the American War of Independence, both the British
government and the East India Company were faced with bankruptcy.
The war had cost England over £115,654,000, a considerable portion
of which had been raised by the issue of bonds. As the disastrous war
dragged on, confidence in the government's credit declined, and in
January, 1783, its stocks had fallen to 56. The national debt in Jan-
uary, 1783, amounted to £215,717,709, whereas the annual income did
not exceed £25,000,000, and each year saw a budget deficit and an
increase in the debt. The value of England’s foreign trade had fallen
from £25,000,000 in 1775 to £18,500,000 in 1782.® The Mahratta
War (1778-81) and financial mismanagement at home and in India
had run the Company heavily into debt; and the European phase of the
American War, growing foreign competition in the China trade, and
excessive duties at home had caused the Company’s commerce to de-
cline from £4,514,075 in 1770 to £3,406,420 in 1783. In 1783 its
debts amounted to £10,343,692 (over three times its capital), and,
because its income did not equal the current expenditure, it was

* ]J. Holland Rose, William Pitt and the National Revival (London, 1911), pp.
179-80; Levi, op. cit., pp. 491-93.

“ Macpherson, India, pp. 419-20.
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forced on March 5, 1783, to petition Parliament for financial aid to the
amount of £1,500,000.“

When William Pitt became Prime Minister in December, 1783,
such were the conditions of the British government and the East India
Company, whose fortunes were so closely interwoven that Burke earlier
in March had said that to say the Company ‘“was in a state of distress,
was neither more nor less than saying the country was in a state of
distress.” “ The honor of rescuing both from the dilemma must go to
a great extent to Pitt and his colleagues. They did not originate all
the constructive ideas, especially those relating to the Company, but
they were wise enough to see where the difficulties lay and to adopt
constructive proposals when they were brought forward. Pitt’s policy
was one of financial retrenchment and commercial and industrial ex-
pansion. In these two latter factors we have a basic force which caused
the Pitt administration to favor a commercial embassy to China as part
of a larger project of economic development.

One of his first moves in the re-habilitation of the government and
the Company was the Commutation Act. Its immediate objects, accord-
ing to Pitt, were to protect the government’s revenue and promote the
welfare of the Company by eliminating smuggling.® But, as smuggling
was the source from which so many of the Continental countries drew
the life-blood of their China trade, this statement meant nothing less
than that England aimed to dominate the China trade. Pitt and the
Company were well aware that, if the major portion of the lucrative
China trade could be drawn into the Company’s hands, many of its
financial ills would be relieved, and the government’s revenue in the
end would also be benefited. Both government and Company, in a
systematic way, set about achieving this end.

That England aimed to dominate the China trade is amply testified
to in the documents relating to the Commutation Act, and in subsequent
events. Richardson, in his original proposal of the Commutation Act,
emphasized the fact that, if smuggling were eliminated, the Company
would be able to carry three times as much tea as it then carried ; that,
as foreign trade declined, the Company would be assured of drawing
the residue of the Country trade into its Canton treasury at lower
exchanges, part of which residue was at present obtained by foreign

“Parliamentary History, 1782-83, XX111, 572-82,1193, and XXIV, 165.
@ Ibid., XXIII, 646-47.
® Parliamentary History, 1784, XV, 230-33.
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companies and used to the detriment of the English nation; and that
the trade between India and China would be increased and the whole
of it turned to the benefit of England.” The resolution introduced into
the House of Commons on December 24, 1783, by Eden, Chairman of
the Committee on Smuggling, emphasized the fact that smuggling
threatened the destruction of the revenue and was highly injurious to
regular commerce.”

On February 11, 1784, Henry Beaufoy pointed out to the House
that the Commutation Act involved considerations of highest impor-
tance to the manufacturing and commercial interests of the country,
because at present many seamen and commercial elements of the
country were working against 1t, instead of for it, and were exporting
specie to Europe in return for French manufactures and products of
the East Indies imported in foreign ships.® The third report of the
Committee on Smuggling pointed out that a reduction of the tea duties
would not only relieve the Company but would be a positive advantage
to both the country and the Company by increasing navigation and
stopping the great annual remittance then made to the Continent for
tea.” On May 19 the King’s message proposed “to frame such com-
mercial regulations as may appear immediately necessary.” *

Again on June 18, Eden pointed out that the clandestine trade was
supporting foreign companies in their competition with the Company.
On the 21st, Pitt insisted that the proposed Commutation Act would
benefit the Company and nation by throwing the tea trade into their
hands and by employing twenty more large ships and 2,000 more sea-
men, and that the revenue would be increased with an actual saving to
the public.” Twenty days later, Alderman Watson of London frankly
stated that the Act would strengthen the marine interests of the
country and would enable the Company to defeat its foreign competi-
tors, monopolize the tea trade, and even supplant the foreign companies
in the Continental market.” Later in 1786 Pitt and Francis plainly said

. “I7O, Home Miscellaneous, LXI, 103-111, 140-48; G. L. Staunton, Embassy,
I, 617-23.

“ Commons Journal, 1783, XXXIX, 741.
“ Parliamentary History, 1784, XIII, 104.

“ PP, Reports, 1783-84, VI, No. 60, “Third Report of the Committee on
Illicit Practices.”

® Parliamentary History, 1784, XIV, 4.
“® Parliamentary History, 1784, XV, 225, 230-33.
% Ibid., XVI, 379,
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that the object of the Act had been to secure the China tea trade for

England.”

Whether the government had in mind a great expansion of the sale
of British manufactures in China as a result of the Act, is not shown
in the documents of 1784. On February 6, 1785, however, the super-
cargoes, in commenting upon Richardson’s plan, indicated that a con-
siderable expansion of the woollen trade could now be contemplated “‘as
the decrease of the foreign trade [would] naturally cause a decrease
in the importation of foreign woollens.” ® How the British activity
appeared to the foreigners is well summed up by Major Shaw on
December 20, 1787 :*

In the opinion of judicious observers, the English seem not only to be
aiming at the monopoly of the tea trade to Europe, but to have in view the
exclusive commerce of this division of the globe. The new plan of government
for Bengal and its dependencies,- their late establishments, both to the eastward
and westward,- the prohibition to their subjects in India against selling their
ships to foreigners,- and, in short, their whole conduct, strongly favors the
suspicion.

In carrying out this policy of monopolizing the China trade, and in
order to help finance their increased purchases, the Company began to
dump increased quantities of woollens into the Chinese market. The
number of pieces exported from England to China rose from 28417
in 1783 to 136,050 in 1790. The value of lead exported also rose from
£4,579 in 1783 to £39,452 in 1788, and the exportation of copper was
begun in 1786, and of tin in 1788.* Soon, however, several difficulties
in the way of the complete success of the scheme made themselves
evident. First of all, the government’s revenue from the tea trade de-
clined sharply after the Act. For the five years previous to the Com-
mutation Act, the revenue received from tea had averaged £709,929
per annum. It fell to £324,738 in 1784-85 and to £285,460 in 1785-86
and rose only to £336,095 in 1786-87.“ Although the government was
protected from absolute loss by the window tax, it kept an anxious eye
on the success of the policy.”

" Parliamentary History, 1786-87, XXVI, 159-60, 169.

* CMC, 11, No. 8.

" Shaw's Journal, pp. 250-51.

* Appendices I, II; CMC, X, Nos. 398-99; PP, Accounts and Papers, 1788,
XXI, No. 436.

PP, Accounts and Papers, 1788, XXI, Nos. 483, 484.
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In the second place, the financial situation of the Company did not
improve quickly. Revenues in India did not increase as expected, and
expenditure remained high. Accordingly, the Court of Directors, in
July, 1784, was forced to petition the government for relief from pay-
ing the £300,000 annuity required by the charter bill of 1781. This
payment was also suspended in 1785 and 1786, and in the latter year
the Company also requested permission to increase its capital stock by
£3800,000, making it £4,000,000. The expanding trade of the Company
made necessary this increase in its capital. Before granting these relief
measures, the government forced the Company to accept the limitation
of its dividends to 8 per cent.” At the beginning of the year 1786, the
Company’s bonded debt in England was about £1,993,850 and its debts
in India had been reduced only to £9,264,016, a total of £11,257,866.%

A third important problem arising out of the Commutation Act was
that of finding means to finance the expanded trade. As we have seen,
the Company sent more woollens and lead and began to send copper
and tin, but these were entirely inadequate. The stress upon the finan-
cial machinery of Canton, although shown in most of the communica-
tions of the period, is even better illustrated in the financial status of
the Canton treasury. At the beginning of the season 1784 the treasury
had a credit balance of T. 214,121, at the beginning of the next season
it had a debit balance of T.222,766, in 1786 a debit balance of
T. 864,307, and in 1787 a debit balance of T.914,308.” As soon as the
Commutation Act was passed, the Company wrote to India telling the
Presidencies to give every aid in their power to the Canton factory, but
Madras was helpless. The only help which Bombay could afford was
through slightly increased shipments of cotton on the Company’s ac-
count and the encouragement of larger private shipments in the hope
that the proceeds would find their way into the Company’s treasury.
The situation in Bengal was little better. Bengal allowed bills to be
drawn on itself in 1786, but Cornwallis stopped this at once, and the

only successful help which it could afford was through the medium of
the opium trade.”

At the end of the year 1784, the supercargoes, in a reply to a com-
munication from the Governor General regarding means for helping

“ Parliamentary History, 1783-85, XXIV, 1034-85, 1322-30, 1354: ibid.,
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Canton without embarrassing Bengal, made three suggestions: (1) that
opium should be delivered to Country traders upon their giving bond
that they would pay the produce into the Canton Treasury; (2) that,
if the Bengal government’s financial situation were such that it re-
quired the proceeds of the opium sale in its own treasury, then draw-
backs should be given to those persons who would bind themselves to
pay the proceeds into the Canton Treasury in return for bills on Lon-
don; (3) that, if Bengal had more woollens on hand than were required,
they should be sent to Canton.”

On April 29, 1785, the Governor General and Council wrote to the
Directors that they had advertised the sale of opium in November
upon terms which would require the money received from it to be paid
into the Canton Treasury, and suggested three methods whereby the opi-
um trade could be made to supply Canton. They first proposed the crea-
tion of an Opium Corporation to control production and exportation.
It should establish a distributing center in the East and be required to
pay at least $800,000 per year into the Canton Treasury in return for
bills on London. The second proposal was to maintain a monopoly of
the trade as at present but for the Company to establish distributing
bases at Batavia, Rhio, and possibly Macao, whose agents would pay
the proceeds into the Canton Treasury. The third proposal was to sell
opium only to persons who would give security for paying the proceeds
from its sale into the Canton Treasury. This latter proposal, which the
Court and Board of Control ultimately approved, was adopted as a
working basis until instructions were received from London.*”

Increased supplies of pepper were also sent from Benkulen to China,
and bonds were issued at Canton. The supercargoes were able to get
increased sums from the Country trade and to draw remittances out
of the hands of foreign companies by offering bills on London at 5/6
per dollar. The total sums received at Canton in the form of bills,
certificates, and bonds rose from T. 576,393 in 1784 to T. 2,889,452 in
1787. In spite of all these efforts the Company was forced to export
enormous sums in bullion from England— £704,254 in 1785, £694,962
in 1786, and £626,897 in 1787—and this large exportation aroused the
opposition of certain members of Parliament in 1786.® But all efforts
seemed to be insufficient. The debit balance steadily grew at Canton,
and, if the Chinese merchants had not been willing to extend credit, the

*IOCCC, LXXIX, 115.
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increasing investments could never have been made. Thus at the begin-
ning of the year 1787 in England it looked very much as if the attempt
to monopolize the China trade was to be frustrated through inability
to finance it.

A fourth disturbing element in 1787 was the continuation of foreign
competition. In 1783-84 foreign competition had reached its zenith
when twenty-one ships had exported 19,072,300 1bs. of tea, but in 1787
thirteen ships exported 13,578,000 lbs. of tea, and it was not until 1790
that the exportation of tea by Continental countries fell below the
three million pound mark.” Nor were the reports sent home by the
supercargoes encouraging. Thus in 1786 the supercargoes wrote: “The
competition of Foreigners is not yet diminished, notwithstanding the
alterations which have taken place in the Duties on Tea.” The letters
also complaiged of high prices because of the foreign competition and
the high prices demanded by the inland tea merchants.” The creation
in 1785 of a new Compagnic des Indes also indicated that France at
least was preparing to keep up the competition; and on February 16,
1787, the supercargoes wrote home telling of the arrival of the French
mission from Pondicherry under D’Entrecasteaux with the object of
improving French trade with China and, as they thought, the establish-
ment of a commercial base in Cochin China.”

The government and Parliament were keeping an eye on the China
trade, as can be judged from the numerous papers submitted to Parlia-
ment relating to China. These papers showed the continuation of foreign
competition, the difficulties in obtaining good teas at low prices, the
quantities of tea imported, sold, and the duties realized, and the great
difficulties which the supercargoes and the Indian Presidencies were
having in providing Canton with cash.” Altogether the reports from
China suggested to the government the advisability of taking measures
which would aid the Company in supplying funds and still further
handicap the Continental companies in their competition.

Other disturbing news was received from Canton which showed
the general unsatisfactory nature of the system and of trade. Activities
of the Co-hong in lowering prices on imports and raising prices on
exports were reported ; difficulties were encountered in finding a ready

* Milburn, Oriental Commerce, 11, 486.

® PP, Accounts and Papers, 1788, XXI, No. 465.

*Ibid.; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 134.
_ ""PP, Accounts and Papers, 1785, No. 72; ibid., 1786, X, Nos. 154, 158-63;
tbid., 1787, XVII, Nos. 334, 354, 372, 403, 406.
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market for the increased quantities of woollens and lead ; the officials
tried to force the supercargoes to do business with Eequa, a merchant
whom they could not depend on, and the supercargoes were especially
annoyed by the limitation of the shipment of silk to 100 piculs per ship
and by the stopping of trade several times during 1785 and 1786.°

At the same moment that these discouraging and alarming reports
were arriving from China, the rapidly expanding cotton industry was
beginning to bring pressure to bear on the government to afford it more
protection and encouragement. The cotton manufacturers objected to
the importation of Indian and Chinese cotton materials, and they
wanted new markets. Already in 1787 the first signs of the cotton trade
crisis of 1788 were beginning to show themselves and made the manu-
facturers more solicitous of advantage than ever.®* They received their
first great boon in the Eden free trade treaty with France, signed on
September 26, 1786. The treaty also was a step in the government’s
general policy of industrial and commercial expansion and a part of
the scheme for monopolizing the China trade as it made for freer entry
into France of East India products (calicoes and silks excluded)
brought by the Company to England and re-exported.”

Altogether the situation in regard to the China trade, as it appeared
to observers in England at the beginning of the year 1787, was not
especially encouraging. The government’s revenue from the trade was
not increasing as anticipated ; the Company’s finances were still in an
unsatisfactory condition; foreign competition was still strong, and
rumors of French designs were current ; the Company was having dif-
ficulties in raising money to finance the trade, and the exportation of
bullion was arousing criticism; British goods were not selling well in
China, and teas and silks of good quality were hard to get at reasonable
prices; the China trade, always dependent upon the caprice of the
officials, was now also dependent upon the confidence of the merchants
who were extending credit to the Company ; at home, industrial inter-
ests were attacking the Company and demanding a market for goods
which could not be sold at Canton.

Under such circumstances, it is not surprising that both the Com-
pany and the government should turn their thoughts to an embassy,
which, by direct appeal to Peking, might put the China trade on a treaty

® Morse, Chronicle, 11, Chaps. 39-41, especially pp. 726-98, 110-11, 120, 126-31.

® Commons Journal, 1780-82, XXXVIII, 893; Mantoux, op cst., pp. 262-63;
Ellison, op. cit., pp. SOff.

" Parliamentary History, 1786-88, XX V1, 233-54, 267-72.
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basis and open new ports to trade where the Company could get a ready
supply of tea and silk at lower prices and where English produce might
find a more ready outlet. Thus the pressure at home would be relieved,
and the Company’s financial problems in China would be solved. Such
a treaty would give the English an advantage in the China trade and
insure the defeat of their rivals. Finally, an expanded trade would also
benefit the government’s revenue.

3. Treatment of H. M. Ships and the Activity of Country Ships in
China (1765-1785).

In Chapter II the generally unsatisfactory nature of the Canton
system was pointed out, and in the previous sections of this chapter
various events in the commercial sphere, which aroused concern in
England and tended to encourage the sending of a British mission to
China, have been discussed. In this and the following sections, atten-
tion is called to a number of semi-diplomatic events, culminating in the
Lady Hughes affair, which illustrated the uneasy footing on which
English relations with China rested, and which directly indicated the
advisability of an attempt to put Anglo-Chinese relations upon a treaty
basis.

The first of these events group themselves about the treatment of
H.M. ships. As noted earlier, the Chinese forbade foreign ships of war
to enter the Bogue. Warships were forced to anchor alongside Lintin
Island or in Chuenpi anchorage, where. the situation for re-fitting,
careening, and provisioning was unsatisfactory. If H. M. ships were
permitted to proceed to Whampoa, the Chinese insisted on treating
them as merchant ships and measuring them, a procedure which was,
according to Furopean opinion, disrespectful to men-of-war and which
was invariably opposed by their commanders, often to the detriment of
trade.

In March, 1765, H.M.S. Argo arrived at Whampoa from Calcutta
with ten lakhs of rupees on board. She was allowed to remain quietly
at Whampoa, until after the first tea contracts were made late in April.
The Hoppo then informed the supercargoes that he intended to measure
the ship. To this Captain Affleck denied his consent, but the Hoppo re-
fused to dispense with the measuring. In consequence, trade was stop-
ped, and on June 27 Captain Affleck sent a protest to the Viceroy
giving reasons for his refusal, and claiming the same privileges as those
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granted the H.M.S. Centurion in 1741-42" In reply the officials pointed
out that the former ship had “put into Port through stress of weather,”
whereas the Argo “brought money on a mercantile account,” in which
latter case there was no justification for dispensing with the measuring.”

On July 12 the supercargoes wrote to Captain Affleck indicating
that their trade was being seriously injured by his refusal to allow the
ship to be measured, and that the officials threatened to report the
matter to Peking, an action that might lead to the ruin of a number of
Hong merchants or the permanent cessation of trade. They requested
him to allow the ship to be measured. Since the existence of the trade
was endangered, Captain Affleck gave up the point, and the ship was
measured.”

On September 16, 1776, HM.S. Sea Horse arrived at Macao from
Madras with nine lakhs of rupees. Captain Farmer demanded the status
of a King’s ship and offered to allow the Chinese to examine the vessel,
but refused to allow her to be measured. On the 21st she passed the
Bogue to avoid the danger of typhoons. The Chinese officials assumed
an “attitude of passive resistance and covert hostility,” and refused to
give her a pilot, to supply her with fresh provisions and water, or to
grant a chop for the unloading of the treasure. She remained at the
second bar until October 17, when, at the measuring of the Norfolk,
the supercargoes apologized to the Hoppo about some other difficulties.
This put him in such a good humor that he told them he would not
“demand a Dollar for the measurage and usual Presents for the Man-
of-War,” and on the 25th a chop for unloading the treasure was issued.
By keeping the ship at the second bar, the captain had avoided the
problem of measuring, but the favorable settlement of the whole affair
depended upon the whim of the Hoppo.™

The outbreak of war between France and England in 1778 brought
a number of King’s ships into Chinese waters to act as convoys to the
Indiamen. The Sea Horse was at Canton again in September, 1778,
with treasure from Madras, but she apparently remained outside
Whampoa and difficulties were avoided. In December, 1779, H.M.S.
Resolution and Discovery arrived in a disabled condition from the

" The Centurion, after a great deal of difficulty, was allowed to proceed to
Whampoa to be re-fitted without being measured, supra, p. 116.

" Morse, Chronicle, V, 127-30; Auber, op. cit., p. 176; Eames, op. cit.,, pp. 90-
91; Martin, China, II, 15; Morse, International Relations, 1, 97.

* Morse, Chronicle, V, 128-29.

" Morse, Chronicle, 11, 19-22.
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Cape of Good Hope. They remained outside of Whampoa and were
granted facilities for careening, re-fitting, and provisioning. The Sea
Horse was this year again at Canton, bearing the memorial which Cap-
tain Panton delivered to the Viceroy. She appears to have remained
outside the second bar, as she did also in 1780."

Although no difficulties were created by these latter H.M. ships,
the circumstance of their being forced to remain outside Whampoa
was most unsatisfactory so far as the English were concerned. If
necessity required that King’s ships proceed to Whampoa, there was
always the certainty that the Chinese would demand to measure them,
and the refusal of this demand would lead to a temporary embarrass-
ment of trade and perhaps to its total annihilation. Such circumstances
were not pleasing to the world’s greatest sea power.

The war also led to other events which demonstrated the unsatis-
factory nature of the British situation in China, and brought out
clearly the difficulties arising through the absence of an official repre-
sentative in China with power to command all British subjects. For
several years prior to 1781 Country ships had come laden with goods,
paid their receipts into the Company’s treasury, and departed without
cargoes. This was in violation of Chinese law, which required ships
to carry away cargoes paying duties equal in amount to the duties on
their imported cargoes. In 1781 a number of Country ships were em-
ployed by the Portuguese to carry Dutch goods from Macao to Batavia.
The Chinese protested against their leaving Whampoa without cargoes,
and the Hoppo directed a very abusive communication to the Company’s
supercargoes ordering them to put a stop to the practice or be held
responsible for the duties on such ships and not to receive further
money from Country traders.”

This demand was especially dangerous because the supercargoes
had no means of forcing the Country ships to do their bidding, and
further, because the success of their own trade depended upon the
receipt of money from the Country trade. They wrote to the Court of
Directors complaining of their inability to control the Country ships.
The situation was further complicated by the piratical activities of Cap-
tain John McClary, commanding the Country ship Dadoloy of Bengal.
On May 20, 1781, Captain McClary seized a sloop near Macao which
he suspected of being Spanish property, but upon going to Macao he

" Ibid., 11, 36, 43, 47, 49, 51, 56.
" Morse, Chronicle, 11, 62-63.
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was seized, thrown into prison, and forced to pay $70,000 by the Portu-
guese officials before he was released. Angered by this, he proceeded
to Whampoa, where, on August 17, he seized the Dutch Country ship
Felix. McClary made preparations to take the prize from Whampoa
by force, but the Chinese assembled troops to resist such action. It
was finally arranged that the prize crew should abandon the ship, and
the “Chinese gallantly invaded the prize, which was thus rescued from
the pirate’s hands.” " In reward for his condescension Captain McClary
was allowed to keep a chest of pearls and gold valued at 89,128 rupees.

During the course of the episode the Governor demanded that the

supercargoes compel McClary to make restitution, to give compensation,
and to keep the peace in the future. Upon being informed that they had
no power to control Country ships or private merchants, the Governor
called the English “a lying and troublesome People,” blamed the super-
cargoes for McClary’s activities, and announced that they would be held
responsible in the future for the misdeeds of all English. Vexed by
their situation, the supercargoes wrote to the Court:
We have many times seen the whole Trade of the Company under an Embargo
on the most trifling pretence; and we think it may hereafter suffer the most
material detriment; from the Wickedness or Folly of Country Commanders . ..
These [the mandarins] sometimes permit to pass unnoticed; & sometimes make
it a pretence for oppressing the Hong Merchants: but when it becomes a matter
of too great magnitude to be passed over, the Company are [sic] held re-
sponsible.”

The next year, 1782, Captain McClary, in company with the Death
and Glory privateer, seized two ships from Macao, and also plundered
a Chinese junk near Banka belonging to Chowqua, one of the principal
Hong merchants. McClary did not come to Canton, but the officials,
fearing that he might come, instructed the supercargoes to keep Mc-
Clary’s ship away and to keep their own warships from coming to
Whampoa, upon pain of being severely punished. The Portuguese,
Dutch, and Hong merchants put in claims against McClary, which the
supercargoes referred to the Governor-General, who in 1783 fiad
McClary arrested. But he was released, as there were ‘“no valid grounds
for a criminal indictment,” although the Governor-General promised to
afford every assistance to the aggrieved parties if they wished to carry
on civil suit against McClary.”

" Morse, Chronicle, 11, 63-64.

"™ Ibid., 11, 65.
™ Morse, Chronicle, 11, 79-80, 86-87.
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In view of these circumstances the Chinese became very cautious
about allowing any ships without cargoes to proceed to Whampoa. The
Company’s gun-brig Rodney and dispatch vessel Fox, which were con-
voying the ships, were forced to remain at Macao in 1781. In 1783
the supercargoes had great difficulty in obtaining permission for the
Company’s packet Antelope, which arrived in a damaged condition, to
receive provisions and supplies even outside the Bogue and at Macao.”
The whole situation was fraught with danger both to the Company’s
trade and to the Country trade, and the Court of Directors took steps
to increase the powers of the supercargoes over Country and Private
traders.

On December 11, 1781, a general commission was sent out empow-
ering the supercargoes to seize persons residing in China contrary to
the Company’s wishes and in violation of their covenants with the
Company.” On December 24, 1782, the Company’s Counsel delivered
an opinion relative to the McClary case, stating that the Company’s
servants would have been justified in using force to aid the Chinese
magistrates in seizing McClary. In consequence, orders were sent out
in 1783, 1784 and 1785 directing the supercargoes to exercise a strict
control over Country traders and to proceed against persons residing
in China contrary to the Company’s charter.”” In view of these orders,
the supercargoes, in 1785, detained Captain Richardson of the Country
ship Bellona until he paid the port duties.

In 1786 the Company was able to get a statute passed by Parliament
vesting in the supercargoes all powers relative to the control over
“private English” which were possessed by the Court of Directors.”
The whole matter of jurisdiction over “private English” and especially
the McClary case came under a careful review by the Board of Control
late in 1785,” which leads one to believe that the difficulties created by the
lack of competent official jurisdiction over British subjects in China
were important considerations in the minds of governmental officials
when the decision was taken to send an embassy to China. Support is
lent to this belief by a sentence in Colonel Cathcart’s instructions, which

% Ibid., pp. 81, 87
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stated that if a cession of territory were obtained from China “compe-
tent Powers would of course be given from our own Legislature, so as
effectually to prevent or punish the Disorders of Our People, which
the Company’s supra cargoes in their limited Sphere of Action must
see committed with impunity.” *

4. The Question of Criminal Jurisdiction: the Lady Hughes Affair
(1772-1785).

The events which most impressed upon the Company and govern-
ment the desirability of putting their relations with China on a treaty
basis were connected with the problem of criminal jurisdiction. The
question of submitting foreigners to Chinese law had been a moot point
throughout the eighteenth century, but the whole question was brought
to a head by the execution of Europeans in 1773, 1780, 1783, and 1785.
On December 17, 1772, a Chinese was wounded in an affray between
the sailors of the Lord Camden and some natives. The pilot’s chop
for the ship was held up for nineteen days, but the recovery of the
injured person prevented serious trouble.”

Late in the same year a Chinese was killed at Macao; an English-
man, Francis Scott, was charged with the murder. The Portuguese
trial completely exculpated him, but the Chinese threatened dire venge-
ance upon Macao if he were not given up. Early in 1773 he was sur-
rendered to the Chinese, by whom he was tried, convicted, and exe-
cuted, although there was not the slightest evidence of his guilt. This
was the first execution of an Englishman by the Chinese, and it was
considered a bad precedent.”

In 1780 there were several affrays between sailors of different
nationalities at Canton, and in one a French seasan killed a Portuguese
sailor belonging to the Stormont. The murderer took refuge in the
French Consulate, where he remained for many days, but after some
negotiation and serious threats by the Chinese he was surrendered. On
the morning of December 14, 1780, he was publicly strangled, and the
Select Committee commented upon the execution in the following
manner :

* Morse, Chronicle, 11, 165.

* Morse, Chronicle, V, 173-75: Davis, Chinese (1836), I, 60; Auber, op. cit.,
p. 178; Eames, op. cit., p. 94.

% Morse, Chronicle, V, 182-85 and International Relations, 1, 101-102; Davis,
Chinese (1836), I, 61; Eames, op. cit., p. 94.
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This is the first instance of one European being executed for the murder of
another, in this Country, and appears to be a very dangerous Precedent; as it
may involve Europeans in inextricable difficulties; if even by accident one man
should kill another. The man executed today could have had no trial of com-
mon justice.®

On February 23, 1782, a twelve-year-old boy accidentally shot a
Chinese with a gun which he had secured to frighten a man who was
throwing crackers at him. Because of being under the age of responsi-
bility, the boy was freed. A year later a Portuguese at Macao stabbed a
Chinese, and after much controversy he was publicly shot by the Portu-
guese under the supervision of Chinese officials." These cases served
to show the determination of the mandarins to apply Chinese law to
foreigners and to put the European community in a state of chronic
fear. The crisis which had been brewing in the events of the past fifteen
years came to a head in the Lady Hughes affair of 1784-85.

The Lady Hughes was a Country ship from Bombay commanded
by Captain W. Williams; her supercargo was George Smith. On No-
vember 24, 1784, when she fired a salute, three minor mandarins in a
chop boat alongside were so severely injured that one died on the fol-
lowing day, and a second died shortly. On November 25, W. H. Pigou,
the British chief, was informed by minor officials that the gunner
should be sent to Canton to be examined. The Chinese implied that
it was not a capital offense and that the person would be released after
a public examination. The supercargoes, however—remembering the
fate of the Frenchman in 1780, having been told that the gunner had
absconded, and thinking that someone else would have to take his
place—proposed that the examination be held in the factories.”

On November 26 the mandarins called again to urge the surrender
of the man. Puankhequa, talking for them, said that no official com-
petent to try the case would come to the factories, that the man must
appear before the Governor’s tribunal, and that if the man were brought
to the factories the officials would come with men and seize him. The
supercargoes replied that they would not allow armed men to enter
the factories, and the merchants and officials retired after requesting

% CMC, II, No. 2; Morse, Chronicle, II, 59-60; Martin, op. cit., 1I, 15-16;
Auber, op cit., p. 181; Eames, op. cit., pp. 95-96.
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that Smith should not leave the factories for several days. At eleven
o’clock in the evening they returned to say that the mandarins had
agreed that the examination should be held in the factories under the
direction of the Namhoi Hien without military escort.

The next day the supercargoes were alarmed to hear that Smith
had been lured from the factory, seized, and carried into the city under
a guard of soldiers. Furthermore, trade was stopped, the linguists and
merchants were nowhere to be found, and all avenues leading to the
quay were barricaded and filled with soldiers. It was obvious that the
Chinese were planning to apply pressure to bring about compliance with
their demands. The British, supported by the French, Dutch, Danes,
and Americans, determined to resist such pressure and to prevent such
a dangerous precedent being established by its success. Despite a mes-
senger from the Governor saying that he merely wished to question
Smith and that he would be released in a short time, the supercargoes
of all nations ordered their ships’ pinnaces manned, armed, and sent
up to the factories.

Later in the evening a minor mandarin came with a mandate from
the Governor saying that the guilty person must appear before him for
examination, that the foreigners should not resist Chinese law, that
Smith had promised to write to Whampoa to demand the gunner,
that Smith would be released as soon as the gunner arrived, and that
if they resisted he would surround them with troops and cut off their
retreat. On November 28 all the nations united in sending a letter to
the Governor by the Hong merchants, requesting the release of Smith.
In reply the Governor requested a conference with the nations other
than the English who had signed the letter. He expressed surprise at
their joining the English and tried to get them to abandon the English.
They refused to do this, because they felt that the cause of the Eng-
lish was their cause in such affairs. The Governor said that he did not
wish to punish all the foreigners and told them if a man were sur-
rendered the whole affair would be ended. In the meantime the fac-
tories had been surrounded by troops and armed boats and all routes
of escape blocked.

The Governor was so much upset by the united opposition of the
foreigners that he would gladly have settled the matter, but he had gone
so far that he now could not withdraw and save his face. At ten o’clock
in the evening a linguist arrived with a letter from Smith to Captain
Williams, directing that the gunner or someone else be sent to the fac-
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tory to be examined, and that the ship should under no circumstances
leave the port until the affair was settled. Captain Mackintosh was
sent with the linguist to see that the message was delivered to the Cap-
tain of the Lady Hughes. He departed with orders to demand of Cap-
tain Williams the surrender of the man, and if the Lady Hughes should
attempt to sail, to prevent it by such methods as he deemed proper.

On November 30 a conference was held with the mandarins during
which Galbert, a Frenchman, acted as interpreter. The supercargoes
indicated their fears that the gunner had escaped on Le Necker, which
had sailed the day after Smith was seized. After abusing them for
deception, the mandarins said that if the man were not delivered sup-
plies would be stopped, trade suspended, and the ships not permitted
to return to England. The supercargoes offered to send down several
boats with men to search all the ships for the gunner. The mandarins
were pleased by this and desired that five boats be sent, but that Pigou
remain at the factory. The mandarins also said that the affair must be
settled in two days or Smith would be held. The supercargoes seized
this opportunity of freeing themselves of further responsibilty by
recommending him to the benevolence of the Chinese. Captain Stephen
Williams was sent to bring back the unfortunate gunner if he could be
found and the commander of the ship prevailed upon to give him up.
The supercargoes also seized this occasion to send back most of the
armed guard.

Hardly had Captain Williams departed when Captain Mackintosh
arrived with the gunner, who had remained on the Lady Hughes during
the entire affair. The supercargoes of all nations sent a request to the
Governor that the gunner be treated with clemency as the whole affair
was an accident. The mandarins told them that there was no cause for
worry about his fate, and that nothing would be done until the Emper-
or’s decision was received. Smith, who returned in about an hour after
the man was surrendered, reported that he had been well treated. In
their account of the affair in a letter of December 9, the supercargoes
stated that it was obvious that the Chinese had intended to seize the
British chief had Smith’s detention proved ineffective. They also re-
quested that their powers over the officers of Country ships and Country
traders be more clearly defined.

Trade was re-opened on December 6, and the Lady Hughes sailed
the next day. No more was heard of the matter until January 8, 1785,
when the supercargoes were summoned before the Provincial Judge.
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He gave them a lecture on the graciousness of the Emperor, who, he
said, was much displeased by their actions; and he further told them
that they must submit to the Imperial decision, which was especially
moderate in demanding but one life for two. Shortly afterwards they
learned that the man had been strangled at about the same time they
were receiving this harangue.

This termination of the affair threw the foreign commun.lty into a
fit of terror, and the supercargoes wrote very gloomy letters to the
Court relative to the future of the trade and to the disagreeable situa-
tion of foreigners in China. On February 5, 1785, they commented in
detail upon the injustice of the affair and the ill which it forebode.
They pointed out that a similar incident might place them in a state of
personal danger from which “we shall not be able to extricate ourselves
. . . without doing that, which must for ever disgrace us, or abandoning
this important commerce.” They continued with an account of the ex-
ecution of the Frenchman in 1780 and other illustrations from Chinese
judicial methods which showed that in “case of death a man must be
given up . . . or if he be refused the Supra Cargo of the Ship, or Chief
of the Nation must answer for his crime. . . . This appears so reason-
able to the Chinese that we believe no Magistrate can ever recede from
it.” They further suggested that if similar incidents occurred in the
future, their only recourse would be to retire to their ships and quit the
port, which might lead the Chinese to prohibit trade.”

The indignities we personally suffer:- the vexations and impediments in our
business; we have been taught by gradual encroachment to bear:- but if the
Trade be once lost; and the necessities of England oblige her to regain it; we
apprehend it can be done only by a submission, that must be disgraceful; or by
the use of force, which however successful, must be productive of very scrious
calamities.- We think that no application to the Chinese Government for any, the
most reasonable privilege would be successful unless made in a manner that
would awe them: The Privilege with respect to their administration of justice
should be, we think, that in case of Murder, the perpetrator should be tried by
us, in the presence of a Chinese Magistrate: that if he be found guilty, he should
be delivered up; but if innocent that we should be allowed to protect him —
Should the act prove to be only Manslaughter that they agree to some adequate
punishment, such as imprisonment for a year, or whatever else may be previously
regulated between us:- that in case the delinquents have really escaped, no substi-
tute shall be demanded; but that they will trust us in making the most diligent
search for him; or assisting them to do it; . . .

“TOCCC, LXXIX, 169-74 and for other comments on the affair 102-05, 108,
153-57 ; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 105-07.
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The Foreign Nations we understand, have made similar representations to
their superiors — they have considered this from the beginning a common
cause — and feel with us how exposed the situation of all Europeans is at this
Port.

Not being content with these recommendations, the supercargoes,
in a letter to William Richardson on February 6, after commenting
upon the possibilities of the proposed Commutation Act and the finan-
cial difficulties in the way of its success, continued, “Among other Con-
siderations respecting this trade it is much to be lamented that it is not,
independent of mere Commercial reasons, on more secure & permanent
footing” as the Lady Hughes affair clearly indicated.” Should

the Honble. Court determine in consequence to take some measures for our
Security & protection it must be considered as a first principle that no Person
sent in the name of the Company only will be of sufiicient weight to effect the
Purpose; they must procure a respectable person to be sent in ye King's name
who should have force sufficient to secure himself from insult & after stopping
at Macao to communicate with the Council, should proceed directly to the
nearest Port to Pekin where only he can attract the notice of the Court & be
secure from the misrepresentations of provincial Mandarins; . . . Whether any-
thing will be done or not, we think the Council cannot in justice be censured
for Communicating their apprchensions of danger which self interestedness
might have concealed till some unfortunate accident should make it apparent &
the consequences irremediable: let us hope too that it shall not be called an
unnecessary alarm proceeding from premature & groundless fear, which is in
reality the effect of the most certain conviction & assurances but too well
founded.

In its reply of February 24, 1786, the Court censured the super-
cargoes for their conduct in the affair and told them that resistance to
the Chinese government was useless, that they had absolute power to
seize Private traders and jurisdiction over Country ships, that in cases
of accidental death they were to apply to the Hong merchants to settle
the affair by financial means, and that in the cases of murder they were
to aid the Chinese officials in apprehending the criminal.” Measures
were, nevertheless, set on foot in England to carry out the recommenda-
tions of the supercargoes.

® CMC, VIII, No. 2.

* CMD, III, Court to supercargoes, Feb. 24, 1786; Auber, op. cit., pp. 188-91;
Eames, op. cit., p. 97.
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5. Growing Connections between India and China: the Smith-Dundas
Correspondence (1774-1786).

Besides the events already mentioned, the growing political and
commercial connections between India and China were additional con-
siderations, causing the government to decide to send an embassy to
Peking. The expansion of British power in India brought them into
contact with Nepal and Tibet. Nepal, which was ruled by a Goorkha
tribe allied with Tibet, was in a constant internal turmoil which en-
dangered good relations with India, and the Governor-General of India
was interested in opening commercial relations with Tibet. In 1772 a
Goorkha tribe invaded Behar, and in response to an appeal from the
Rajah, Warren Hastings sent into the country a force which repelled
the invaders. The Dalai Lama, religious ruler of Tibet, thereupon
wrote a letter to Warren Hastings interceding in behalf of the Goork-
has. Hastings seized the opportunity to send a mission to Lhasa with
the object of opening commercial relations. The mission set out in
1774 and returned in 1775 without having accomplished anything
definite.”

The Dalai Lama, however, was very friendly, and when he went
to Peking in 1779, he called the Emperor’s attention to his friend,
Warren Hastings, whom he wished the Emperor to know and be
friendly with. The Emperor promised to write a letter to Hastings in
such a vein as the Lama might suggest. The Lama, however, died of
smallpox in 1780 at Peking and so this attempt of Hastings to open a
commercial connection with China through Tibet and Nepal failed.
In 1782 Hastings dispatched Captain Turner to see the new Lama, and
to attempt the opening of intercourse. He was well received, and re-
mained for about a year at Lhasa, but satisfactory relations were not
established. Thus the situation remained when Hastings’ governorship
ended in 1785.*

The commercial connections between India and Canton were also
assuming such proportions that they could not lightly be jeopardized.
The expansion of this trade in merchandise from T. 352,500 in 1764
to T.1912,940 in 1785 has already been noted. At the same time the
opium trade was growing steadily and was becoming one of the Bengal
government’s most valuable sources of revenue. The net revenue de-
rived from the opium monopoly, amounting to 125,453 current rupees

“R..S. Gundry, China and Her Neighbors (London, 1893), pp. 324-30.
% Ibid., pp. 329-30; CMC, II, Nos. 5, 7.
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in 1774-75, rose to 1,172,326 current rupees in 1786-87.* The opium
trade, however, had to be carried on by smuggling, and the Indian gov-
ernment would have favored any change in the nature of British com-
mercial connections with China which would have made the trade easier
to conduct. The importance of Indian considerations in bringing about
the embassy is testified to by a sentence in Colonel Cathcart’s instruc-
tions, which says that the prosperity of India “would be promoted by
procuring a secure vent for [its] Products and Manufactures in the
extensive Empire of China, at the same time that the Produce of such
Sales would furnish Resources for the Investment to Europe.” ™

The creation of the Board of Control in 1784 was a further link in
establishing closer connections between affairs in India and China. The
Board was a definite organ of government to deal with the affairs of
the Company and with British affairs in the East. Henry Dundas, its
most active member and admittedly the authority upon Eastern affairs
in the Pitt Government, was well acquainted with commercial and politi-
cal matters affecting the Company’s affairs in India and China. He
understood the commercial connections between the Country trade and
the financing of the Company’s trade ; he aimed to use the China trade
as a means of remitting home both the excess territorial revenue of
India and the accumulated private fortunes in India, and above all he

wanted to promote the progress of British commerce in India and
China.®

Not content with the information which he could demand from the
Company, Dundas had private agents in India and China to collect in-
formation for him, among whom was the Country trader George Smith
of Kingston, Surrey. On February 16, 1783, Smith wrote to Dundas
outlining a plan “for the better vegetation of the Company’s trade with
China” and of the Country trade. He pointed out the precarious situa-
tion of the Company’s trade with China, which was dependent upon
the sufferance of the mandarins, and the great injury which had recently
been done to Country merchants through the unjust debt settlement.
He considered this a matter of national concern, believed that if Peking
were accurately informed of the state of affairs justice would be done,

PP, Sessional Reports, Papers, etc., 1810, V, No. 363, pp. 80-81.
" Morse, Chronicle, 11, 160.

® Papers Respecting the Negotiation for the Renewal of the Company's
Charter, 1793, April 23, 1793, Section XXI1I, Dundas’ proposals.
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and proposed that a British embassy be sent to Peking at the expense
of the Company. Its objects should be:”

(1) A treaty of friendship and commerce, and permission to trade at Amoy
and Ningpo;

(2) The extension of the sale of British manufactures, woollens, and firearms
in China;

(3) The abolition of the 1950 taels cumshaw, and a clear statement of the
Imperial duties;

(4) The establishment of standard prices for imports and exports on the basis
of averages of the previous ten years, seasonal variations thus being
eliminated.

(5) The recognition and enforcement by the Chinese government of contracts
legally entered into by the Chinese merchants;

(6) A secret offensive and defensive alliance against France and Russia.

Once such a treaty were concluded, the supercargoes should be in-
structed to enter into contracts with the Chinese merchants for all the
tea to be exported from China. Such a procedure would insure to the
Company a complete monopoly of the China trade and compel other
European countries to purchase their teas and China goods from Lon-
don; it would forestall the attempts of America to trade with China,
and it would open the Chinese market for British goods, especially
woollens and firearms, where an indefinite expansion might be expected.

Leaving the proposal to the consideration of Dundas, Smith sailed
for India and China. On November 26, 1786, at Canton, he wrote to
Dundas dwelling upon the possibilities of expanding British trade
(especially in woollens) with China; the advantages to India of an in-
creased trade ;measures to be pursued to supply the Canton treasury with
cash (he suggested bills on Bengal) and to draw the trade away from
foreign countries. He discussed at great length the restraints on trade,
the growing impositions of the mandarins upon the Chinese merchants
and foreigners, the steady increase of prices, and the general insecurity
of the trade. He concluded: “and should these grievances be continued
the Trade of this Country so very beneficial to us, must be greatly
clogged, for which reason it appears to me Sir, that nothing less than
an Embassy can remove the Evils now so justly complained of.” '
In a letter of December 12, 1786, he proposed that the Company’s chief
supercargo should be commissioned H.M. Consul, with full power to

*10, Home Miscellaneous, CCCCXXXIV, 15f.
@ 10C, XIX, Smith to Dundas, Nov. 26, 1786.
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control British subjects.” It is not impossible that these last two letters
reached Dundas before actual steps had been taken to send the Cathcart
Embassy, and if so they doubtless served as the final deciding factor
in causing the government to send an embassy to China.

6. Conclusion and Summary.

The events in China between the years 1757 and 1761 confined
foreign trade to the single port of Canton under very odious and re-
straining conditions, sanctioned and legalized by Imperial decree. The
restrictions made impossible a satisfactory expansion of trade, the
Imperial decree made change impossible except by appeal to Peking,
and the Skottowe mission from the Court of Directors in 1761 showed
the impossibility of change through the agency of a commercial mission
sent by the Company. For a time the English were content to let mat-
ters stand as they were, attempting as best they might to resist the
activities of the Co-hong and the impositions of the mandarins.

The abolition of the Co-hong in 1771 was hailed as a great achieve-
ment, but in reality it made certain the bankruptcy of a number of the
Hong merchants, a situation that led to the crisis of 1779 and 1780.
The final result of this crisis was the serious injury of the trade by the
reduction of the number of merchants, the annoyance of the mandarins
at Canton and Peking, the clear demonstration of the futility of and
damage done by the interference of naval officers, the arousing of the
Country merchants who demanded redress and an embassy to China,
the establishment of the Consoo levy on trade, and the re-establishment
of the Co-hong under official control with power to ‘fix prices at will.

With the passage of the Commutation Act of 1784 to relieve the
Company and government of financial distress, they embarked upon an
active policy of monopolizing the China trade and making London the
emporium for Asiatic trade. The success of this policy was endangered
by the restraints and restrictions at Canton which at times threatened
the very existence of the trade, by the apparent determination of for-
eign nations,to take measures to counteract the British move, by the
increase of prices at Canton and the difficulties of getting satisfactory
goods, by the unrestrained activities of Country merchants, and by the

great difficulty which the Company encountered in getting cash to
finance the trade.

" Ibid.,, XIX, Smith to Dundas, Dec. 12, 1786.
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The government’s attention had been called to Chinese affairs not
only by the Commutation Act, the debts controversy, and the proposals
of an embassy by the creditors, but by the various incidents relating to
the treatment of H.M. ships, by the difficulties and dangers created at
Canton through the irresponsible acts of Country traders, by the several
executions of foreigners under conditions which violated European
ideas of justice, and by the growing connections between India and
China. Furthermore, the chief member of the Board of Control, who
was especially ambitious to do something startling in Eastern affairs,
had received private information as to how the China trade could be
improved through the sending of an embassy. This long train of events
and the extensive list of objections to the system at Canton were
brought to a focus by the Lady Hughes affair, which filled the super-
cargoes with fear and dismay and seemed to threaten the very existence
of the trade which the English were trying to monopolize.

In their letters to Richardson and the Court of Directors in Feb-
ruary, 1785, the supercargoes linked the continuance of the trade and
the success of the Commutation Act with an embassy which should
procure enlarged commercial privileges, the rights of extraterritorial
jurisdiction, the abolition of existing abuses, and security for the
future. At the same time interests at home demanded expanded mar-
kets, and the government needed more revenue. Reports from China
relating to the seasons of 1785-86 and 1786-87 were not encouraging
from a commercial point of view, and many minor difficulties with the
merchants and officials did not relieve the fear for the security of the
foreign community and for the trade, a fear that had been created by
the Lady Hughes affair. The outlook for the future of the China trade
and the success of the Commutation Act appeared so black in England
during the winter of 1786-87 that, considering the fact that informed
persons believed the Emperor would remedy the situation if he knew
the real state of affairs, it is little wonder that both Company and
government turned their attentions to an embassy, as the only means
of securing the success of these plans and of putting their relations with
China on a firm and more honorable foundation.



CHAPTER VI

THE, CATHCART EMBASSY AND EVENTS FOLLOWING IT
(1787-1791).

1. Preliminary Negotiation Relative to the Cathcart Mission (Spring
to July 31, 1787).

Saxe Bannister asserts that the Cathcart Embassy originated in an
invitation addressed by the Chinese Court to the agents of the Com-
pany at Canton.' The invitation of the Chinese, which did not come
from the Court of Peking, but was only a proposal from the Viceroy
and Hoppo that a deputation should be sent from the European com-
munity to congratulate the Emperor upon his eightieth birthday, was
not delivered until October, 1789. One true statement made by Ban-
nister is that the idea of sending an embassy was ‘“warmly” supported
by Pitt and Dundas.

There are no extant records to show who actually took the first
step in bringing about the Cathcart Embassy, but one is led to believe
by the prominent part which Dundas and Pitt took in the early ar-
rangements that the proposal was first made by Dundas, who obtained
the support of Pitt, and that the idea was “warmly” seconded by the
Court of Directors, who felt that something had to be done to improve
the Company’s situation in China. This idea is supported by a number
of facts: the interest which Dundas took in Chinese affairs; his receipt
of information about China and a proposal of an embassy from George
Smith ; his access to the Company’s papers, among which were the super-
cargoes’ proposals of an embassy, as well as the solicitors’ report in the
autumn of 1785 or 1786 to the Board of Control on the jurisdiction of
the Company’s supercargoes over Country ships, which contained full
references to and extracts from the supercargoes’ recommendations
in consequence of the Lady Hughes affair;’ and a sentence in one of
Cathcart’s letters to Dundas, which referred to the Embassy as “Your
Public Measure.” * It is not improbable, however, that indirect feelers
had been sent out by the Court of Directors, but there are no records

! Saxe Bannister, 4 Journal of the First French Embassy to China, 1698-
1700 (London, 1859), xliv-lvi.

* Morse, Chronicle, 11, 177.

'T10C, XX, solicitors’ report near beginning of the volume.

¢1I0C, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Nov. 1, 1787.
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to show that it ever approached the government with an official request
that an embassy be sent.

Lt. Colonel Charles Cathcart, M.P., a distinguished officer and
quartermaster-general to the Bengal Army, who had but recently re-
turned to Europe after negotiating a convention with the Governor
of Mauritius,” was approached by the government sometime during the
spring of 1787 relative to his willingness to serve as Ambassador.*
Sir George Leonard Staunton, who had been Secretary to Lord Mac-
artney while the latter was Governor of Madras (1780-85) and who
had negotiated the treaty of peace with the Tippoo Sultan in 1784,
applied to Dundas for the appointment as ambassador to China “but
Colonel Cathcart [a Scotchman and protégé of Dundas] had the prefer-
ence.”' Cathcart, who evidently responded favorably to the proposal,
busied himself with a preliminary study of the problem. He discussed
with supercargoes then in England the procedure to be followed and
studied the Company’s China records. On June 20, 1787, he addressed
his preliminary proposals to Henry Dundas.

His principal objects of inquiry were, “As to the Mode in which the
Mission should be appointed—and the Place which would best suit the
Commerce of Great Britain as a Depot in China.” As to the first, he
concluded “that the only Chance of success in negotiating with the
Court of Peking [would] arise from the Mission being in the Name of
the King, and that any attempt thro’ the Servants of the Company
only, would be ineffectual.” He expressed the utmost sympathy with
the attitude of the supercargoes in China and with their fear that the
trade might be lost, felt sure that the government could rely on their
cooperation, and believed a large frigate to be the ‘“‘only proper Convey-
ance to mark and distinguish a Mission from the King. The Measure

353“é3M, Additional Manuscripts (Auckland Papers, LVII), No. 344468, pp.
-61.

°10, China: Cathcart Embassy, XC, Greville to Court of Directors, Jan,
1789. Practically all the documents relating to the Cathcart Embassy are con-
tained in this volume. Hereafter it will be referred to as IOCCE. Additional
information is contained in a paper to be found in Volume XX under date of
April 18, 1815, entitled “Memorandum of Contents of a Fools-Cap Book bound
in Velum lettered at the back in MS. ‘Cathcart’s Embassy.'” It is merely the
table of contents of a volume extant in 1815. Many of the documents mentioned
in it have since been destroyed, but valuable information can be obtained even
from this list of papers. It will be referred to as I0C, XX, “Memorandum”
in notes to follow.

'G. T. Staunton, Memoir . . . of the late Sir George Leonard Staunton
(London, 1823), p. 315. . . ] .

*JOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, June 20, 1787. This letter is printed in
Morse, Chronicle, 11, 157-59, under the date August 18, which must be a misprint.
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being adopted, very little Preparation appear[ed] necessary further
than the Selection of Officers, and a well considered Letter, accom-
panied by a Present.”

The Object of the Mission being to extend our Commerce, under the
Protection of the Chinese Government; it appears of the greatest Conse-
quence to avoid, or at least not to press, Requests exciting Jealousy. On
this Principle, it would perhaps be the best Policy to leave the Selection of
the Place of Depot to the Chinese, — only stating to them that we require a
healthy Situation accessible and safe for Shipping, convenient for the Dis-
persion of our Manufactures and for the Collection of Tea’s, Chinaware and
other Returns the Produce of the Eastern Provinces; and if they will not
grant a convenient privileged Depot, we must remedy as many of the Defects
of our present Situation as possible.

In Cathcart’s opinion, Macao might be ceded by the Portuguese and
the Hong merchants induced to go there, but it was remote from the
tea and raw-silk-producing areas, and, as it was not completely free
from the jurisdiction of the Chinese, they might refuse to confirm the
English in the Portuguese privileges. Amoy was favorably situated so
far as the sale and purchase of goods were concerned, but as it was
desirable to have a place where the English could exercise jurisdiction,
it seemed advisable to obtain an island outside the Empire, yet acces-
sible to the junk trade. Such an establishment could not be expected
“unless the Assurance of better Control over our own People is prom-
ised on this occasion, by His Majesty, and confirmed by the Legisla-
ture,” for at present the Chinese could not confide in a nation whose
sailors were ‘“subject to no Law or authorized Coercion and Sub-
ordination.”

Once the general outlines of the mission were adopted, the settlement
of the ceremonial and presents would be an easy matter, he thought.
Although he disliked “idle Parade,” he was convinced that the success
of the mission would depend on the ‘“‘decorum’” with which it was
conducted. Its “Formation and Establishment” ought to be such as to
give no reason to the Chinese to feel that they had been “slighted or
insulted.” He would prefer to ascertain beforehand the full expense
of the Embassy and so to transact it without making use of the “Powers
respecting a Contingent Bill,” apparently confided to him by the Direc-
tors, who it seems had already agreed to bear the expense of the mis-
sion. After the Embassy had reached Canton and the necessary infor-
mation was obtained, he favored proceeding to Tientsin by sea, wher~
the Embassy could disembark.
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Colonel Cathcart concluded his remarks by indicating his wishes
regarding the personnel of the Embassy. As Captain of H.M. Ship he
proposed Captain Erasmus Gower, a distinguished officer, who had
been twice around the world, who had served with distinction in the
Indian fleet from 1781 to 1784, and who was then stationed at New-
foundland.” The second in command should be Lieutenant Rutherford,
a friend of Captain Gower. He wished to have Lieutenant Young, who
had accompanied him to Mauritius and who was at the time in India,
as Secretary to the Embassy, and Captain Patrick Alexander Agnew,
who was then in the Company’s service and was to return to India, as
his private secretary. He was a confidential friend whom Cathcart
could dispatch from Peking to Canton if necessary, but if the reception
should be especially favorable, he could return to India by way of
Tibet with propositions relative to the opening of commercial relations
between that country and Bengal. As naturalist and scientist he wished
a German professor of Economy, Herr Fabricius, who could study
Chinese industrial and agricultural arts for the benefit of England.
Finally, for interpreter he proposed a Frenchman, M. Galbert, who had
been educated and lived many years at Peking.

From this date until July 19 there are no further records relative to
proceedings, but from a letter of this date and from subsequent letters,”
it is apparent that Cathcart had conferences with the Directors relative
to the resignation of his appointment as quartermaster-general to the
Bengal army, and with Pitt relative to possible times for the sailing of
the Embassy and about the inclusion in his instructions of references
to the debts owed by the Chinese to private individuals. He also sought
information from former supercargoes relative to the presents to be
sent to the Emperor, and on the above-mentioned date he suggested
that a letter in which the name of the Emperor had been left blank
should be taken along to be filled in with the name of the new Emperor
should Ch’ien Lung die before the Embassy arrived.

On Sunday, July 25, after morning service, Cathcart discussed with
Pitt the possibility of having the mission sail by the middle of October
and proceed by Cape Horn in order to reach Macao in April. He sug-
gested the appointment of Captain Truebridge in place of Gower, who
could not return in time, and asked Pitt to request Earl Howe to have
the frigate properly equipped and ready for sea at Plymouth or Fal-

® Biograpbhical Memoir of Sir Erasmus Gower (London, 1800-10), pp. 1-25.
®TIOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, July 19, 25, 1787.
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mouth by late September.” The preliminary outlines of the Embassy
had been completed by the end of July, and on the 30th Dundas wrote
to the Chairman and Deputy outlining the plans. In consequence, on
the 31st, the Court of Directors empowered the Chairs to expend
£20,000 for the objects of the mission.”

2. The Debts of Chinese Merchants and the Drafting of the Instruc-
tions to the Ambassador (May to August 31, 1787).

The private creditors of the Chinese merchants had been much dis-
pleased by the Imperial award in 1780, and as already noted, approach-
ed the Court of Directors for help in 1783 without success.” On De-
cember 13, 1786, Captain Richard Parks, a captain of one of the
Company’s ships, requested the Court’s aid in the collection of a purely
commercial debt for goods delivered on bond to Yngshaw in 1779,
amounting to T. 5,080. On January 2, 1787, the Company declined to
help him for fear of injury to its commerce.” In May, 1787, George
Vansittart and Ewan Law, assignees of George Smith, requested the
Company’s assistance in collecting the whole of the debts due to
George Smith, and especially the debt of Coqua, none of which had been
paid. Accompanying this request was a “Narrative of Proceedings for
recovery of debts owing by Chinese Merchants to British Subjects,”
drawn up by George Smith.” As the Court had already resolutely de-
termined not to help the private creditors, whose unrestrained actions
in China had given them so much trouble, it delayed answering this
request for some time.

The creditors, because the Company showed no intention of helping
them, approached Pitt and Dundas with a request that Smith be allowed
to accompany the Embassy. In his letter of July 19 to Dundas, Cath-
cart referred to the advisability of including in his instructions some
paragraphs relative to the debts, but on August 3, 1787, Dundas ad-
dressed a letter to George Smith stating :**

"IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, July 25, 1787.
®10C, XX, “Memorandum,” July 30 and 31, 1787.
® Supra, Chap. V, Sec. 1.

¥ CMD, VII, Parks to Directors, Dec. 13, 1786; 10, Committee of Cor-
respondence: Reports, XV, 199,

¥ CMD, VII, Vansittart and Law to Directors, May, 1787, and Smith’s “Nar-
rative,” pp. 145-223.

“JIOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Aug. 18, 1787, and Smith to Cathcart,
Nov. 20, 1787.
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that after full consideration of the subject, it is thought improper to load
the intended Mission with any Official Instructions relative to the Debts . . .,
far less to take any of you as Coadjustors in the Mission, but if any of you
will at any time wait upon Colonel Cathcart, he will, with my approbation,
be glad to receive every information from you, and to be of any service to
you that lays in his Power, not inconsistent with the important object of his

Mission.

In consequence of this letter Cathcart had a conference with some
of the creditors on August 15, in which he indicated his inability to
help them unless he were given the bonds together with full freedom
to act as he considered most advisable. Smith indicated that, if the
government would consider Vansittart, Law, Hunter, and himself as
proper agents to represent the creditors, he was of the opinion that
he could by individual applications get the necessary consent from most
of the creditors and have the above-listed men named as a committee
to transact the business with the government. To this Cathcart agreed,
subject to the consent of government, but told them that, if the credi-
tors would not repose responsibility in the proposed committee and
refused to give up their bonds to the Ambassador, it would be impos-
sible for him to enter into negotiations with the Chinese government
relative to the debts.”

Cathcart wrote to Dundas on August 18, recommending that the
above-mentioned proposal be accepted. On the 26th Dundas approved
the creditor’s plan and Cathcart’s recommendations to them. This letter
was received by the Colonel on August 31, and with Pitt’s consent he
wrote on the same day to Smith stating that the government had no
objection to the proposed committee requesting the creditors to delegate
to it full powers to treat with the government and to send secret instruc-
tions to their agents in China relative to a plan for the recovery of the
debts.”

Three days before, on August 28, the Committee of Correspondence
of the East India Company acted upon Vansittart and Law’s request
of May. The Committee stated that the creditors in question had lent
money to the Chinese contrary to law at exorbitant rates of interest,
which, piling up, came to compose the greater part of the debt; that
Smith and many others of the creditors had resided in China con-
trary to the Company’s charter and in defiance of the Company’s orders;

"IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Aug. 18, 1787.
®Ibid., XC, Dundas to Cathcart, Aug. 26, 1787, and Cathcart to Dundas,
Aug. 31, 1787.
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that some of them had offended against the Chinese government in a
most grievous way; that, contrary to the Company’s wishes, they had
procured the intervention of Captain Panton, which had reacted un-
favorably upon the Company’s affairs through the creation of the Con-
soo levy on trade; that by these actions they had forfeited all rights to
complaint or help; and that any attempt to help them would only bring
adversity upon the Company’s affairs. In view of these facts, they
recommended that the request for assistance be refused by the
Directors.”

The drafting of the original instructions to the Ambassador, which
was done by Henry Dundas, was in progress as early as July 19, be-
cause on this day Cathcart referred to debts and the policy to be pur-
sued in case of the death of the Emperor as subjects which should be
dealt with in the instructions. The Company prevented the inclusion
in Cathcart’s instructions of any specific commands regarding the
private debts which would force him to bring the matter to the attention
of the Chinese government.” The preliminary instructions were com-
pleted and in the hands of the Company and the Ambassador before
August 16, the day on which the Chairman and the Deputy Chairman
(John Matteux and Nathaniel Smith), assisted by the Company’s
solicitor, held a conference with Cathcart.

The Chairs especially objected to a paragraph in the instructions
which directed the Ambassador, “should a new Establishment be con-
ceded, [to] endeavor to obtain free Permission of Ingress and Regress
for Ships of all Nations, upon paying certain settled Duties, if so re-
quired by the Chinese Government.” Cathcart replied that, as he re-
membered his conversations with Dundas, the Ambassador was “to
take Possession in the Name of the King of Great Britain, and for the
use of the Fast India Company during the Currency of their Charter.”
He assured them that he believed the above-mentioned provision was
not aimed to and would not interfere with their exclusive privileges
nor keep them from controlling the number of Private ships licensed
to go to China, and that the aim of the Embassy was to benefit the
Company and the country. Not content with these assurances the
Chairs wrote to Pitt on August 23 expressing their doubts about the
instructions and requesting that foreign ships be excluded from the

® 10, Committee of Correspondence: Reports, XV, 275-79.
®IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, July 19, 1787 and note 16 above.
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acquired area unless licensed by the Company as should ships of Private
English.”

On August 18 Cathcart wrote to Dundas regarding the Chairs’
objections. In replying, on the 26th, Dundas stated that the Company
should be assured by the government that the exclusive benefits of the
grant would go to them so long as their present charter lasted; that
when the charter was renewed the future status of the settlement would
be a matter to be settled between the Company and the government,
and that the Company could be assured of the right to use such an
establishment so long as it continued to be interested in trading. But
he went on to say:"

It would, in my apprehension, be absurd if we can obtain a Settlement from
the Emperor of China, to take the grant of it on any more limited terms
than he is willing to give. Our obtaining the Grant without any restrictions,
does not lay us under any obligations to communicate the benefits either to
other Nations, or even to British Subjects, other than the East India Com-
pany; but surely the Chairman and Deputy Chairman cannot seriously mean
that in negotiating with the Emperor of China the King of Great Britain
is to accept a Settlement with such restrictions in it, as of necessity obliges
him to carry on the trade of China by an exclusive Company. It may or

may not be expedient to do so, but sure I am, the Government of China
have no right to be made Parties in that Question of Commercial Policy . ..

On August 31 Cathcart communicated this letter to Pitt, who had al-
ready used similar arguments and given similar assurances to placate
the Company. He agreed to a slightly changed wording which pre-
served to the English freedom either to admit or to exclude the ships
of foreign nations. As finally accepted with the hearty approval of the
Chairs the sentence read, “Should a new Establishment be conceded,
you will take it in the name of the King of Great Britain.” ®

The King’s letter to the Emperor was also in preliminary draft be-
fore the end of August. The original intention had been to present
with it certain personal gifts to the Emperor, but after consultation with
the supercargoes, it was concluded that no gift which could be offered
to the Emperor would be accepted. It was decided, therefore, to en-
close the King’s letter in a handsome ornamented gold box (which cost
£885) provided by the Directors, “more as a mark of attention than in

" IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Aug. 18 and 31, 1787; I0C, XX, “Memo-
randum,” Aug. 16, 21, 23, 1787.

2TOCCE, XC, Dundas to Cathcart, Aug. 26, 1787, .

®Ibid., XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Aug. 31, 1787; final instructions are in
Morse, Chronicle, 11, 165.
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the Light of a Present.” * This necessitated the elimination of the final
paragraph of the King’s letter, which originally read, “I have sent a
few presents from this Country, not as being worthy of Your Majesty’s
Notice, but as marks of my regard and friendly disposition to Your
Imperial Majesty.” The change was made in the hand of Henry
Dundas, and the last paragraph of the final letter read, “We have
instructed Our Ambassador to take every Method in his power to mark
Our regard and friendly disposition to Your Majesty, and it will give
Us the utmost Satisfaction to learn that our wishes in that respect have
been amply complied with.” *

3. The Ambassador’s Salary and Internal Arrangements of the Em-
bassy (August 7 to October, 1787).

As Cathcart had early in the negotiations expressed his desire that
the full expenses of the Embassy should be ascertained beforehand so
that he would not have to depend upon contingent allowances, the
Court requested him to draw up an estimate of the expenditure. In
a letter of August 7 he outlined his ideas on the subject® As a
first principle in securing the success of the Embassy he believed
that it should be distinguished from all previous missions of its kind.
It should aim to impress upon the minds of the Chinese that British
subjects were controlled by British laws, that all mariners were not
a rabble, and that the mission was to inspire confidence and not to
procure redress and concession by the promotion of awe and dread.

To achieve these ends it was necessary to be especially careful in
choosing the personnel of the Embassy, so that their actions and dis-
cipline would contrast with that of the trading ships which the Chinese
have heretofore had contact with. As Private trade would not be al-
lowed, the members of his suite should be paid respectable salaries,
and the usual allowances granted by the Company to the officers of
H.M. Ships should not be encroached on. It would be necessary to take
out valuable presents, among which should be specimens of British
manufactures. He was not yet well enough informed on this subject

*IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Chairs, Aug. 24, 1787, and Cathcart to Dundas,
Aug. 31, 1787,

* For first draft with Dundas’ changes, IOC, XX, no paging ; for the final draft
IOCCE, XC, under date of Nov. 30, 1787; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 167-69; a
published copy of the first draft appears in Bannister, op. cit., pp. 227-29.

®IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Chairman (John Matteux), Aug. 7, 1787.
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to make an accurate estimate of the cost, but he believed it would
amount to six or eight thousand pounds.

As to the method of paying the expenses of the Embassy, he recom-
mended two alternatives: (1) that the Company assign certain fixed
salaries to the persons attending the mission and send along a comp-
troller of the extra expense, or (2) that the Company grant to him a
sum out of which he should pay the salaries of the establishment and
provide for the table and contingent expenses while they were on ship-
board. This would amount to not less than £7,500 to £8,000 per
annum. The expenses of the Embassy while it was in China should be
paid by the Company’s supercargoes. In either alternative, he requested
to have credit upon the Company in London for the amount of the
specified salaries or for the sum granted to him, one quarter to be paid
in advance and the remainder to be paid on sight when due.

These proposals and matters relating to the presents were discussed
at several conferences with the Chairs,” and on August 23 they strongly
pressed Cathcart to reduce the proposed annual expense to £6,000.
On the following day he agreed to reduce his demand to £6,000, pro-
vided the Company would idemnify him on his return if this amount
proved insufficient. He promised to be careful of expenses, but felt
certain that they must not be stingy if the Embassy was to succeed. He
was glad to find that the Court agreed with him as to the presents, and
was of the impression that the first audience, in order to prevent the
appearance of a tribute mission, should be confined to the delivery of
the King’s letter. Presents to the value of £4,000 or £5,000 should
be kept in reserve to give to the various officers of state.”

On August 28 the Chairs stated that in order to put the Embassy
upon the respectable footing which the importance of the negotiations
required, they would pay £6,000 a year for the duration of the Em-
bassy for the “Salaries and Maintenance” of the Ambassador and his
suite exclusive of table and travelling expenses while it would be in
China. The salaries were to begin upon embarkation and cease upon the
return of the Embassy to England. They hoped that this sum would be
adequate, but if “it shall hereafter be made apparent to the Court of
Directors that it was not so, we doubt not (altho’ we cannot engage)
that the Court of Directors will grant such indemnification as shall be

"IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Chairs, Aug. 7, 1787, and Cathcart to Dundas,
Aug. 18, 1787.

®» JOCCE, XC, Minutes of a Conference between Cathcart and Chairs, Aug.
23, 1787, and Cathcart to Chairman, Aug. 24, 1787.
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proper.” ™ In a letter of August 31 to Dundas, Cathcart expressed his
satisfaction at this arrangement.

During the whole course of proceedings, the Chairs and Cathcart

drew heavily upon the suggestions and recommendations of the various
China supercargoes who were in England. Conferences were held with
several of them, including Thomas Fitzhugh, James Flint and Matthew
Raper. On August 29 Fitzhugh addressed a letter to the Deputy Chair-
man suggesting that the Embassy should land at Canton, because all
other embassies except the Russian had done so and because Chinese
custom demanded it. Tientsin was more conveniently located, but be-
cause of the Flint expedition to that place he believed the Chinese would
be very much prejudiced against another English ship proceeding there.
He felt that the Embassy would be well received in so far as the “pride
and singular forms of the Chinese allowed,” but that the Chinese
prostrations would be insisted on, as proved by experience of other
embassies. While at Peking the Ambassador would be closely guarded
and no one allowed to see him except by permission, and his com-
plaints would be disregarded and no additional trade privileges would
be granted.”
The Chinese Government is proud and insolent. It looks with contempt
on all foreign nations. Its ignorance of their force give it confidence in
its own strength, which by experience it knows to be superior to the
boardering Hordes of Tartars with whom it is commonly engaged in War;
nor do I think it looks on Embassies in any other light than acknowledg-
ments of inferiority.

Fitzhugh concluded his remarks with a few hints to the effect that
presents should be given to the Viceroy and the high officials at Canton
in order to win their goodwill; that presents should be given to the
missionaries who would translate the King’s letter, which should be in
Latin and English; that an interpreter (Galbert) should be taken along,
as the Chinese linguists were poor; that the expense of the Embassy
while it was in China would be paid by the Emperor, and that he be-
lieved the best time to send an embassy would be upon the acces-
sion of a new Emperor. Subsequent events prove only how true were
most of Fitzhugh's observations and prognostications.

James Flint took an active part in the selection of the presents, and
on October 12 he called the attention of the Chairs to a rumored French

®IOCCE, XC, Chairs to Cathcart, Aug. 28, 1787, and Cathcart to Dundas,
Au% 31, 1787.

IOCCE, XC, Thomas Fitzhugh to Nath., Smith, Aug. 29, 1787.
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settlement in Cochin China inimical to the British. On the 22nd of
the same month he pointed out the jealousies of the Chinese and the
precautions to be taken to obviate them. For his services he was al-
lowed £25 by the court." Since Flint's exclusion from China made
him ineligible to act as interpreter and, because Bevan was unable to
go, the services of M. Galbert were sought. He was ultimately located
at Avignon, and it would appear that Captain Agnew was sent to en-
gage him.® On the 30th of August, Cathcart was able to inform the
Chairs that M. Galbert had been engaged. He arrived in England and
was presented to the Chairman on September 7. His suggestions were
sought on a number of matters, especially as to the titles to be used in
addressing the Emperor.®

The discussions over the presents to be sent were spread over sev-
eral months. It was finally decided, because of the supercargoes’ recom-
mendations, that a present should not be given to the Emperor, but it
was generally agreed that presents should be taken along to distribute
among the officials. It was considered advisable to take along samples
of British manufacture in order to stimulate a sale for them in China
and to impress the Chinese with the advanced state of British industry.
Various scientific, mathematical, and philosophical instruments and
some prints were to be taken along to impress the Chinese with British
progress in the arts and sciences. The amount to be spent on presents
was fixed at £4,000 by the end of August.™ The list of presents as
finally delivered to Cathcart together with their value was as follows:®

Eight bales of superfine Mathematical and philo-
broadcloth £610 sophical instruments £488
Guns 469 Glass lustres 676
Cutlery 51 Gold box 885
Wedgewood pottery 33 Watches 374
Prints (Boydell’s) 32 Chronometers 175
Pocket books 51 Theodolites 76
Perfumery 28 Antiques 46
Rappee snuff 17 Charges 16
Pencils 11 _—
Flag staff 7 Total £4,045

" 10C, XX, “Memorandum,” Aug. 31, Sept. 6, Oct. 12, 22, Dec. 10 and late
in Dec., 1787.

2 JOCCE, XC, Agnew to Dundas, Kirkdale, France, Sept, 4, 1787.

B10C, XX, “Memorandum,” Aug. 30 and Sept. 7, 1787; IOCCE, XC, Cath-
cart to Chairs, Nov. 1, 1787, Chairman to Cathcart, Nov. 8, 1787, and Cathcart
to Dundas, Nov. 22, 1787.

“JOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Chairs, Aug. 7, 1787, and Cathcart to Dundas,
Aug. 31, 1787.

¥ CMC, VIII, No. 343.
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Among the original members of the personnel of the Embassy pro-
posed by Cathcart, it was apparently impossible to obtain the services
of the German professor, Fabricius, and in his place was substituted
Dr. John Ewart as physician and scientist. Lieutenant Young, who was
then in India, received the appointment as Secretary of the Embassy
and was to join it off Macao. Captain Agnew became Cathcart’s sec-
retary, but retained his commission in the Indian army with full pay
“as a Captain on service from the Date of his departure [embarkation]
until his return to the Carnatic.” The total annual salaries to be paid by
Cathcart to the members of his suite amounted to £1,630.*

The choosing of the vessel and her commander caused considerable
difficulty, as Captain Gower could not return from Newfoundland in
time. Cathcart then suggested Captain Truebridge, and on August 7
he had a conference with Earl Howe, First Lord of the Admiralty, on
the subject, but no extant records show when the final decision was
made. The matter was probably settled before the end of September;
H.M.S. Vestal, frigate with twenty-eight guns, was chosen to carry the
Ambassador to China, and she was to be commanded by Captain Sir
Richard Strachan, Bart. The second in command was to be Lieuten-
ant Rutherford. The salaries of the captain and officers of the frigate
were to be paid by the Admiralty until the ship sighted Java Head on
the way out, after which until Java Head were passed on the return
voyage they were to be paid by the Company.” A military guard did
not attend the Ambassador.

4. Final Discussions with the Private Creditors (September 12, 1787 to
February 23, 1788).

In view of Colonel Cathcart’s offer to do what he could toward the
collection of the debts due to the private English if the creditors would
appoint a committee to represent them and deliver to him the original
bonds, Smith, Vansittart, and Law set about the task of getting the
creditors to accept the proposal. George Smith had apparently
been declared bankrupt sometime prior to May, 1787, and Vansittart,
Law, and Hunter had been appointed as assignees to his estate.” The

¥ IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Chairs, Aug. 7 and Nov. 1, 1787, Cathcart to
Dundas, July 25 and Nov. 1, 1787, Agnew to Dundas, Sept. 4, 1787, Greville to
Chairman, Oct. 12, 1788, and Jan. 1789; I0C, XX, “Memorandum,” Sept. 12,
1787; CMC, III, No. 59; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 155, 166, 169.

"IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Chairs, Nov. 1, 1787; CMC, V, No. 192, and refer-
ences as in note 36.

®» CMD, VII, Vansittart and Law to Directors, May, 1787.
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first difficulty was encountered in getting the consent of Hunter, who,
as a Director of the East India Company, refused the “Aid proferred
by the Government.” Nevertheless, a circular letter was drawn up to
be sent to the various creditors requesting them to agree to the appoint-
ment of Smith, Vansittart, and Law as a committee with full power to
make arrangements with the government, and a “Covenant and Agree-
ment” was drawn up vesting the necessary powers in the proposed
committee.”

Hunter remained obdurate until I.aw and Vansittart interviewed
him on October 24 and threatened to protest against him. He then
requested a copy of the proposed “Covenant and Agreement” and a
week to consider it. On the same day it appears that Smith met some
of the creditors, with the result that on November 13 a covenant was
drawn up and agreed to by certain of the creditors.” On November 1,
Hunter had written to the Chairs “demurring as an Assignee to the
Estate of Mr. G. Smith against entrusting any person to receive the
large amount due to Mr. Smith’s Estate, from Chinese Merchants, un-
less with approbation of the Company.” “ In reply the Chairs referred
him to the various resolutions of the Directors upon the subject.

Confronted with the fact that he alone was holding up the proceed-
ings, Hunter, on November 15, agreed to the compounding of Smith’s
debt, but objected to the inclusion of Smith as one of the proposed
committee. Vansittart transmitted this information to Smith and sug-
gested that the circular letter should be sent at once, and that the deeds
relative to the compounding of his debts could be drawn up later. Since
Hunter’s demands required that Smith’s name be struck out of the
letters and the “Covenant and Agreement,” the latter wrote to Cathcart
on November 19 requesting his permission for the proposed changes,
and stating that in view of the delay it would be impossible to deliver
the necessary papers to the Ambassador before the middle or end of
December. Cathcart indicated that the proposed changes were imma-
terial to him, but that, as he expected to sail towards the end of No-
vember, it seemed impossible for the creditors to transmit the proper
materials and documents to him.”

® JOCCE, XC, Smith to Cathcart, Nov. 19 and 20, 1787.

“Ibid., XC, Smith to Cathcart, Nov. 20, 1787, and covenant between the
British creditors, Feb, 19, 1788.

“10C, XX, “Memorandum,” Nov. 1 and 3, 1787.
78; IOCCE, XC, Smith to Cathcart, 19, 1787, and Cathcart to Smith, Nov. 19,
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In a final appeal to the Ambassador, Smith threw the blame for
delay on Hunter and requested permission to transmit the necessary
powers to Cathcart by one of the Company’s ships later in the season.”
In replying on November 21, Cathcart said that he had transmitted
Smith’s letters to Dundas ; that, until the committee had been appointed
by the creditors, nothing could be done ; that, once it was appointed and
had been granted the necessary powers, it should approach the govern-
ment about the transmission of the papers to him, and that, if the gov-
ernment saw fit to have them sent, he would be glad to act according to
the line of action already outlined.”

With these assurances, Smith, Vansittart, and Law sent out the
circular letter and proceeded with the business, but it was not until
February 19, 1788, that they were able to execute the Covenant with
the creditors. The Covenant appointed Vansittart and Law a commit-
tee to transact business relative to the Chinese debts with the British
government, and delegated to them full power to liquidate the whole
amount of the debts or to compound them upon the most advantageous
terms—powers which they could delegate to anyone they chose.* On
the same day Vansittart and Law transmitted to Cathcart a copy of
the Covenant and delegated to him full power to adjust the debts with
the Chinese government as appeared to him most advantageous to the
creditors. They called his attention to the statement of the debts as
they stood in 1779, and requested that if possible he would collect in-
terest on the debts between that date and 1788. On February 23, Wil-

® Ibid., XC, Smith to Cathcart, Nov. 20, 1787.
“JIOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Smith, Nov. 21, 1787.

“Ibid., XC, “Covenant and Agreement Twixt the British Creditors of the
Chinese Merchants at Canton and George Vansittart and Ewan Law,” Feb. 19,
1788. It was signed by the following creditors or by attorney for them: M.
Purling, Bazett, John Clements, R. Parks, Robert Barclay, Thos. Seward, C. E.
Pigou, W. H. Pigou, Francis Wood, G. Stratton, Andrew Reid, John Griffith,
Capt. Pat. Maitland, W. Holland, John and Edw. Holland, Rev. John Thomas,
Daniel Corneille, Capt. Peter Pigou (deceased), Hon, William Elphinston, Capt.
James Dundas, Charles Smith (deceased), Stephen Briggs, Gov. Roddarn, Hon.
Edw. Monckton, George Smith (of Madras), Alexander Tod, Gilbert Pasley
(deceased), John Burges, William Larkins, Charles Desvoeux, Robert Stewart,
H. Bazett, John Brasier, George Peterson, G. Stainforth, John Roger, William
Fraser, Geo. Dawson, John Blake, Frances Mantresor, John Sulivan, Henry
Brooke, and William Brown, Thomas Thomas, William Money, James Farquhar-
son, trustees of estate of Hutton and Gordon of Canton; George Vansittart,
Ewan Law, for themselves and, with John Hunter, assignees of the estate of
George Smith, late of Canton; George Smith and David Scott, executors to Mrs.
Mary Church, executrix to Richard Church of Bombay. The George Smith of
Madras, Canton, and Guildford, Surrey, is the one referred to wherever the
name appears.



1936 The Crucial Years of Early Anglo-Chinese Relations 251

liam Cabell, Secretary to the Board of Control, forwarded these docu-
ments to Colonel Cathcart by order of Dundas.”

5. Final Preparations for the Embassy (October to December 21,

1787).

The original plan was that the Embassy should sail during the early
part of October or at least by the middle of that month. No advanced
intelligence of its coming was to be sent out. It was to proceed to
Macao or Canton, and, after conference with the supercargoes, to an-
nounce its arrival to the Chinese government, and then to proceed to
the northward ‘“as circumstances should determine.” What route it
intended to take is not certain, the only route mentioned being that by
Cape Horn. On October 3 one learns that the sailing had been post-
poned until November 20, and Cathcart actually did not leave London
until December 2.“

Why the sailing was delayed is uncertain. The instructions and the
internal arrangements of the Embassy were practically completed by
the end of August, and the interpreter had arrived and most of the
presents were in hand by the middle of September. It is possible but
unlikely that a satisfactory frigate could not be ready by early October,
and it is very unlikely that the delay was occasioned by a desire to allow
the private creditors to compose their differences. Nor does a complete
explanation occur in Cathcart’s letter of November 1, in which he
indicated that because they had obtained the services of M. Galbert it
would be unnecessary to proceed to Canton as formerly planned, but
that they could now proceed directly to a northern port if he so
desired.” The most plausible explanation is that the route by Cape Horn
was abandoned in favor of that by the Cape of Good Hope. By this
route no advantage would be gained by sailing before late November
or early December.

Cathcart appears to have been officially appointed as Ambassador
during October, and early in November an order was sent to the Ad-
miralty from the State Department requiring that a frigate of twenty-
eight guns be prepared for distant service, her commander to be in-
structed to obey such orders as he should receive from the State De-

“TOCCE, XC, Vansittart and Law to Cathcart, Feb. 19, 1788, and Cabell to
Cathcart, Feb. 23, 1788.

“ JOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, July 25, 1787, Cathcart to Chairs, Nov.
1, 1787, Cathcart to Smith, Nov. 19, 1787, and Cathcart to Lord Sydney, Dec.
2 1787.

“JOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Chairs, Nov. 1, 1787.
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partment.” On November 1 the Ambassador wrote to the Chairs re-
questing that £5,000 be put upon the Vestal to be used by him while
in China, should he decide to proceed directly to the northward without
touching Canton. He requested permission to draw upon this sum for
any extraardinary emergency which might arise during the voyage, and
wished to use at least £600 of it to purchase salted provisions, wine,
stores, surgical instruments, and medicine, which would be needed if
he should proceed directly to the northward. He also requested an
advance of £2,000 out of his salary, because i1t was necessary for him
to make certain advances to men in his suite and to purchase certain
articles for his personal outfit. He further requested that M. Galbert’s
travelling expenses from Avignon to London and his living expenses
during his stay in London be paid, and he hoped the Chairs would
authorize him to assure Galbert of reward at the end of the Embassy
if his services had been satisfactory.”

On the same day the Ambassador explained to Dundas that, as the
whole expenses of the suite were to fall upon him, it had been necessary
for him to make his arrangements on the assumption that he and his
executors should be paid his salary until the Embassy had returned to
England. It had been necessary for him to make such engagements
with the gentlemen of his suite that should he die on the way their
salaries should continue until they had it in their power to return to
their regiments in India or to England. Such being the situation, he
requested power to appoint Lieutenant Young “Chargé des Affaires” in
the event of his death, with full powers to continue the mission, and
should his death occur before Lieutenant Young joined the Embassy,
he wished power to appoint Captain Agnew to that position until the
Lieutenant arrived. He also recommended Galbert to a pension or pe-
cuniary reward if his services proved satisfactory.” These requests were
in general agreed to, although it was provided that should the Ambassa-
dor die before he reached China and had actually proceeded to the
execution of his mission the Embassy should return directly to
England.”

® Ibid., XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Nov. 1, 1787, and order to the Admiralty,
Nov., 1787.

% Ibid., XC, Cathcart to Chairs, Nov. 1, 1787.
*t Ibid., XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Nov. 1, 1787

®Ibid., XC, Supplementary Instructions to Capt. Strachan, Nov. 30, 1787;
Morse, Chronscle, 11, 170.
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The Chairs finally agreed to put the £5,000 requested by Cathcart
on the Vestal. They also agreed that he might use part of the money
to repair the frigate in case of emergency, and they allowed him to use
£600 in the purchase of supplies. M. Galbert’s expenses were to be
paid, but they would not undertake to assure him of a reward, and they
would advance Cathcart but one-fourth of his salary, £1,500. He was
requested to keep a strict account of all expenditure, to keep a diary
and journal to be delivered to them on his return, to transmit informa-
tion to them under cover of Thomas Morton whenever possible, and to
keep a strict account of all presents delivered.”

Cathcart was in general satisfied with these arrangements, but ob-
jected to serving both “God and Mammon,” as he regarded the Chairs’
request that he transmit to them a diary in addition to the official one
which he must keep for the government. In replying to the Chairs on
November 12, he stated that, if the sum of £600 was used in the pur-
chase of supplies before sailing, but £4,400 need be put on the ship.
He indicated that he had vested full power of attorney in Messrs.
Drummond, who were to receive his salary and meet his engagements
until the return of the Embassy. Cathcart also received a verbal prom-
ise that his salary would be continued in all events until the return of
the Embassy.”

In view of the Chairs’ refusal to advance him more than £1,500,
he was forced to borrow £800 from Messrs. Drummond upon his and
Lord Cathcart’s bond to meet incidental expenses before sailing, and in
order to take £500 in cash with him for personal expenses. Before
leaving, he purchased, with cash and credit, supplies relating to the
Embassy which together with the above-mentioned bond amounted to
£3,200. Of this latter sum £600 represented cash purchases, and
£2,600 was left in the form of bills falling due in six, nine, and twelve
months, which were to be paid out of his salary. On November 27
Cathcart transmitted to the Chairs a bill amounting to £539 for sup-
plies purchased, of which the Chairs evidently paid but £500, in lieu of
which sum they embarked on the Vestal but $17,600 (less than
£4,500).*

®IOCCE, XC, Chairman to Cathcart, Nov. 8, 1787; 10C, XX, “Memoran-
dum,” Nov. 3, 1787.

“IOCCE, XC, Cathcart to Dundas, Nov. 9, 1787, and Cathcart to Chairs,
Nov. 12, 1787.

% Ibid., Greville to Chairs, Oct. 12, 1788, Greville to Nat. Smith, Jan. 1789,
Cathcart to Chairs, Nov. 27, 1787.
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On November 22, Cathcart discussed with Galbert the appropriate
titles to be applied to the Emperor in the King’'s letter. M. Galbert
stated that Son of Heaven and Ten Thousand Years, the latter mean-
ing Eternal, were often used, but he recommended that ‘“Kien Long,
Emperor of China, etc. etc. etc.,” be used, and that it be left to the
translators to put in the appropriate titles. This advice was followed.
On the day following, the Chairs sent a “Secret and Confidential”
letter to Henry Browne, chief of the Council at Canton, “communicat-
ing particulars respecting Col. C[athcart]’s Mission.” *

All arrangements for the Embassy being completed, the instructions
to the Ambassador, his credentials in Latin, the King’s letter to the
Emperor, and Sir Richard Strachan’s instructions were signed on
November 30 and were transmitted to Cathcart. Orders were also sent
to the Admiralty, commanding them to direct the Commander of the
Vestal to receive on board the Ambassador and his suite. On the 2nd
of December Cathcart started for Portsmouth, where he arrived and
embarked on the 4th. On the 7th he informed the Chairs that he was
embarked and ready to sail; from this date his salary began. In ac-
knowledging the receipt of his instructions from Lord Sydney, Cathcart
transmitted copies of his final correspondence with Smith and requested
to be informed if Parliament took steps to provide the powers relative
to the control over British subjects in China which he was instructed
to tell the Chinese government would be given.”

On December 21 the Vestal, with an eight months’ supply of stores
on board, sailed from Spithead bound for some point off Macao, where
she would pick up Lieutenant Young and receive advices from Canton.
She then aimed to proceed to a northern port, whence she would an-
nounce her arrival to the Emperor. The Vestal was to be employed in
surveying the coast and islands off the northern part of China while
the Ambassador was at Peking.”

% Ibid., Cathcart to Dundas, Nov. 22, 1787; 10C, XX, “Memorandum,” Nov.
23 and about Dec. 10, 1787.

" IOCCE, XC, Order to Lords of Admiralty, Nov. 30, 1787, Evan Nepean
(under Secretary of State) to Cathcart, Dec. 1, 1787, Cathcart to Nepean, Dec.
%:,)2, ‘;, 177877, Catheart to Lord Sydney, Dec. 2, 1787; 10C, XX, “Memorandum,”

ec. 7, 1787.

® IOCCE, XC, Strachan to Sydney, Dec. 4, 9, 21, 1787, Cathcart to Nepean,
Dec. 10, 21, 1787; 10C, XX, “Memorandum,” Nov. 30 to Dec. 21, 1787 ; Morse,
Chronicle, 11, 162.
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6. The Instructions to the Ambassador and Sir Richard Strachan and
the King’s Letter (November 30, 17587).

The Cathcart Embassy, the first ever sent from the British Crown
to a Far Eastern Potentate, was primarily a commercial mission. Its
aim was distinctly national, and although the concessions which it hoped
to receive were to be assured to the East India Company for the dura-
tion of its charter, its purpose was not merely the assistance of the
Company. Its great object was to put Anglo-Chinese relations upon
a treaty basis, and thereby to eliminate the disturbances and uncertain-
ties of the existing system. If possible, northern Chinese ports were to
be opened to British trade under prescribed conditions, and a convenient
depot was to be obtained where British jurisdiction could be exercised.
If these points could not be obtained, the reform of the existing system,
embodied in a written agreement with the Chinese government, was to
be attempted.

The instructions first called the Ambassador’'s attention to “those
Objects” which had conspired to enhance the importance of the
Embassy :*

First; The Measures lately taken by Government for drawing the Tea Trade
out of the hands of the Other European Nations . . .; and Secondly an
attention to the Prosperity of Our Territorial Possessions in India, which
would be promoted by procuring a secure vent for their Products and
Manufactures in the extensive Empire of China.

Next the ‘‘discouraging” circumstances under which trade was con-
ducted, “hazardous to . . . Agents employed in conducting it, and pre-
carious to the various Interests involved in it,” were alluded to.

At Canton . . . the fair competition of the Market is destroyed by associations
of the Chinese, Our Supercargoes are denied open access to the Tribunals
of the Country and the fair Execution of its Laws, and are kept altogether
in a most arbitrary and cruel state of depression.

The more general objects of the mission were next pointed out.
The Ambassador was to endeavor to ascertain whether these evils had
“arisen from any settled Policy of the Imperial Government, or from
an ill founded Jealousy of Our National Influence, or whether they are
created merely by the Corruption and Abuses of a distant Provincial

*® Although the instructions to Cathcart were written by Dundas, they were
signed by Lord Sydney, Secretary of State, because Dundas at that time did not
have Ministerial rank. The original instructions signed by Dundas are in Ban-
nister, op. cit., pp. 209-26, and the final instructions signed by Sydney without
change are in IOCCE, XC, Nov. 30, 1787 ; Morse, Chromicle, 11, 160-67.
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Administration.” Whatever the causes of the abuses might be, the Am-
bassador was to endeavor to obtain a remedy for them. He was also to
discover whether a “studious [desire] to avoid any intimate connection
or Intercourse with Europeans . . . operates upon the Imperial Govern-
ment of Peking.” A common prejudice prevailed to this effect, but the
writings of various travellers among the Chinese, the “reputed wisdom
of the Chinese Administration,” and the experience of the Russians
with China, led one to believe that the idea was caused by “Commercial
Jealousy, aided by the Tyranny and corruption of distant Delegates,
under a despotic Sovereign and the general depravity of the Inhabi-
tants’” at Canton.

But if, contrary to these suppositions and inferences, such Jealousy
should really exist, as it can proceed only from fear, and a sense of their
own internal weakness, natural to a vicious People and a despotic Power,
it will depend upon your management to obviate it by Declarations the most
free and unqualified, that in seeking a connection with China, We have no
view but commerce, to be protected by the Chinese Government, subject

to its Laws and Regulations, and formed upon a permanent Principle mutual-
ly beneficial.

The Ambassador was to endeavor to ascertain the practicability of in-
creasing British exports to China, either by the increase of present
assortments or by the introduction of new products of British manu-
facture. He was to acquire all information possible without exciting
jealousy as to the ‘“present Strength, Policy and Government of the
Empire . . ., and what intercourse has taken place of late Years, be-
tween the Emperor of China and any other European state.”

The specific objects of his mission were next described. He was
advised not to attempt “to gain upon the Chinese Administration by
Artifice or Deception, or by Representations found upon the intricacies
of either European or Indian Politicks” but to give assurances of Eng-
land’s friendly and pacific inclinations and rely upon an “honest” and
faithful statement of facts to produce the desired effects upon the
Emperor. First, he was to emphasize the mutual benefits to be gained
from an extended commerce between the two nations.

Second, he was to request the cession “of a small tract of Ground,
or detached Island in some more convenient situation than Canton” to
serve as a depot for British commerce, where they would be “able to
restrain the irregularities which are occasionally committed by the sea-
men of the Company’s Ships and those of Private Traders.” Should
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the establishment be ceded it was to be taken in the name of the King,
and the Ambassador was to

endeavor to obtain it in the most beneficial terms, with power of regulating
the Police, and exercising Jurisdiction over Our own Dependents, for which
competent Powers would of course be given from Our own Legislature . . ..
Should it be required that no native Chinese be subject to be punished by
Qur Jurisdiction, or should any particular modification of this Power be
exacted, 1t is not material to insist upon it, provided British Subjects can
be exempted from the Chinese Jurisdiction for Crimes they may commit
and that the British Chief be not held responsible if any culprit should
escape the pursuit of Justice, and after search has been made by British
and Chinese Officers acting in conjunction.

Great care was to be taken to fix the settlement at a place that was
convenient and safe for shipping, and that would facilitate the vend
of British products and the purchase of teas. As to the exact location
of such an establishment, however, the Ambassador was to use his dis-
cretion as circumstances and later advices might require.

Third, the Ambassador was to represent the purely commercial
views of the English; they did not wish territory, fortifications, or
defenses, but merely desired the protection of their merchants and
trade. He was to “‘obviate any Prejudice which may accrue, from the
Argument of Our Present Dominion in India” (especially as it was the
great object of other European nations to inspire the Emperor and
ministers of China with a fear of England because of her expansion in
India), by stating that it had arisen almost without their seeking
through the necessity of defending themselves against the oppressions
of revolted Nabobs, who formed cabals with other European nations
and who disregarded privileges granted to the English by various
Indian Emperors. He was to handle the question of the opium trade
with “great circumspection” but was to agree to its prohibition if neces-
sary, leaving the Bengal opium “to take its chances in an open market,
or to find a consumption in the dispersed and circuitous traffic of the
Eastern Seas.”

{In the fourth place,] the difficulties and vexations under which Our
trade has long labored at Canton, must be forcibly represented as proceed-
ing from the malversations of the Viceroy and Merchants and ministers of
Justice, in contravention of the Orders and Intentions of The Imperial
Court, all which His Britannic Majesty chose rather to lay before The
Emperor Himself, in full confidence of Redress, from His Wisdom and
Justice, than suffer his Subjects to take any measures for redressing them-
selves . . .
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[Fifth,] If . . . all your attempts to obtain a new Establishment should
be decidedly ineffectual; You must turn your whole Attention to the relief
of Our present Embarassments at Canton, by an Extension of our Privi-
leges, and a Revision of the Unjust Proceedings which have taken place
there to Our prejudice and discredit. . . .

[Sixth,] In case the Embassy should have an amical and prosperous
termination it may be proposed to His Imperial Majesty to receive an oc-
casional or perpetual minister from The King of Great Britain and to send
one on his own part, to the Court of London, in the assurance that all
proper Honors will be paid to any person who may be deputed in that
sacred character. .

[Finally,] Whatever may be the decision of the Imperial Government,
unless, indeed it should be a rejection of all our requests, it will be desirable
to obtain it in writing, under such formalities as may enable Us to carry it
with some Eclat to the Province where the illtreatment of our Subjects has
originated.

The Ambassador was to use his discretion as to which route to
pursue in proceeding to Peking, but as the route by Canton would en-
able the merchants and mandarins to embarrass the Embassy, he was
advised to proceed by sea directly to an eastern or northeastern port,
and from there to announce his arrival and request a safe conduct to
Peking. If he chose he could dispatch one of the lieutenants of the
frigate with the messenger who announced at Peking the Ambassador’s
arrival. If it seemed expedient, the Embassy might touch at Macao or
Canton to collect information and procure advices from the super-
cargoes or private individuals and then proceed to the northward, and
if it was necessary it could disembark at Canton and proceed to Peking
by land.

Should the Ambassador be allowed to go to Peking he was to pro-
ceed with as much ceremony as possible. He was to procure an audi-
ence with the Emperor as soon as possible, “Conforming to all
Ceremonials of the Court, which may not commit the Honor of Your
Sovereign, or lessen your own Dignity, so as to endanger the Success
of Your negotiation” and being prudent and considerate not to allow
“trifling Punctilio” to stand in the way of important benefits. If
personal curiosity caused the Emperor to converse with him on the
“manners or Circumstances of Europe or Other Countries” he was to
“turn such a Contingency to proper Advantage.” Should the Am-
bassador meet any intelligent Portuguese, Spanish, or Italian mission-
ary, free from national attachment or personal prejudice, he was if
possible to be attached to the service.
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The presents which he took with him were to be delivered with
discretion, and should necessity require more he should provide them
by drafts on the Company or its treasury at Canton. He was to take
every opportunity of communicating with Lord Cornwallis, Governor-
General of India, and be guided by instructions from him. A diary
was to be kept from the time of his arrival in China, in which were to
be recorded all circumstances or occurrences upon “Political and Com-
mercial, and even Nautical Subjects.” He was to have free access to
and permission to take copies of the Company’s correspondence with
its supercargoes in China.

A copy of Cathcart’s instructions from the Court of Directors is
nowhere extant, but they were presumably given him at the same time
as his other instructions. Judging from those given to Lord Macartney
in 1792, they emphasized his function as a commercial agent for the
Company, requested him to gather information relative to the promotion
of trade, and recommended the reform of abuses, but cautioned him to
do nothing which might endanger the trade or cause an increase in the
difficulties.”

The King’s letter to the Emperor was addressed to “Kien Long, the
Most August Sovereign etc. etc. etc. Emperor of China.” It referred
to the beneficial effects of a well-regulated trade and believed that the
Emperor was convinced of the advisability of encouraging the exchange
of commodities upon ‘“fair and equitable principles, consistent with the
honor and safety of both Sovereigns.” It regretted that there never
had been an intercourse between the two sovereigns in order to “ratify
and invigorate” their friendship, and so to encourage the speedy
remedy of ‘“inconveniences and misunderstandings” which arose be-
tween their subjects. Because of this the King was sending “Charles
Cathcart Esqr. a Gentleman of Noble Birth, etc. etc. etc.,” as Ambas-
sador to the Emperor’s “Sublime Court,” with instructions to indicate
the King’s friendly disposition toward the Emperor. It entreated the
Emperor to give the Ambassador a “gracious reception and a favour-
able ear to his representations.”

We rely on Your Majesty’s wisdom and justice, that you will afford Our

Subjects, as long as They conduct themselves with propriety, a secure
Residence within your Dominions, and a fair access to Your Markets, under

®10C, XX, “Memorandum,” “Proposed Instructions to Col. Cathcart from
the Court,” pp. 106-125. For Macartney’s instructions, see WSCPMD, No. 1.

®TOCCE, XC, King's letter of Nov. 30, 1787; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 167-68;
Bannister, op. cit., pp. 227-29.
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such Laws and Regulations as Your Majesty shall think right, that their
Lives and Properties shall be safe under your Imperial Protection: that
one man shall not suffer for another’s Crime, but that every necessary
Measure shall be taken on the part of Your Majesty’'s Government, as it
certainly shall on Ours, to bring to condign punishment, all Persons who
may transgress the Law, and any way disturb the Peace and Friendship
subsisting between Us. . . . May the Almighty have you in His Holy Protection.

Sir Richard Strachan’s instructions were dated at Whitehall, No-
vember 30, 1787, and signed by Loord Sydney.” He was commanded to
put to sea as soon as possible after Colonel Cathcart should have em-
barked upon the Vestal, and to proceed in her with as much expedition
as possible to such port on the Chinese coast as the Ambassador might
direct. He was to consider himself attached to this particular service
until the Ambassador had finished the business of the Embassy, was
to allow the ship to be employed in any service which the Ambassador
required, and in general was to conform to the wishes and directions of
the Ambassador. He was cautioned to be especially careful to keep
his men under control, to conform to the port regulations of the Chi-
nese, and in every way to avoid giving offense which might endanger
the Embassy.

In a supplementary instruction of the same date, attention was
called to the indisposition of the Ambassador, and he was instructed
“that in case of the Lieut. Colonel’s demise previous to your arrival in
China, you are the instant it may happen to make the best of your way
back to the first Port you can reach in England, and to transmit in-
formation thereof to me.”® If the Ambassador reached his place of
destination before his possible demise, the conclusion of the mission
would fall under the management of the Secretary of the Embassy, and

Sir Richard was to comply with his directions until the mission was
finished.

7. The Demise -of the Ambassador and the Ewmbassy (1787-88).

According to letters received from Cathcart, the Vestal sailed from
Spithead on Sunday, December 21, 1787. Her “Journal” begins the
next day, and on the 23rd she encountered a heavy storm in which she
suffered considerable damage, and some of the water and beef casks
and all of the hay bags had to be thrown overboard. She sighted
Maderia on January 2, 1788, and the following day anchored in

*10OCCE, XC, Nov. 30, 1787; Morse, Chronicle, 11, 169-70.
® Morse, Chronicle, 11, 170.
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Funchal Road in order to make repairs. How much the damage done
during the storm cost Cathcart is uncertain, but it amounted to several
hundred pounds. Cathcart was dying of consumption when he left
England, and tired out by the long journey to Portsmouth, he took to
bed as soon as he had embarked. In writing from Maderia, he said
that the voyage had been “considerable exercise” for an invalid, but
that he believed himself to be better than when he left England. The
Vestal sailed from Funchal Road on January 6.*

On January 14 the Cape Verde Islands were sighted. After cross-
ing the equator, the ship met unfavorable winds, and the Embassy was
becalmed for two weeks; on February 4 dysentery began to break out
among the sailors. By March 7 “the Flux,” as they called it, was rag-
ing, and forty-six of the ship’s company were ill. In view of these
circumstances, as well as to make permanent repairs on the ship, she
put into Cape Town on March 11, where she received a good welcome
from the Dutch governor, Van de Graaft. The sick were disembarked
and the repair of the vessel was undertaken.”

In writing to Nepean on March 15, Cathcart reported that the
ravages of dysentery had been stopped by the landing, but said, “I can-
not inform you of any great Progress in my Recovery. My Cough
turns out to be nervious [sic], and I cannot shake it off. However
I hold out, and think myself likely to do so; and nothing can give me
a better chance of Recovery than constant Change of air at sea.” * In
a private letter to John Lewis on March 28, Strachan wrote:

Colonel Cathcart is unwell, and though we are ready to proceed on our
voyage, I shall stay ten days longer to let our people gain strength and to
accommodate the Colonel who thinks he is better since he arrived here.
I fear he can’t live, he is very much reduced and to all appearance in the
last stage of a Consumption. I shall be extremely sorry if any accident happen
to him on account of the service we are going upon, and irom the great
regard and respect I have for him,

The Vestal sailed on April 8, most of her crew having recovered,
although five who were too unwell to move had to be left at the Cape.
On May 27 the Straits of Sunda were reached, and the day following
the ship dropped a single anchor in Angier Road, where she lay putting

“IOCCE, XC, “Journal of the Vestal,” Dec. 22, 1787 to Jan. 2, 1788, Cathcart
to Nepean, Jan. 5, 1788, Strachan to Sydney, Jan. 6, 1788, Greville to Chairs,
Oct. 12, 1788.

®JOCCE, XC, “Journal of the Vestal,” Jan. 6 to March 12, 1788.

® Ibid., XC, Cathcart to [Nepean], March 15, 1788,

® Ibid., XC, Strachan to John Lewis, March 28, 1788.
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in wood, water, and food.* On the same day Cathcart wrote to
Strachan requesting him to direct his course to Macao, as in the
Opinion of my Physician, the debilitated state of my Health, renders it
impossible for me to proceed to the North East Coast of China without
recruiting my Health on Shore. . .. I must also request that you will remain
a few days at this place, as Doctor Ewart wishes me to try what effect the
Air of the Shore may have on my disorder.®

The Vestal remained at anchor until June 6, when she sailed into
the Straits of Banka and dropped anchor on the 9th, and on the 10th,
“at 14 past 8 departed this Life, The Honble-Lieutenant Colonel Cath-
cart.” The ship returned to Angier Road, and on the 16th his remains
were deposited under the Dutch flag. The body was ‘““sent on shore to
be interned at 10 A.M. while minute guns were fired from the time the
corpse left the ship until it was interned and fired [sic] 3 vollies of
small arms, the ceremony lasted an hour.” ® As Sir Richard’s instruc-
tions required his immediate return to England, Captain Agnew, who
assumed control of Cathcart’s public papers, wrote to the supercargoes
at Canton and to Lord Cornwallis giving an account of the gloomy
event. The Vestal sailed for England on June 18, but, as a distemper
broke out among the men, she was forced to put into Cape Town on
July 28, after having lost six men. By August 16 she was ready to
sail, but Lieutenant Rutherford was too ill to go and had to be left
behind.™

The Vestal reached the Channel on October 7, but the weather took
a last parting blow at the unfortunate mission and forced the Vestal
to put into Plymouth on October 8, 1788. At some time during the
return voyage M. Galbert also died; thus one of the few persons in
Europe capable of acting as interpreters was eliminated. Lord Sydney
was informed of Cathcart’s death and the return of the Embassy by
Sir Richard and Captain Agnew on the same day, and Captain Agnew
also informed Dundas and the Court of Directors. Strachan also fell
ill after his return, but had to stand the routine court martial which ex-
amined into his conduct during the voyage.”

®TOCCE, XC, “Journal of Vestal” April 8 to May 28, 1788.

® Ibid., XC, Cathcart to Strachan, May 28, 1788.

" Ibid., “Journal of Vestal,” June 6 to June 16, 1788.

" Ibid., June 17 to August 17, 1788, Strachan to Sydney, Oct. 8, 1788, Agnew
to Dundas, Oct. 8, 1788.

”IOCCE, XC, Strachan to Sydney, Oct. 8 1788, Agnew to Sydney and
Dundas, Oct. 8, 1788, Agnew to Sydney, Nov. 11, 1788, Sydney to Agnew, Nov.
12, 1788, Strachan to Nepean, Dec. 14, 1788, Smith to Nepean, Feb. 9, 1789,
Morton to Nepean, Feb. 23, and 25, 1789; I0C, XX, “Memorandum,” Oct. 15,
and Nov. 8, 1788.
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Cathcart’s last days were clouded by financial worries. He had
made his plans with the idea that the Embassy would last three years,
and in consequence had incurred considerable debts which were to be
paid out of his salary as it fell due. Knowing the state of his health,
he had asked the government to make adequate provisions for the con-
tinuation of the Embassy in case of his death, which they failed to do.
By the time of his death the payments on his salary were insufficient
to meet the creditors. The payment due to Cathcart on March 7, 1788,
was withheld by the Company in lieu of the £1,500 advanced him in
November, 1787. The salary installments falling due on June 7 and
September 7, 1788, were paid, but the Embassy returned before his
December allowance was paid.

Including the £ 500 paid for supplies in November, 1787, and £230
taken by Cathcart for personal use from the silver on board the Vestal,
he received from the Company £5,230. The expenses which he per-
sonally incurred in connection with the Embassy were known to amount
to £5,833 plus an indefinite amount expended in cash by him before
sailing and sums paid by his brother to M. Galbert’s executors as re-
imbursement for his travelling expenses from Avignon and living ex-
penses in Loondon, which the Company had agreed to pay but apparently
never did. The total personal expenses incurred by Cathcart thus

amounted to not less than £7,000, and his receipts from the Company
to but £5,230."

The matter was first brought to the attention of the Chairman,
Nathaniel Smith, on October 12, 1788, by C. F. Greville, a close friend
of Cathcart and one of his executors. Lord Cathcart, the Colonel’s
brother, also wrote to Dundas about it on October 17, as did the Duke
of Athole on October 22, The Court, however, disturbed by the failure
of the Embassy and the large sums already expended, took no notice
of it, and a detailed and reasoned statement from Greville in January,
1789, was also disregarded. On September 16, 1789, the facts in the
case were laid before the India Board. As nothing was done, Lord
Cathcart drew up a statement of his brother’s claims against the Com-
pany on March 12, 1793, which appears to have been for the use of
the government, but so far as records show no money was ever paid
to his estate either by the Company or by the government.

""IOCCE, XC, Greville to Chairs, Oct. 12, 1788 and Jan. 1789, and Lord
Cathcart’'s Mcemorandum, March 12, 1793; I0C, XX, “Memorandum,” April 12,
June 3, Sept. 25, 1788.
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The direct violation of a written agreement to pay Galbert's ex-
penses and to recompense Cathcart if his salary proved insufficient, and
the violation of a verbal agreement to pay Cathcart’s salary under all
circumstances until the Embassy returned to England (he was not paid
anything for the two months from September 6 to October 8) should
be an everlasting shame on the name of the East India Company. To be
sure, the Embassy cost it £9,046 (including the presents, of which
£3,306 was again used at the time of the Macartney Embassy)™ from
which it received nothing, but this was in part caused by the unstates-
manlike procedure of sending out a dying man without taking adequate
means to insure under all circumstances the continuation of the Em-
bassy. For this mistake the government must bear the chief responsibil-
ity. Had Cathcart lived until Lieutenant Young joined the Embassy at
Canton, the commission would probably have been executed, and Cath-
cart would not have died in financial disgrace.

8. The Abandonment and the Revival of the Idea of Sending an
Embassy to China (1788-91).

No sooner had the news of the death of Cathcart reached England
than a movement for sending another mission was set on foot. So far
as the government was concerned, most of the reasons which had
brought about the sending of the Cathcart Mission still existed. Fur-
thermore, the Vestal was still in port prepared for the service, the
necessary presents were already in hand, the necessary plans, instruc-
tions, and documents prepared, and most of the necessary personnel for
the mission were ready for service. From the government’s point of
view the only thing necessary was the choosing of a new ambassador.
In addition, other events had transpired since the departure of the Cath-
cart Embassy which made the government still more eager to open a
more extensive trade with China.

First of all, the government and Parliament had carried on a thor-
ough examination of the China trade and the working of the Com-
mutation Act in May, 1788. A large amount of documentary and
statistical material relative to China had been demanded of the Com-
pany, and no less than twenty-three “Accounts and Papers” were sub-

“IOCCE, XC, Lord Cathcart to Dundas, Oct. 17, 1788, Duke of Athole to
Dundas, Oct. 22, 1788, Greville to William Cabell (Secretary of the Board of
ontrol) Sept. 16 1789 CMC, VIII, No. 343; note 73.
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mitted to Parliament relative to the China trade.” These papers went
into every detail of the trade and showed that the government’s revenue
from tea had been just about halved by the Commutation Act; that,
although the Company’s trade had been greatly increased, it was having
great difficulties in raising money and had to export large quantities of
bullion from England; and that foreign competition was still continuing
at Canton. The extracts from the supercargoes’ letters presented to
Parliament spoke in discouraging terms of the foreign competition, the
high prices, and the difficulty of getting satisfactory teas.

At the same time a crisis caused by overproduction occurred in the
cotton industry. The throwing open of Arkwright’s patent in 1785 had
led to feverish expansion in the industry, with the result that the market
became glutted in 1788, prices fell, and the cotton-goods producers
were faced with ruin. Descending upon the government like a pack of
hungry wolves, they demanded protection and the discovery of new
markets. They drew up a petition attacking the Company and demand-
ing a prohibition upon the importation of Indian and Chinese manufac-
tured goods. A conference was arranged between delegates of the
cotton manufacturers and the Court of Directors in which the former
requested that the Company cease the importation of cottons manufac-
tured in India and China and that it undertake to import raw cotton
from India for the use of the manufacturers.™

The Company refused to comply with their demands regarding the
importation of manufactured cotton goods, because (1) the competition
of Fastern cottons actually was not the cause of their present difficul-
ties, which were due to overproduction; (2) seventeen-twentieths of
the calicoes and three-fifths of the muslins imported by the Company
were re-exported anyhow; (3) if the Company gave up the trade it
would fall into the hands of foreign competitors to the detriment of
British shipping; (4) a cessation of the Indian piece-goods trade would
ruin the Indian producers and endanger the Company’s revenue in
India; (5) and a decrease in the Company’s imports would mean a
decrease in its exports and so would injure other British industries
which depended upon it. As to the demand that Indian raw cotton be
imported, it promised to make the experiment, but held out no hope

PP, Accounts and Papers, 1788, XXI, submitted to Parliament on May 22
and 23, Nos. 462-84.

" Mantoux, op. cit., pp. 260-63; PP, Accounts and Papers, 1792-93, No. 774,
“Reports of the Select Committee of the Directors on the Cotton Trade,” and
“Court’s Memorial on Cotton Manufacture in 1788.”
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that it could do this profitably or that this material would be satisfactory
for use in British manufacture.

As a consequence of these factors, the government was more eager
than ever to send out an embassy in the hope of increasing the trade
with China, improving the government’s revenue, finding new markets
for the outlet of British manufactures, and so silencing the hubbub
at home and stopping the attack upon the Company, whose interests
were so closely identified with those of the government. The Company,
however, was not so favorable. It did not wish to spend more money
on an already costly undertaking, the advantages of which it was begin-
ning to doubt. Furthermore, in view of the attack upon it, it was afraid
that advantages gained from China might be turned to its disadvantage,
and it could already see that the battle for the control of the China trade
was won and that further intervention was unnecessary.

The first proposal of a new embassy was made by C. F. Greville,
with the knowledge and approbation of Pitt, to the Chairman of the
Company (Nathaniel Smith) on October 12, 1788, in connection with
his proposal for the settlement of Cathcart’s debts. He suggested that
Lieutenant Young and Captain Agnew should be appointed jointly and
severally envoys to the Emperor, and that they should proceed to
execute Cathcart’s mission using the equipment and presents which he
had taken. In view of Galbert’s death, the embassy would have to go
by way of Canton to procure an interpreter. If this procedure was
adopted, the money on the Vestal would not be needed and could be
given to Cathcart’s estate—part as the last installment of his salary and
part as equipage money."”

On October 15 Dundas, in a letter to Nepean, said that he hoped the
death of Cathcart would not prove fatal to the mission, which he con-
sidered a very important one.” Conferences were certainly held between
Pitt, Sydney, and the Chairs, but evidently the last-mentioned were not
especially cordial to the idea of a new embassy, and the government did
not approve of Young or Agnew as ambassadors.” On October 22
Lord Macartney wrote to Pitt recommending Sir George Leonard
Staunton as a possible successor to Cathcart® There are no more

"IOCCE, XC, Greville to Chairman, Oct. 12, 1788; 10C, XX, for the same
and an additional letter to Smith showing that Pitt had seen the documents and
was going to discuss the matter with the Chairs.

"TOCCE, XC, Dundas to Nepean, Oct. 15, 1788.

" IOCCE, XC, Smith to [Nepean], Oct. 10, 1788, arranging for meetings with
Pitt and Sydney.

®G. T. Staunton, Memoir of G. L. Staunton, pp. 320-21.
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records relating to the proposed embassy until February 8, 1789, when
the Board of Control was informed that another mission was to be
sent.” Records are not available to show what happened during the
next five months, but various discussions were held, and arrangements
were made for sending another mission.

On July 2 a letter from the Committee of Secrecy to the secretary
of the Company directed him to “examine the several Packages received
from the Vestal” and to “replace or repair such as might be spoiled or
damaged.” * Six days later a secret letter was sent from William
Wyndham Grenville, who had succeeded Lord Sydney as Secretary of
State, to the Board of Control saying, that his Majesty’s Ministers had
thought it expedient to attempt another embassy. With this in view, the
Vestal had been ordered to be equipped to convey a deputation to
China, but the diffiiculty of finding a person in England to go out as
head of the deputation had induced the Ministers to intrust the nomina-
tion of the ambassador to Lord Cornwallis. The communication in-
closed a draft letter to Lord Cornwallis to be sent out upon the Vestal,
which would be ready to sail in ten days. The board was directed to
take necessary measures to put this proposal into effect.®

The proposed letter to the Governor-General ordered him to appoint
a person to continue the deputation to China, and to give to that person
such instructions in addition to those given to Cathcart as his local
knowledge should cause him to think necessary. A thing to be especially
impressed upon the mind of the person chosen was the necessity of ex-
tending the sale of British manufactures. The Company found diffi-
culty in selling its goods at Canton, but the northern part of China was
being furnished with British products (North American furs, woollens,
glass, hardware) through Russia. Every endeavor should be made to
turn this traffic into channels more favorable to British subjects. Cath-
cart had been instructed to agree if necessary to a prohibition of the
importation of opium by British subjects into China, but such a pro-
hibition was not to apply to native inhabitants of that part of India
belonging to England. Sir Richard Strachan, by whom he would re-
ceive this letter, was to place himself under orders of the Governor-
General for the prosecution of the mission.*

* Bannister, op. cit., “Introduction.” He refers to Vol. 193 of the records of the
Board of Control, which is no longer extant.

®10C, XX, “Memorandum,” July 2, 1789.

®IOCCE, XC, Grenville to Board of Control, July 8, 1789; sec also the same
letter signed by Grenville in I0C, XX.

#IOCCE, XC, draft letter to Lord Cornwallis, July 8, 1789.
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A copy of this last letter is to be found in the China records in the
India Office, signed by Henry Dundas and marked “not sent.” The
only other communication upon the subject is a secret letter from
Nepean to William Devaynes (Chairman of the Directors), dated
August 10, 1789, informing him that the execution of the plan of send-
ing an embassy to China was for the present suspended.” The Vestal,
nevertheless, sailed to India with dispatches but without the presents.
She must have carried less mandatory orders to Cornwallis, because on
April 12, 1790, he wrote home stating that, as he had no reason to
expect any material advantage from deputing any person to China, he
had not employed the Vestal on that service.”

The question arises as to why the proposed embassy was suspended,
and why, if discretionary orders were sent to Cornwallis, he did not
act upon them. The decision to abandon the embassy was taken be-
tween July 8 and August 10, 1789. A consideration of contemporary
events in France leads one to believe that the sudden revolutionary
activity in that country so clouded the European horizon that it was
considered inadvisable to dispatch the mission. So far as one can see,
there are no other reasons for the abandonment of the plan. Corn-
wallis, being in closer contact with Canton, probably had a genuine
feeling that no good would come from an embassy. Furthermore, a
war had broken out in India late in 1789 with the Tippoo Sultan,” which
was occupying the energies of the Governor-General, and,in view of the
troubled situation in Europe, he probably deemed it advisable to keep
the Vestal close at hand for service in the Indian fleet.

Events moved on in China and England. In October, 1789, the
Hoppo proposed to the President of the Select Committee that “two
Persons of each Nation be deputed to go to Pekin, to join in” congratu-
lating the Emperor upon the attainment of his eightieth birthday. The
Select Committee expressed fear that they might be detained at Peking
and that they would be forced to perform the kotow. They were re-
assured on the first point but their fears on the second were confirmed.
Bruce ultimately made a tender of his services, but, as the proposal
had not come from Peking and was only an idea of the Viceroy, it
was ultimately abandoned.® News of this reached England by May,

®1OC, XX, Dundas to Lord Cornwallis, marked “not sent”; IOCCE, XC,
Nepean to Devaynes.

% MSS. Public Record Office, Colonial Office: East Indies, 1788-92, 77/26,
April 12, 1790, received in England Sept. 8, 1790 (précis only).

¥ Commons Journal, XLVI, 256.

® Morse, Chronicle, 11, 177-78.
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1790, and the Directors wrote to the Select Committee reprimanding
them for hesitating in taking advantage of the proposal, telling them
that they should conform to the ceremonials of the Court, and closed
by saying, “[we] shall expect to hear of the Departure of a proper
Delegation to Peking.” ®

In the opinion of the government the proposal discussed above was
an indication that Peking would welcome an embassy from England,
and other considerations impressed upon their minds the advisability of
a mission which might obtain an extended market for British manufac-
tures. As has been already noted, the cotton and iron industries were
experiencing mushroom growth at this time, and often at the expense
of other old-established industries. As a consequence, representatives
of all interests were calling upon the government for aid and protec-
tion.” In view of the need of new markets, the Lords of Trade began
early in the summer of 1791 a thorough investigation into the possibili-
ties of expanding British trade. They held a conference with the Court
of Directors and requested information on the exportation of British
manufactures to India, China, Japan, and Persia, especially in regard
to the possibilities of increasing exportation to these countries. A Select
Committee was appointed by the Directors to investigate these matters.
Reports on India and China were submitted in September, 1791, and
on Japan and Persia in January, 1792"

After going into a detailed analysis of the China trade, the reports
concluded that the exportation of woollens, metals, or other articles
could not be increased except by the negotiation of favorable treaties.
They maintained that there was no hope of trade to Japan or Persia,
and that cotton manufactures were not in demand in India or China,
because these countries produced cotton goods more cheaply than Eng-
land. They did not express a definite opinion as to the advisability of
sending a mission to China, but they objected strenuously to any change
in the existing system either by allowing private individuals to send
out goods from England or by trying to gain new advantages which
might endanger their present satisfactory situation. They said that the
Company was doing all that was possible toward the expansion of
British manufactures in the East. From these facts it was evident that

181°"8(23MD, II, Court to Select Committee, May 10, 1790: Morse, Chronicle, 11,
"’Mantoux, op. cit., pp. 258-63.
'_‘ PP, Accounts and Papers, 1792-93, XXXVIII, No. 774 (bl-3), Reports on
India, China, Japan and Persia.
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the government could expect no substantial help from the Company
in extending the sale of British goods, and that the idea of sending out
a commercial mission to China was part of a general scheme for pro-
moting the sale of British manufactures.

In June, 1791, Henry Dundas was promoted to the position of Home
Secretary, but retained his position in the Board of Control as well.
Armed with the powers of a Secretary of State, Dundas once again
set about the realization of his favorite scheme of an embassy to China.,
He was encouraged by the publication of a book by a Country trader,”
which spoke in glowing terms of the possibilities of expanding British
trade, especially in woollens and tin, to the north of China, Japan, and
Korea, and of developing the fur trade between the Northwest Coast
and China, if only an embassy were dispatched to negotiate the neces-
sary treaties. His ideas were supported by various private reports re-
ceived from China, which tended to show that the supercargoes were
slothful and inattentive to business, and that if proper energy were
exercised an increased trade could be developed.”

In his and the government’s mind practically all the reasons which
had led to the Cathcart Embassy still existed.” In addition, there was
now the belief that such an embassy would be well received ; there was
an unsatisfactory flow of silver from England to China;* there was
available an experienced diplomat, nobleman, and friend of Henry
Dundas, Lord Macartney, who had been without employment since
1786 ; there were intellectual advantages which might be gained from a
friendly intercourse with China; there was the possibility that “success
might prove highly advantageous to the Board of Control [i.e. Henry
Dundas],” * and above all else there was the imperative necessity of
finding new markets to quiet the demands of the industrialists and en-
courage English industry and commerce.

It was true that the political situation in Europe was very unsettled,
but it had been so for several years. Furthermore, it was true that
European competition had been greatly reduced at Canton and that the

® John Meaves, Voyages made in the Years 1788 and 1789, from China to the
North West Coast of America (London, 1790), pp. Ixviii-lxxxvi.

® CMC, II, No. 16; BM, Additional Manuscripts (Liverpool Papers, CLXIII),
No. 38,352, pp. 391-92,

* For a general review of the reasons for the Macartney Embassy see G. L.
Staunton, Embassy (1797), 1, 13-27; Eames, op. cit.,, pp. 117-18.

% John Barrow, Some Account of the Public Life . . . of the Earl of
Macartney (London, 1807), I, 339-41; Meares, op. cit., pp. xciv-vi.

" W. Winterbotham, An Historical . . . View of the Empire of China (Lon-
don, 1795), pp. 1-2.



1936 The Crucial Years of Early Anglo-Chinese Relations 271

Company’s China trade and its Canton treasury were now in a pros-
perous condition.” Still there was the prospect of American competi-
tion. Nor did the Company look with favor upon the proposal of an
embassy, because it might endanger the advantages they had already
gained, and they saw no reason for expending money which might
““shake” if not ‘“annihilate” a ‘“fabric which is the Wonder of the
Present, as it must be of every future Age . . . in case Projects sug-
gested by Adventurers shall be adopted upon the dangerous Principle
of Experiment.”®

These latter objections were minor ones compared with the possi-
bilities of the realization of Dundas’ great ambition, and so they were
swept aside. The government (especially Dundas and Pitt) decided to
send to the East the greatest commercial embassy that England had
ever sent. The Ambassador was to be armed with powers not only to
negotiate with the Emperor of China but with the rulers of Japan, Indo-
China, and all the islands of the East Indies. Lord Macartney was
approached at least as early as October, 1791, and preliminary discus-
sions were in full swing by the end of November.”

" At the beginning of the season 1791 the Company’s treasury had a credit
balance of T. 1,460,718 and at the beginning of the next season a credit balance
of T.2,0063818. Morse, Chronicle, 11, 184, 192.

® PP, Accounts and Papers, 1792-93, XXXVII, No. 774 (b2), “Second Report
of the Select Committee of the Court of Directors on the Trade to the East
Indies (China and Japan), Dec. 29, 1791, end of report,

®G. T. Staunton, Memotr of G. L. Staunton, pp. 332-37.



CuaPrTER VII

PREPARATIONS FOR THE MACARTNEY EMBASSY
(1791-1792)

1. Preliminary Discussions and Proposals (October, 1791 - January 19,
1792).

The idea of attempting another Embassy to China had been definite-
ly formulated by the early part of October, 1791, as it appears that
Lord Macartney was approached about this time by the government on
the subject of his willingness to serve as Ambassador. George Lord
Macartney was a distinguished diplomat and colonial administrator.
He was born near Belfast on May 14, 1737, and was trained for the
diplomatic service by two years of travel and study on the Continent.
He had served as Ambassador to Russia, as a member of the Irish and
British Parliaments, as Chief Secretary for Ireland, and as Governor
of the West Indian Island of Grenada, where he established a life-long
friendship with George Leonard Staunton. In December, 1780, he ac-
cepted the post of Governor of Madras, with Staunton as his Chief
Secretary. After five years, he returned to England and was offered
the Governor-Generalship of Bengal. He was uninterested in the ap-
pointment unless given very extensive powers, and, as he was opposed
by Hasting’s supporters, the appointment ultimately was given to Lord
Cornwallis. The East India Company voted him a life annuity of
£1,500, and until his selection as Ambassador to China he held no
more public positions. In 1791 he was undoubtedly the most eligible
man in England to serve as an Ambassador to China.

As soon as Macartney was approached about the Embassy he ap-
pears to have written to Sir George Leonard Staunton, then at Edin-
burgh, requesting his return to London, for Staunton hurriedly left
his family on the 19th or 20th of October and returned to the south.’
It also appears that the subject had been broached to the East India
Company, because on October 13, Thomas Morton, Secretary at the
India House, sent out a list of nineteen queries to former supercargoes,

! John Barrow, Account of the Public Life . . . of the Earl of Macartney
(London, 1807) ; Helen M. Robbins, Our First Ambassador to China (London,
1908) ; Dictionary of National Biography.

*G. T. Staunton, Memoir of G. L. Staunton, pp. 332-37.
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then resident in England, relative to affairs in China. The queries were
of a general nature and designed to obtain information which the Court
could use for any purpose it desired, such as the prep